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BARNES & NOBLE 2014  LETTER TO SHAREHOLDERS

To Our Shareholders:

We went into fiscal 2014 facing a number of challenges be they industry-wide or 

unique to our businesses. But, I’m happy to say we ended the year having made 

great progress on multiple fronts and delivered a solid financial performance.

Overall, Barnes & Noble generated $6.4 billion in total sales for the year. Our 

balance sheet remains strong, as the Company ended the year with $340 million 

in cash and no borrowings under our $1 billion credit facility.

All three business segments contributed to our success, with Retail and College 

generating solid results and NOOK® significantly reducing year-over-year 

losses. Overall, Barnes & Noble generated consolidated annual earnings before 

interest, taxes, depreciation and amortization (EBITDA) of $251 million, the 

highest it has been in four years.

Our Retail Group had a strong year, generating EBITDA of $354 million. Driving 

this performance was a popular title line-up across all categories and great 

execution in our bookstores. In particular, our booksellers, buyers and mer-

chants worked hard to prepare our stores for the holiday season and our custom-

ers responded enthusiastically at the cash registers.

We saw improved bookstore sales trends during fiscal 2014, which support 

industry reports that suggest e-book growth has moderated. As this trend 

continues, we believe we are well-positioned to serve our customers on multiple 

platforms.

We intend to enhance our multi-platform offering soon with the re-launch of 

our bn.com E-commerce website later in the summer, with improved search 

and accuracy, and faster shipping that will enable us to be more efficient and 

competitive.

College also had another solid year, with EBITDA increasing 2.8%, to $115 mil-

lion, including a $22 million investment in Yuzu™, our new digital education 

platform. College opened 30 new stores, and we see a strong pipeline ahead. The 

number of new and used titles available for rent increased significantly, driving 

textbook rental growth of 61% for the year. Rentals provide a significant cost sav-

ings to students and higher textbook margins for the company. We see significant 

opportunities at College going forward.
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The NOOK management team executed well on its operating and financial plans, 

including selling through its device inventory, reducing expenses and exploring 

opportunities to grow content sales, which led to a $263 million reduction in 

EBITDA loss. As a result of our rationalization efforts in 2014, we expect a further 

decrease in EBITDA loss in the NOOK segment in 2015. This fiscal year NOOK 

moved from being a device-centric business to one more focused on growing 

content sales.

We are excited about our new partnership with Samsung to create customized 

tablets that combine Samsung’s leading tablet technology with NOOK’s award-

winning reading experience. This partnership will enable the Company to reduce 

its exposure on the hardware production side while allowing NOOK to do what it 

does best – delivering the best reading experience in the marketplace.

In June 2014, Barnes & Noble’s Board of Directors authorized management to 

separate Barnes & Noble’s Retail and NOOK Media™ businesses into two sepa-

rate public companies. We believe these businesses will have the best opportu-

nity to optimize shareholder value if they are capitalized and operated separately. 

Our goal is to complete the proposed separation by the end of the first quarter 

of next calendar year. We expect our Retail and NOOK Media businesses will 

continue to have successful long-term business relationships with each other 

after separation.

We are pleased with the progress we made during the year in each of our busi-

nesses thanks to the hard work and commitment of our Retail and College book-

sellers and NOOK employees around the country. I feel confident that we are well 

positioned to undertake the proposed separation of Retail and NOOK Media but 

recognize there is much work to be done.

As we continue to adapt the structure of our company to the changing market-

place environment and evolving needs of our customers, there is one thing that 

will not change – our commitment that the Barnes & Noble brand will always 

stand for the highest quality content delivered wherever, whenever and however 

our customers choose to connect with us.

Sincerely,

Leonard Riggio 
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SELECTED CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL DATA

The selected consolidated financial data of Barnes & Noble, Inc. and its subsidiaries (collectively, the Company) set forth on 

the following pages should be read in conjunction with the consolidated financial statements and notes included elsewhere 

in this report. The Company’s fiscal year is comprised of 52 or 53 weeks, ending on the Saturday closest to the last day of 

April. The Statement of Operations Data for the 53 weeks ended May 3, 2014 (fiscal 2014), 52 weeks ended April 27, 2013 

(fiscal 2013) and 52 weeks ended April 28, 2012 (fiscal 2012), and the Balance Sheet Data as of May 3, 2014 and April 27, 

2013 are derived from, and are incorporated by reference to, audited consolidated financial statements which are included 

elsewhere in this report. The Statement of Operations Data for the 52 weeks ended April 30, 2011 (fiscal 2011), May 1, 2010 

(fiscal 2010), the Balance Sheet Data as of April 28, 2012, April 30, 2011 and May 1, 2010 are derived from audited consoli-

dated financial statements not included elsewhere in this report.
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FISCAL YEAR 

(In thousands of dollars, except per share data) Fiscal 2014 Fiscal 2013 Fiscal 2012 Fiscal 2011 Fiscal 2010

STATEMENT OF OPERATIONS DATA

Sales

Barnes & Noble Retail $ 4,295,110 4,568,243 4,852,913 4,926,834  4,947,469

Barnes & Noble Collegea 1,748,042 1,763,248 1,743,662 1,778,159 833,648

NOOK 505,862 780,433  933,471  695,182  105,435

Eliminationb  (167,657)  (272,919)  (400,847)  (401,610)  (78,798)

Total sales 6,381,357 6,839,005 7,129,199 6,998,565 5,807,754

Cost of sales and occupancy  4,523,422  5,156,499  5,211,683  5,197,252  4,120,842

Gross profit  1,857,935  1,682,506  1,917,516  1,801,313  1,686,912

Selling and administrative expenses 1,606,936 1,675,376 1,739,452 1,629,465 1,395,725

Depreciation and amortization  216,807  227,134  232,667  228,647  207,774

Operating profit (loss) 34,192 (220,004)  (54,603)  (56,799) 83,413

Interest expense, net and amortization
of deferred financing feesc  (29,507)  (35,345)  (35,304)  (57,350)  (28,237)

Earnings (loss) before taxes  4,685  (255,349)  (89,907)  (114,149) 55,176

Income taxes  51,953  (97,543)  (25,067)  (45,276)  12,422

Earnings (loss) (net of income tax)  (47,268)  (157,806) (64,840) (68,873) 42,754

Net loss attributable to noncontrolling interestsd —  —  —  37  32

Net earnings (loss) attributable to Barnes & Noble, 
Inc. $     (47,268) (157,806) (64,840) (68,836) 42,786

Earnings (loss) attributable to Barnes & Noble, Inc.

Earnings (loss) $     (47,268)  (157,806)  (64,840)  (68,873)  42,754

Less loss attributable to noncontrolling interests  —  —  —  37  32

Net earnings (loss) attributable to Barnes & Noble, 
Inc. $    (47,268)  (157,806)  (64,840)  (68,836)  42,786

Basic earnings per common share

Net earnings (loss) attributable to Barnes & Noble, 
Inc. $       (1.12)  (3.02)  (1.34)  (1.22)  0.75

Diluted earnings per common share

Net earnings (loss) attributable to Barnes & Noble, 
Inc. $       (1.12)  (3.02)  (1.34)  (1.22)  0.74

Dividends paid per share $          —  —  —  0.75  1.00

Weighted average common shares outstanding

Basic 58,971 58,247 57,337 56,588 55,344

Diluted 58,971 58,247 57,337 56,588 56,153
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FISCAL YEAR 

(In thousands of dollars, except per share data) Fiscal 2014 Fiscal 2013 Fiscal 2012 Fiscal 2011 Fiscal 2010

OTHER OPERATING DATA

Number of stores

Barnes & Noble stores 661 675 691  705  720

Barnes & Noble College 700 686 647 636 637

Total  1,361  1,361  1,338  1,341  1,357

Comparable sales increase (decrease)

Barnes & Noble Retaile (5.8)% (3.4)% 1.4% 0.7% (4.8)%

Barnes & Noble Retail Core comparable salesf (3.1)% 0.1% 0.7% (8.3)% (5.3)%

Barnes & Noble Collegeg (2.7)% (1.2)% (0.3)% (0.8)% (0.2)%

Capital expenditures $    134,981  165,835  163,552  110,502 127,779

BALANCE SHEET DATA

Total assets $ 3,537,449  3,732,536 3,774,699 3,596,466 3,705,686

Total liabilities $ 2,300,559  2,443,631 2,730,155 2,675,969 2,706,815

Long-term debt  $  —  77,000 324,200 313,100 260,400

Long-term subordinated noteh  $  —  127,250 150,000 150,000 150,000

Shareholders’ Equity $    658,696  713,743 852,271 920,497 997,321

a B&N College results are included since the Acquisition on September 30, 2009.

b Represents sales from NOOK to B&N Retail and B&N College on a sell through basis.

c Amounts for fiscal 2014, fiscal 2013, fiscal 2012, fiscal 2011 and fiscal 2010 are net of interest income of $190, $71, $0, $320, and $452, respectively.

d Noncontrolling interest represents the 50% outside interest in Begin Smart LLC. During the second quarter of fiscal 2011, the Company purchased the 
remaining 50% outside interest in Begin Smart LLC.

e Comparable store sales increase (decrease) is calculated on a 52-week basis, including sales from stores that have been open for at least 15 months 
and all eReader device revenue deferred in accordance with Accounting Standards Codification (ASC) 605-25 Revenue Recognition, Multiple Element 
Arrangements, and does not include sales from closed or relocated stores.

f Core comparable store sales, which excludes sales of NOOK product, increase (decrease) is calculated on a 52-week basis, including sales from 
stores that have been open for at least 15 months and does not include sales from closed or relocated stores.

g Comparable store sales increase (decrease) is calculated on a 52-week basis, including sales from stores that have been open for at least 15 months 
and all eReader device revenue deferred in accordance with ASC 605-25 Revenue Recognition, Multiple Element Arrangements, and does not include 
sales from closed or relocated stores. Additionally, for textbook rentals, comparable store sales reflects the retail selling price of a new or used 
textbook when rented, rather than solely the rental fee received and amortized over the rental period.

h See Notes 5 and 19 to the Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements.
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Barnes & Noble, Inc.’s (Barnes & Noble or the Company) 

fiscal year is comprised of 52 or 53 weeks, ending on the 

Saturday closest to the last day of April. As used in this 

section, “fiscal 2014” represents the 53 weeks ended May 3, 

2014, “fiscal 2013” represents the 52 weeks ended April 27, 

2013 and “fiscal 2012” represents the 52 weeks ended April 

28, 2012.

GENERAL

Barnes & Noble, one of the nation’s largest booksellers,1 

is a leading content, commerce and technology company 

providing customers easy and convenient access to trade 

books, textbooks, magazines, newspapers and other 

content across its multi-channel distribution platform. As 

of May 3, 2014, the Company operated 1,361 bookstores in 

50 states, including 700 bookstores on college campuses, 

and operates one of the Web’s largest eCommerce sites and 

develops digital reading products and operates one of the 

largest digital bookstores. Given the dynamic nature of the 

book industry, the challenges faced by traditional book-

sellers, and the robust innovation pipeline fueling new 

opportunities in hardware, software and content creation 

and delivery, Barnes & Noble is utilizing the strength of its 

retail footprint to bolster its leadership in selling content to 

drive sales across its multiple channels.

Of the 1,361 bookstores, Barnes & Noble Retail (B&N 

Retail) operates 661 retail bookstores, primarily under 

the Barnes & Noble Booksellers trade name, and includes 

the Company’s eCommerce site. Barnes & Noble College 

Booksellers, LLC (B&N College) operates 700 college 

bookstores at colleges and universities across the United 

States, of which 155 stores are co-branded with the uni-

versities’ name and Barnes & Noble name. B&N Retail also 

includes Sterling Publishing Co., Inc. (Sterling or Sterling 

Publishing), a leader in general trade book publishing. The 

NOOK segment represents the Company’s digital busi-

ness, offering digital books and magazines for sale and 

consumption through the web, NOOK®2 reading devices 

1 Based upon sales reported in trade publications and public filings.
2  Any reference to NOOK® include the Company’s NOOK 1st Edition™, 

NOOK Wi-Fi 1st Edition™, NOOK Color™, NOOK Simple Touch™, 
NOOK Tablet™, NOOK Simple Touch with GlowLight™, NOOK® HD, 
NOOK® HD+ and NOOK GlowLight™ eReader devices, and each of 
which include the trademark symbol (® or ™, as applicable) even if a 
trademark symbol is not included.

and reading software for iOS, Android and Windows 8. The 

Company employed approximately 34,000 full and part-

time employees as of May 3, 2014. Including seasonal and 

temporary employees, the Company employed approxi-

mately 41,000 employees as of May 3, 2014.

The Company’s principal business is the sale of trade books 

(generally hardcover and paperback consumer titles), mass 

market paperbacks (such as mystery, romance, science 

fiction and other popular fiction), children’s books, eBooks 

and other digital content, textbooks and course-related 

materials, NOOK® and related accessories, bargain books, 

magazines, gifts, emblematic apparel and gifts, school and 

dorm supplies, café products and services, educational toys 

& games, music and movies direct to customers through 

its bookstores or on barnesandnoble.com. The Company 

also offers a textbook rental option to its customers, as well 

as digital textbooks and other course materials through a 

proprietary digital platform (Yuzu™). The Company offers 

its customers a full suite of textbook options—new, used, 

digital and rental.

To address dynamic changes in the book selling industry, 

Barnes & Noble has transformed its business from a store-

based model to a multi-channel model centered on its 

retail stores, Internet and digital commerce. The Company 

offers readers the option of store visits, eCommerce, 

and digital delivery of books to devices of their choosing, 

including the award winning NOOK® eReaders.

Barnes & Noble’s strategy is to:

 • utilize the strong Barnes & Noble brand and retail foot-

print to attract customers to its multi-channel platform;

 • expand its distribution channels through strategic 

partnerships with world-class hardware and software 

companies and retail partners;

 • drive content sales through the web, NOOK® Readers and 

3rd party devices;

 • use its infrastructure to deliver digital content to cus-

tomers; and

 • continue to grow campus partnerships including store 

locations and students served while continuing its 

investment in the digital higher education business.

MANAGEMENT’S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS OF FINANCIAL CONDITION AND RESULTS 
OF OPERATIONS
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The Company has a multi-channel marketing strategy that 

deploys various merchandising programs and promotional 

activities to drive traffic to both its stores and website. 

At the center of this program is the Company’s website, 

barnesandnoble.com.

On April 27, 2012, the Company entered into an investment 

agreement between the Company, Morrison Investment 

Holdings, Inc. (Morrison) and Microsoft Corporation 

(Microsoft) pursuant to which the Company would form 

a Delaware limited liability company (NOOK Media), and 

transfer to NOOK Media the Company’s digital device, 

digital content and college bookstore businesses and 

NOOK Media would sell to Morrison, and Morrison would 

purchase, 300,000 convertible preferred membership 

interests in NOOK Media (Series A preferred) for an 

aggregate purchase price of $300.0 million. On October 

4, 2012, NOOK Media was formed and the Company sold 

to Morrison 300,000 convertible preferred membership 

interests in NOOK Media for an aggregate purchase price 

of $300.0 million. The convertible preferred membership 

interests have a liquidation preference equal to Microsoft’s 

original investment. Concurrently with its entry into this 

agreement, the Company has also entered into a com-

mercial agreement with Microsoft, whereby, among other 

things, NOOK Media has developed and distributed a 

Windows 8 application for eReading and digital content 

purchases, and has entered into an intellectual property 

license and settlement agreement with Microsoft and 

Microsoft Licensing GP. As part of the commercial agree-

ment, for each of the first three years since the launch of 

the application for Windows 8, NOOK Media received and 

will continue to receive advance payments of $60.0 million 

per year from Microsoft. These advance payments are 

subject to deferral under certain circumstances. Microsoft 

has paid and is obligated to continue to pay to NOOK Media 

$25.0 million each year for the first five years of the term 

for purposes of assisting NOOK Media in acquiring local 

digital reading content and technology development in the 

performance of NOOK Media’s obligations under the com-

mercial agreement. Under the terms of this transaction, 

NOOK Media was debt-free at inception, except for trade 

accounts payable and other working capital requirements. 

Under the limited liability company agreement of NOOK 

Media, no distributions may be made by NOOK Media 

without Morrison’s approval.

On March 10, 2014, the Company entered into an amend-

ment (Amendment) to its existing Commercial Agreement. 

Pursuant to the Amendment, NOOK Media and Microsoft 

agreed to co-branding within the Microsoft Consumer 

Reader for reading content delivered by NOOK Media. The 

Amendment also provided that subject to certain condi-

tions NOOK Media would be permitted to discontinue 

distributing the NOOK Windows app and will cooperate 

in good faith with Microsoft to transition users to the 

Microsoft Consumer Reader. Microsoft and NOOK Media 

also agreed to updated revenue sharing to address this 

possibility. The Amendment also permits NOOK Media to 

cease efforts with respect to a Windows phone app.

On December 21, 2012, NOOK Media entered into an 

agreement with a subsidiary of Pearson plc (Pearson) to 

make a strategic investment in NOOK Media. That trans-

action closed on January 22, 2013, and Pearson invested 

approximately $89.5 million of cash in NOOK Media at 

a post-money valuation of approximately $1.789 bil-

lion in exchange for convertible preferred membership 

interests representing a 5% equity stake in NOOK Media. 

Following the closing of the transaction, the Company owns 

approximately 78.2% of NOOK Media and Microsoft, which 

holds convertible preferred membership interests, owns 

approximately 16.8%. The convertible preferred member-

ship interests have a liquidation preference equal to the 

original investment. In addition, NOOK Media granted 

warrants to Pearson to purchase up to an additional 5% 

of NOOK Media under certain conditions at a pre-money 

valuation of NOOK Media of approximately $1.789 billion.

At closing, NOOK Media and Pearson entered into a com-

mercial agreement with respect to distributing Pearson 

content in connection with this strategic investment. On 

December 27, 2013, NOOK Media entered into an amend-

ment to the commercial agreement that extends the term of 

the agreement and the timing of the measurement period 

to meet certain revenue share milestones.

On June 4, 2014, barnesandnoble.com llc (NOOK Media 

Sub), a wholly owned subsidiary of NOOK Media and a 

subsidiary of Barnes & Noble, entered into a commer-

cial agreement (Agreement) with Samsung Electronics 

America, Inc. (Samsung) relating to tablets.
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Pursuant to the Agreement, NOOK Media Sub, after good 

faith consultations with Samsung and subject to Samsung’s 

agreement, will select Samsung tablet devices under 

development to be customized and co-branded by NOOK 

Media Sub. Such devices will be produced by Samsung. The 

co-branded NOOK tablet devices may be sold by NOOK 

Media through Barnes & Noble retail stores, www.barne-

sandnoble.com, www.nook.com and other Barnes & Noble 

and NOOK Media websites. NOOK Media Sub and Samsung 

have agreed to develop co-branded Samsung Galaxy Tab 4 

NOOK tablets as the initial co-branded devices pursuant to 

the Agreement.

NOOK Media Sub has agreed to a minimum purchase 

commitment of 1,000,000 devices during the first twelve 

months after the launch of the initial co-branded NOOK 

devices; provided that if NOOK Media Sub does not meet 

certain sales thresholds of the initial co-branded NOOK 

devices by December 31, 2014, then the twelve month 

period referred to above shall be extended to fifteen 

months.

NOOK Media Sub and Samsung have agreed to coordinate 

customer service for the co-branded NOOK devices and 

have both agreed to a license of intellectual property to 

promote and market the devices. Additionally, Samsung 

has agreed to fund a marketing fund for the co-branded 

NOOK devices at the initial launch and for the duration of 

the Agreement.

The Agreement has a two year term, with certain termina-

tion rights, including termination (i) by NOOK Media Sub 

for a Samsung material default; (ii) by Samsung for a NOOK 

Media Sub material default; (iii) by NOOK Media Sub if 

Samsung fails to meet its shipping and delivery obligations 

in any material respect on a timely basis; and (iv) by either 

party upon insolvency or bankruptcy of the other party.

On August 18, 2011, the Company entered into an invest-

ment agreement between the Company and Liberty GIC, 

Inc. (Liberty) pursuant to which the Company issued and 

sold to Liberty, and Liberty purchased, 204,000 shares of 

the Company’s Series J Preferred Stock, par value $0.001 

per share (Preferred Stock), for an aggregate purchase 

price of $204.0 million in a private placement exempt from 

the registration requirements of the 1933 Act. The 

shares of Preferred Stock will be convertible, at the option 

of the holders, into shares of Common Stock, representing 

16.6% of the Common Stock outstanding as of August 29, 

2011, (after giving pro forma effect to the issuance of the 

Preferred Stock), based on the initial conversion rate. The 

initial conversion rate reflects an initial conversion price 

of $17.00 and is subject to adjustment in certain circum-

stances. The initial dividend rate for the Preferred Stock is 

equal to 7.75% per annum of the initial liquidation prefer-

ence of the Preferred Stock to be paid quarterly and subject 

to adjustment in certain circumstances.

On April 8, 2014, Liberty sold the majority of its shares 

to qualified institutional buyers in reliance on Rule 144A 

under the Securities Act and has retained an approximate 

10 percent stake of its initial investment. As a result, 

Liberty will no longer have the right to elect two preferred 

stock directors to the Company’s Board. Additionally, the 

consent rights and pre-emptive rights to which Liberty was 

previously entitled ceased to apply.

On September 30, 2009, in connection with the closing 

of the acquisition of B&N College (the Acquisition), the 

Company issued the sellers (i) a senior subordinated note 

(the Senior Seller Note) in the principal amount of $100.0 

million, with interest of 8% per annum payable on the 

unpaid principal amount, which was paid on December 15, 

2010 in accordance to its scheduled date, and (ii) a junior 

subordinated note (the Junior Seller Note) in the princi-

pal amount of $150.0 million, payable in full on the fifth 

anniversary of the closing of the Acquisition, with interest 

of 10% per annum payable on the unpaid principal amount. 

Pursuant to a settlement agreed to on June 13, 2012, the 

sellers have agreed to waive their right to receive $22.8 

million in principal amount (and interest on such principal 

amount) of the Junior Seller Note. The net short-term pay-

able of $127.3 million is due September 30, 2014 and has 

been reclassified to a short-term liability accordingly.
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SEGMENTS

The Company identifies its operating segments based on 

the way the business is managed (focusing on the financial 

information distributed) and the manner in which the chief 

operating decision maker interacts with other members 

of management. The Company’s three operating segments 

are: B&N Retail, B&N College and NOOK.

B&N Retail

This segment includes 661 bookstores as of May 3, 2014, 

primarily under the Barnes & Noble Booksellers trade 

name. These stores generally offer a dedicated NOOK® 

area, a comprehensive trade book title base, a café, and 

departments dedicated to Juvenile, Toys & Games, DVDs, 

Music, Gift, Magazine and Bargain products. The stores 

also offer a calendar of ongoing events, including author 

appearances and children’s activities. The B&N Retail 

segment also includes the Company’s eCommerce web-

site, barnesandnoble.com, and its publishing operation, 

Sterling Publishing.

Barnes & Noble stores range in size from 3,000 to 60,000 

square feet depending upon market size, with an overall 

average store size of 26,000 square feet. In fiscal 2014, 

the Company reduced the Barnes & Noble store base by 

approximately 400,000 square feet, bringing the total 

square footage to 17.4 million square feet, a 1.9% decrease 

from fiscal 2013. The Company opened three new Barnes & 

Noble stores in fiscal 2014, which total 84,000 square feet 

in size. Each Barnes & Noble store features an authoritative 

selection of books, ranging from 22,000 to 163,000 titles. 

The comprehensive title selection is diverse and reflects 

local interests. Bestsellers typically represent between 

approximately 4% and 6% of Barnes & Noble store sales. 

Product Master, the Company’s proprietary inventory 

management database, has approximately 16 million titles. 

By enhancing the Company’s existing merchandise replen-

ishment systems, Product Master allows the Company to 

achieve high in-stock positions and productivity at the 

store level through efficiencies in receiving, cashiering and 

returns processing. Complementing this extensive on-site 

selection, all Barnes & Noble stores provide customers with 

access to the millions of books available to online shoppers 

at barnesandnoble.com while offering an option to have the 

book sent to the store or shipped directly to the customer. 

At the center of this eCommerce program is the Company’s 

website, barnesandnoble.com.

Sterling Publishing
Sterling Publishing is a leading publisher of non-fiction 

trade titles. Founded in 1949, Sterling publishes a wide 

range of non-fiction and illustrated books and kits across a 

variety of imprints, in categories such as health & wellness, 

music & popular culture, food & wine, crafts & photogra-

phy, puzzles & games and history & current affairs, as well 

as a large children’s line. Sterling, with a solid backlist and 

robust value publishing program, has a 14,000+ title base of 

eBooks and print books. In addition, Sterling also distrib-

utes 1,000+ titles on behalf of client publishers.

B&N College

B&N College is one of the largest contract operators of 

bookstores on college and university campuses across the 

United States. As of May 3, 2014, B&N College operated 700 

stores nationwide. These stores are operated under 448 

contracts, which can cover multiple stores and include over 

5 million students and faculty. B&N College’s customer 

base, which is mainly comprised of students and faculty, 

can purchase various items from their campus stores, 

including textbooks, textbook rentals and course-related 

materials, emblematic apparel and gifts, trade books, com-

puter products, NOOK® products and related accessories, 

school and dorm supplies, convenience and café items. 

B&N College provides extensive textbook rental options to 

its customers and has expanded its digital textbooks and 

other course materials through a proprietary digital plat-

form (Yuzu™). A significant number of textbooks are now 

available in multiple formats: new, used, rental and digital 

(rental and ownership), resulting in improved choice and 

substantial student savings.

B&N College operates 664 traditional college bookstores 

and 36 academic superstores, which are generally larger 

in size, offer cafés and provide a sense of community that 

engages the surrounding campus and local communities in 

college activities and culture. The traditional bookstores 

range in size up to 48,000 square feet. The academic super-

stores range in size from 8,000 to 111,000 square feet.

B&N College generally operates its stores pursuant to 

multi-year management service agreements under which 

a school designates B&N College to operate the official 

school bookstore on campus and B&N College provides the 

school with regular payments that represent a percentage 

of store sales and, in some cases, include a minimum fixed 

guarantee.
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B&N College’s business strategy is to maintain long-term 

relationships with colleges and universities by providing 

high-quality service to college administrators, faculty and 

students. B&N College is poised for continued growth with 

approximately 55% of college bookstores in the United 

States being operated by the educational institutions them-

selves. B&N College believes it will achieve this by increas-

ing market share through new account acquisition and 

through strategic planning and outreach with its existing 

accounts to exploit opportunities and grow market share.

NOOK

This segment includes the Company’s digital business, 

which includes the Company’s eBookstore, digital news-

stand and sales of NOOK® devices and accessories through 

B&N Retail, B&N College and third party distribution part-

ners. The underlying strategy of the NOOK business is to 

offer customers any digital book, newspaper or magazine, 

anytime, on any device. The Company remains commit-

ted to delivering to customers the best digital bookstore 

experience, while rationalizing its existing cost structure. 

As part of this commitment, the Company entered into 

a partnership on June 4, 2014, to develop co-branded 

Samsung Galaxy Tab 4 NOOK tablets that feature the award-

winning Barnes & Noble digital reading experience. The 

co-branded devices will combine popular Samsung Galaxy 

Tab 4 hardware with customized NOOK software to give 

customers powerful, full-featured tablets that are designed 

for reading, with easy access to Barnes & Noble’s expansive 

digital collection of more than three million books, leading 

magazines and newspapers. The companies are expected to 

introduce the Samsung Galaxy Tab 4 NOOK in a 7-inch ver-

sion in the U.S. in August 2014. The Company also intends 

to continue to develop and offer the best black-and-white 

eReaders on the market, backed by quality customer service 

and technology support for those devices. The Company 

will continue to sell through its existing on-hand device 

inventory as it segues into new products. At the same time, 

it will continue to leverage all Barnes & Noble retail, digital 

and partnership assets, as well as existing NOOK customer 

relationships. The Company intends to continue to provide 

the resources necessary for quality customer service and 

support sales of new devices and those in use by NOOK’s 

existing customer base.

On June 5, 2014, the Company entered into an Assignment 

of Lease for its 208,000 square foot Palo Alto, California 

campus. Employees will be relocated to new state-of-the-

art facilities totaling 88,000 square feet. NOOK employees 

will move to a new facility in Santa Clara, California, while 

Barnes & Noble College’s digital education employees will 

relocate to a facility in Mountain View, California. The relo-

cations are expected to occur by the end of the first quarter 

of fiscal 2015. This action will result in a net reduction of 

annual occupancy expenses of approximately $9.6 million, 

reducing the Company’s future lease commitments by 

approximately $102.1 million. In the fourth quarter of fiscal 

2014, the Company recorded an asset impairment charge 

of $28.4 million related to this relocation. The Company 

also expects to incur cash closing costs and to adjust lease 

accounting items in the first quarter of fiscal 2015 to reflect 

the impact of these relocations.

The digital products group has knowledgeable product 

development and operational management teams in the 

areas of reading software, digital content retailing and 

mobile device development. NOOK’s development office 

employs experienced engineers in its digital product area. 

The NOOK digital products management team is cur-

rently focused on next generation digital reading products 

to enhance the reading experience and help consumers 

discover content in new and interesting ways. The Digital 

Services team, which includes the Cloud and Commerce 

groups, is responsible for maintaining and developing the 

NOOK digital bookstore service.
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RESULTS OF OPERATIONS

Fiscal Year Fiscal 2014 Fiscal 2013  Fiscal 2012

Sales (in thousands) $ 6,381,357 $ 6,839,005 $ 7,129,199

Loss Attributable to Barnes & Noble, Inc.  

(in thousands) $     (47,268) $   (157,806) $     (64,840)

Diluted Loss Per Common Share $         (1.12) $        (3.02) $         (1.34)

Comparable Sales Increase (Decrease)

Barnes & Noble storesa (5.8)%  (3.4)%  1.4%

Barnes & Noble core storesb (3.1)%  0.1%  0.7%

Barnes & Noble College storesc (2.7)%  (1.2)%  (0.3)%

STORES OPENED

Barnes & Noble stores 3  2  —

Barnes & Noble College stores  30  49  32

Total  33  51  32

STORES CLOSED

Barnes & Noble stores 17  18  14

Barnes & Noble College stores  16  10  21

Total  33  28  35

NUMBER OF STORES OPEN AT YEAR END

Barnes & Noble stores 661 675 691

Barnes & Noble College stores  700  686  647

Total  1,361  1,361  1,338

SQUARE FEET OF SELLING SPACE AT YEAR END (in millions)

Barnes & Noble stores 17.4 17.7  18.0

a Comparable store sales increase (decrease) is calculated on a 52-week basis, including sales from stores that have been open for at least 15 months 
and all eReader device revenue deferred in accordance with ASC 605-25 Revenue Recognition, Multiple Element Arrangements, and does not include 
sales from closed or relocated stores.

b Core comparable store sales, which excludes sales of NOOK products, increase (decrease) is calculated on a 52-week basis, including sales from 
stores that have been open for at least 15 months and does not include sales from closed or relocated stores.

c Comparable store sales increase (decrease) is calculated on a 52-week basis, including sales from stores that have been open for at least 15 months 
and all eReader device revenue deferred in accordance with ASC 605-25 Revenue Recognition, Multiple Element Arrangements, and does not include 
sales from closed or relocated stores. Additionally, for textbook rentals, comparable store sales reflects the retail selling price of a new or used 
textbook when rented, rather than solely the rental fee received and amortized over the rental period.
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The following table sets forth, for the periods indicated, the percentage relationship that certain items bear to total sales of 

the Company:

Fiscal Year Fiscal 2014 Fiscal 2013 Fiscal 2012

Sales 100.0% 100.0% 100.0%

Cost of sales and occupancy 70.9 75.4 73.1

Gross margin 29.1 24.6 26.9

Selling and administrative expenses 25.2 24.5 24.4

Depreciation and amortization 3.4 3.3 3.3

Operating income (loss) 0.5 (3.2) (0.8)

Interest expense, net and amortization of deferred 
financing fees 0.5 0.5 0.5

Income (loss) before taxes  0.1 (3.7) (1.3)

Income taxes  0.8 (1.4) (0.4)

Loss (net of income tax) (0.7)% (2.3)% (0.9)%

BUSINESS OVERVIEW

The Company’s financial performance has been signifi-

cantly impacted in recent years by a number of factors, 

including the expanding digital market, increased online 

competition and the economic downturn. However, the 

Company has benefited from reduced physical bookstore 

competition in the marketplace, the successful execution 

of new merchandising strategies, its ability to acquire new 

college contracts, and by expanding its offerings to college 

students. Additionally, the Company has leveraged its 

unique assets, iconic brands and reach to become a leader 

in the distribution of digital content.

The Company derives the majority of its sales and net 

income from its B&N Retail and B&N College stores.

B&N Retail comparable store sales benefited as one of B&N 

Retail’s largest competitors in the sale of physical books, 

Borders Group, Inc. (Borders), completed liquidating all of 

its stores under Chapter 11 of the Bankruptcy Code in early 

fiscal 2012. While the Company expects declining physi-

cal book trends to continue industry-wide as consumer 

spending shifts further online and toward digital products, 

it expects to be the beneficiary of further market consolida-

tion as other non-book retailers reduce their presence in 

the book category. Additionally, the Company continues to 

experience positive trends in its Toys & Games business as 

a result of the successful execution of new merchandising 

strategies. The Company is making further investments in 

its retail business this fiscal year and plans to launch a new 

eCommerce platform, which it believes will allow it to be 

more competitive in the marketplace.

B&N College provides direct access to a large and well-

educated demographic group, enabling the Company to 

build relationships with students throughout their college 

years and beyond. The Company also expects to be the ben-

eficiary of market consolidation as more and more schools 

outsource their bookstore management. The Company is in 

a unique market position to benefit from this trend given 

its full suite of services: bookstore management, textbook 

rental and digital delivery. The Company is making further 

investments in its college business, including its most 

recent launch of Yuzu™. The Company believes higher 

education provides a long-term growth opportunity.

NOOK represents the Company’s digital business, which 

includes the Company’s eBookstore, digital newsstand 

and sales of NOOK® devices and accessories through B&N 

Retail, B&N College and third party distribution partners. 

The underlying strategy of the NOOK business is to offer 

customers any digital book, newspaper or magazine, 

anytime, on any device. The Company remains commit-

ted to delivering to customers the best digital bookstore 

experience, while rationalizing its existing cost structure. 

As part of this commitment, the Company entered into 

a partnership on June 4, 2014, to develop co-branded 

Samsung Galaxy Tab 4 NOOK tablets that feature the award-

winning Barnes & Noble digital reading experience. The 

co-branded devices will combine popular Samsung Galaxy 

Tab 4 hardware with customized NOOK software to give 

customers powerful, full-featured tablets that are designed 

for reading, with easy access to Barnes & Noble’s expansive 

digital collection of more than three million books, leading 

magazines and newspapers. The companies are expected to 
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introduce the Samsung Galaxy Tab 4 NOOK in a 7-inch ver-

sion in the U.S. in August 2014. The Company also intends 

to continue to develop and offer the best black-and-white 

eReaders on the market, backed by quality customer service 

and technology support for those devices. The Company will 

continue to sell its existing device inventory through as it 

segues into new products. At the same time, it will leverage 

all Barnes & Noble retail, digital and partnership assets, as 

well as existing NOOK customer relationships. The Company 

intends to continue to provide the resources necessary for 

quality customer service and support sales of new devices 

and those in use by NOOK’s existing customer base.

On June 5, 2014, the Company entered into an Assignment 

of Lease for its 208,000 square foot Palo Alto, California 

campus. Employees will be relocated to new state-of-the-

art facilities totaling 88,000 square feet. NOOK employees 

will move to a new facility in Santa Clara, California, while 

Barnes & Noble College’s digital education employees will 

relocate to a facility in Mountain View, California. The relo-

cations are expected to occur by the end of the first quarter 

of fiscal 2015. This action is expected to result in significant 

annual occupancy expense savings.

The Company sells digital content in the U.K. directly 

through its NOOK devices and its nook.co.uk website. 

The Company plans to continue to expand into additional 

international markets and believes that its partnership with 

Microsoft will help foster that expansion. Additionally, the 

Company believes that its partnership with Pearson will 

accelerate customer access to digital content by pairing 

Pearson’s leading expertise in online learning with NOOK’s 

expertise in reading technology, online commerce and 

customer service.

The Company believes its footprint of more than 1,300 

stores will continue to be a major competitive asset in 

capturing digital content share. The Company will continue 

to complement its traditional retail, trade book and college 

bookstores businesses with its electronic and Internet 

offerings, using retail stores in attractive geographic 

markets to promote and sell digital devices and content. 

Customers can see, feel and experiment with NOOK® 

products in the Company’s stores.

Although the stores will be just a part of the offering, 

they will remain a key driver of sales and cash flow as the 

Company expands its multi-channel relationships with its 

customers. While the Company may open a few retail stores 

in new geographic markets, the Company expects to reduce 

the total net number of retail stores. B&N College expects to 

increase its college store base.

Although the Company believes cash on hand, cash flows 

from operating activities, funds available from its Credit 

Facility, cash received and committed to NOOK Media 

and short-term vendor financing provide the Company 

with adequate liquidity and capital resources for seasonal 

working capital requirements, the Company may raise 

additional capital to support key strategic initiatives.

53  WEEKS ENDED MAY 3 ,  2014  COMPARED WITH 52 
WEEKS ENDED APRIL  27 ,  2013

Sales

The following table summarizes the Company’s sales for the 

53 weeks ended May 3, 2014 and 52 weeks ended April 27, 

2013:

53 Weeks Ended 52 Weeks Ended

Dollars in thousands
May 3, 

2014 % Total
April 27, 

2013 % Total

B&N Retail $ 4,295,110 67.3% $ 4,568,243 66.8%

B&N College 1,748,042 27.4% 1,763,248 25.8%

NOOK 505,862 7.9% 780,433 11.4%

Elimination (167,657) (2.6)% (272,919) (4.0)%

Total Sales $ 6,381,357 100.0% $ 6,839,005 100.0%

The Company’s sales decreased $457.7 million, or 6.7%, 

during fiscal 2014 to $6.38 billion from $6.84 billion dur-

ing fiscal 2013. The decrease by segment is as follows:

 • B&N Retail sales decreased $273.1 million, or 6.0%, to 

$4.30 billion during the 53 weeks ended May 3, 2014 

from $4.57 billion during the 52 weeks ended April 27, 

2013, and accounted for 67.3% of total Company sales. 

The inclusion of the 53rd week contributed $56.6 mil-

lion in additional sales in fiscal 2014. The decrease was 

attributable to a 5.8% decrease in comparable store sales, 

which decreased sales by $224.6 million, and lower 

online sales, which declined by $32.3 million. Closed 

stores decreased sales by $81.8 million, partially offset 

by new stores that increased sales by $19.0 million. Core 

comparable store sales, which exclude sales of NOOK® 

products, decreased 3.1% as compared to the prior year. 

Core comparable store sales were impacted by lower 

physical book sales, partially offset by stronger sales in 

the Toys & Games and Gift categories. Core comparable 

sales were impacted by comparisons to the strong sales 

of the Fifty Shades and Hunger Games trilogies in the prior 

year. Excluding these trilogies, core comparable store 

sales decreased 1.7%. Sales of NOOK products at B&N 

Retail stores declined on lower device unit volume and 

lower average selling prices. B&N Retail also includes 
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third-party sales of Sterling Publishing, which declined 

$6.6 million, or 5.7%, versus the prior year.

 • B&N College sales decreased $15.2 million, or 0.9%, to 

$1.75 billion during the 53 weeks ended May 3, 2014 from 

$1.76 billion during the 52 weeks ended April 27, 2013, 

and accounted for 27.4% of total Company sales. The 

inclusion of the 53rd week contributed $14.6 million in 

additional sales in fiscal 2014. The decrease was primar-

ily due to a comparable store sales decline of 2.7% on 

lower textbook sales and a higher mix of lower priced 

used textbook rentals, partially offset by higher general 

merchandise sales. While comparable store sales per-

centages are adjusted for the impact of textbook rentals, 

sales dollars are negatively impacted by the continued 

growth of textbook rentals, which have a lower price than 

new or used textbooks, and a portion of rental sales are 

deferred over the rental period. Comparable sales dollars 

decreased sales by $73.5 million for the year. Recognition 

of previously deferred rental revenues increased sales by 

$2.0 million for the 53 weeks ended May 3, 2014. Closed 

stores decreased sales by $21.2 million, offset by new 

store openings, which increased sales by $63.2 million.

 • NOOK sales decreased $274.6 million, or 35.2%, to 

$505.9 million during the 53 weeks ended May 3, 2014 

from $780.4 million during the 52 weeks ended April 27, 

2013. The inclusion of the 53rd week contributed $9.2 

million in additional sales in fiscal 2014. Device and 

accessories sales decreased $211.0 million, or 44.8%, to 

$260.3 million during the 53 weeks ended May 3, 2014 

on lower device unit volume and lower average selling 

prices. Two new tablet products were launched in fiscal 

2013 versus one new e-Ink product in fiscal 2014, as the 

Company sold through most of its existing device inven-

tories at reduced prices. Digital content sales decreased 

$63.6 million, or 20.6%, to $245.6 million during the 53 

weeks ended May 3, 2014. The digital content decrease 

was primarily due to lower device unit volume through-

out the year, lower average selling prices and compari-

sons to the Fifty Shades and Hunger Games trilogies in the 

prior year. Excluding the impact of these two trilogies, 

digital content sales decreased 17.5% during the 53 

weeks ended May 3, 2014.

 • The elimination represents sales from NOOK to B&N 

Retail and B&N College on a sell through basis. The 

decrease versus prior year was due to the lower device 

sales at B&N Retail. NOOK sales, net of this elimination, 

accounted for 5.3% of total Company sales.

In fiscal 2014, the Company opened three and closed 17 

Barnes & Noble stores, bringing its total number of B&N 

Retail stores to 661 with 17.4 million square feet. In fiscal 

2014, the Company added 30 B&N College stores and closed 

16, ending the period with 700 B&N College stores. As of 

May 3, 2014, the Company operated 1,361 stores in the fifty 

states and the District of Columbia.

Cost of Sales and Occupancy

53 Weeks Ended 52 Weeks Ended

Dollars in thousands May 3, 2014 % Sales
April 27, 

2013 % Sales

B&N Retail $2,956,821 68.8% $ 3,168,520  69.4%

B&N College 1,310,673 75.0%  1,358,172  77.0%

NOOK 423,585 83.7%  902,726  115.7%

Elimination (167,657) (33.1)% (272,919) (35.0)%

Total Cost of Sales 
and Occupancy $4,523,422 70.9% $ 5,156,499  75.4%

The Company’s cost of sales and occupancy includes 

costs such as merchandise costs, distribution center 

costs (including payroll, freight, supplies, depreciation 

and other operating expenses), rental expense, manage-

ment service agreement costs with schools, common 

area maintenance and real estate taxes, partially offset by 

landlord tenant allowances amortized over the life of the 

lease.

Cost of sales and occupancy decreased $633.1 million, or 

12.3%, to $4.52 billion in fiscal 2014 from $5.16 billion 

in fiscal 2013. Cost of sales and occupancy decreased as a 

percentage of sales to 70.9% in fiscal 2014 from 75.4% in 

fiscal 2013. The decrease by segment is as follows:

 • B&N Retail cost of sales and occupancy decreased as a 

percentage of sales to 68.8% in fiscal 2014 from 69.4% in 

fiscal 2013. This decrease was attributable to a higher mix 

of higher margin core products (which excludes NOOK® 

products), increased favorable vendor allowances and 

settlements, partially offset by expense deleverage 

against sales decline.

 • B&N College cost of sales and occupancy decreased as a 

percentage of sales to 75.0% in fiscal 2014 from 77.0% in 

fiscal 2013 due to a favorable sales mix of higher margin 

textbook rentals and general merchandise, increased 

textbook rental margin rates, and a $7.7 million favorable 

LIFO adjustment this year compared to a $2.2 million 

unfavorable LIFO adjustment last year. These were par-

tially offset by sales deleveraging and higher occupancy 

costs as a result of contract renewals.
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 • NOOK cost of sales and occupancy decreased as a 

percentage of sales to 83.7% in fiscal 2014 from 115.7% 

in fiscal 2013. During fiscal 2013, the Company recorded 

$222.2 million of additional inventory related charges, 

of which $189.7 million was recorded to cost of sales 

and the remainder related to sales allowances, as the 

holiday sales shortfall resulted in higher than anticipated 

levels of finished and unfinished goods. The current 

year includes a reduction in cost of sales of $25.7 million 

as the Company sold through devices at higher average 

selling prices than originally anticipated, and also was 

able to use parts and components, which were previ-

ously written down, to build more devices to meet higher 

than expected demand. The current year also includes 

$21.8 million of inventory charges to write down device 

development and other costs reflective of changes to the 

Company’s device strategy.

Gross Margin

53 Weeks Ended 52 Weeks Ended

Dollars in thousands May 3, 2014 % Sales
April 27, 

2013 % Sales

B&N Retail $1,338,289 31.2% $ 1,399,723 30.6%

B&N College 437,369 25.0% 405,076 23.0%

NOOK 82,277 24.3% (122,293) (24.1)%

Total Gross Margin $1,857,935 29.1% $ 1,682,506 24.6%

The Company’s consolidated gross margin increased $175.4 

million, or 10.4%, to $1.86 billion in fiscal 2014 from $1.68 

billion in fiscal 2013. This increase was due to the matters 

discussed above.

Selling and Administrative Expenses

53 Weeks Ended 52 Weeks Ended

Dollars in thousands May 3, 2014 % Sales
April 27, 

2013 % Sales

B&N Retail $    984,236 22.9% $ 1,023,633 22.4%

B&N College 322,819 18.5% 293,618 16.7%

NOOK 299,881 88.7% 358,125 70.6%

Total Selling and 
Administrative 
Expenses $ 1,606,936 25.2% $ 1,675,376 24.5%

Selling and administrative expenses decreased $68.4 

million, or 4.1%, to $1.61 billion in fiscal 2014 from $1.68 

billion in fiscal 2013. Selling and administrative expenses 

increased as a percentage of sales to 25.2% in fiscal 2014 

from 24.5% in fiscal 2013. The change as a percentage of 

sales by segment is as follows:

 • B&N Retail selling and administrative expenses 

increased as a percentage of sales to 22.9% in fiscal 2014 

from 22.4% in fiscal 2013. This increase was primarily 

due to deleveraging against the sales decline.

 • B&N College selling and administrative expenses 

increased as a percentage of sales to 18.5% in fiscal 2014 

from 16.7% in fiscal 2013. This increase was primarily 

due to deleveraging against the sales decline as well as 

continued investments in Yuzu™, B&N College’s digital 

education platform.

 • NOOK selling and administrative expenses increased as 

a percentage of sales to 88.7% in fiscal 2014 from 70.6% 

in fiscal 2013. The current year includes a $28.4 million 

asset impairment resulting from the relocation of the 

Palo Alto, CA facility. The prior year included $20.3 mil-

lion of impairment charges, primarily including good-

will. Excluding these impairment charges, S&A expenses 

increased to 80.3% from 66.6% primarily due to sales 

deleverage. Expense dollars declined on lower advertis-

ing, consulting, compensation and legal expenses.

Depreciation and Amortization

53 Weeks Ended 52 Weeks Ended

Dollars in thousands
May 3, 

2014 % Sales
April 27, 

2013 % Sales

B&N Retail $ 125,991 2.9% $ 148,855 3.3%

B&N College 48,014 2.7%  46,849 2.7%

NOOK 42,802 12.7%  31,430 6.2%

Total Depreciation and 
Amortization  $ 216,807 3.4% $ 227,134 3.3%

Depreciation and amortization decreased $10.3 million, or 

4.5%, to $216.8 million in fiscal 2014 from $227.1 million 

in fiscal 2013. This decrease was primarily attributable to 

store closings and fully depreciated assets, partially offset 

by additional capital expenditures.
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Operating Profit (Loss)

53 Weeks Ended 52 Weeks Ended

Dollars in thousands
May 3, 

2014 % Sales
April 27, 

2013 % Sales

B&N Retail  $ 228,062  5.3%  $ 227,235  5.0%

B&N College 66,536  3.8%  64,609  3.7%

NOOK  (260,406)  (77.0)%  (511,848)  (100.9)%

Total Operating Profit (Loss)  $ 34,192  0.5%  $ (220,004)  (3.2)%

The Company’s consolidated operating profit increased 

$254.2 million, or 115.5%, to an operating profit of $34.2 

million in fiscal 2014 from an operating loss of $(220.0) 

million in fiscal 2013. This increase was due to the matters 

discussed above.

Interest Expense, Net and Amortization of Deferred 

Financing Fees

53 Weeks  

Ended 52 Weeks Ended

Dollars in thousands May 3, 2014 April 27, 2013  % of Change

Interest Expense, Net and 
Amortization of Deferred 
Financing Fees $ 29,507 $ 35,345 (16.5)%

Net interest expense and amortization of deferred financ-

ing fees decreased $5.8 million, or 16.5%, to $29.5 mil-

lion in fiscal 2014 from $35.3 million in fiscal 2013. This 

decrease was due to lower average borrowings in the 

current year.

Income Taxes

53 Weeks Ended 52 Weeks Ended

Dollars in thousands
May 3, 

2014
Effective 

Rate
April 27, 

2013
Effective 

Rate

Income Taxes $ 51,953  1,108.9% $ (97,543) 38.2%

The Company recorded an income tax provision in fiscal 

2014 of $52.0 million compared with income tax benefit 

of $(97.5) million in fiscal 2013. The Company’s effective 

tax rate increased to 1,108.9% in fiscal 2014 compared with 

38.2% in fiscal 2013. The higher effective tax rate in fiscal 

2014 was due primarily to the impacts of valuation allow-

ances, loss allocations within the Company’s NOOK Media 

joint venture and non-deductible expenses, partly offset 

by R&D tax credits, state loss carryforwards and changes to 

unrecognized tax benefits.

In accordance with US GAAP rules on accounting for 

income taxes, the Company evaluates the realizability of its 

deferred tax assets at each reporting date. The Company 

records a valuation allowance when it determines that it 

is more likely than not that all or a portion of a particular 

deferred tax asset will not be realized. As part of this evalu-

ation, the Company reviews all evidence, both positive and 

negative, to determine if a valuation allowance is needed. 

The Company’s review of positive evidence included the 

review of feasible tax planning strategies that may be 

implemented and the reversal of temporary items. The 

Company determined that there was sufficient negative 

evidence to establish valuation allowances against cer-

tain deferred tax assets generated during this fiscal year, 

totaling $19.2 million. The Company will monitor the need 

for additional valuation allowances at each quarter in the 

future and, if the negative evidence outweighs the positive 

evidence, an allowance will be recorded.

Net Earnings (Loss)

53 Weeks Ended 52 Weeks Ended

Dollars in thousands
May 3,  

2014
Diluted  

EPS
April 27, 

2013
Diluted  

EPS

Net Loss $ (47,268) $ (1.12) $ (157,806) $ (3.02)

As a result of the factors discussed above, the Company 

reported a consolidated net loss of $(47.3) million (or $1.12 

per diluted share) during fiscal 2014, compared with con-

solidated net loss of $(157.8) million (or $3.02 per diluted 

share) during fiscal 2013.

52  WEEKS ENDED APRIL  27 ,  2013  COMPARED WITH 52 
WEEKS ENDED APRIL  28 ,  2012

Sales

The following table summarizes the Company’s sales for the 

52 weeks ended April 27, 2013 and April 28, 2012:

52 weeks ended

Dollars in thousands
April 27, 

2013 % Total
April 28, 

2012 % Total

B&N Retail $ 4,568,243 66.8% $ 4,852,913 68.1%

B&N College 1,763,248 25.8% 1,743,662 24.4%

NOOK 780,433 11.4% 933,471 13.1%

Elimination (272,919) (4.0)%  (400,847) (5.6)%

Total Sales $ 6,839,005  100.0% $ 7,129,199  100.0%
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The Company’s sales decreased $290.2 million, or 4.1%, 

during fiscal 2013 to $6.84 billion from $7.13 billion dur-

ing fiscal 2012. The increase or decrease by segment is as 

follows:

 • B&N Retail sales for the 52 weeks ended April 27, 2013 

decreased $284.7 million, or 5.9%, to $4.57 billion 

from $4.85 billion during the same period one year ago, 

and accounted for 66.8% of total Company sales. The 

decrease was primarily attributable to a 3.4% decrease 

in comparable store sales, which decreased sales by 

$138.4 million, lower online sales, which declined by 

$83.5 million, and closed store sales, which decreased 

sales by $68.0 million. Core comparable store sales, 

which exclude sales of NOOK® products, increased 0.1% 

as compared to the prior year. Sales of NOOK® products 

declined due to lower unit volume. B&N Retail also 

includes third-party sales of Sterling Publishing Co., Inc.

 • B&N College sales increased $19.6 million, or 1.1%, to 

$1.76 billion during the 52 weeks ended April 27, 2013 

from $1.74 billion during the 52 weeks ended April 28, 

2012. This increase was attributable to a $76.5 mil-

lion increase in new store sales partially offset by $16.0 

million of store closures as well as a comparable store 

sales decrease of 1.2%, or $41.9 million. While compa-

rable store sales are adjusted for the impact of textbook 

rentals, total sales dollars are negatively impacted by the 

continued growth of textbook rentals, which have a lower 

price than new or used textbooks, and a portion of rental 

sales are deferred over the rental period. This decrease 

was partially offset by higher general merchandise sales.

 • NOOK sales decreased $153.0 million, or 16.4%, to 

$780.4 million during the 52 weeks ended April 27, 2013 

from $933.5 million during the 52 weeks ended April 28, 

2012. This decrease was primarily due to lower device 

unit volume and lower average selling prices, partially 

offset by higher content sales. Digital content sales 

increased 16.2% during the 52 weeks ended April 27, 

2013.

 • The elimination represents sales from NOOK to B&N 

Retail and B&N College on a sell through basis.

 • In fiscal 2013, the Company opened two and closed 18 

Barnes & Noble stores, bringing its total number of 

B&N Retail stores to 675 with 17.7 million square feet. In 

fiscal 2013, the Company added 49 B&N College stores 

and closed 10, ending the period with 686 B&N College 

stores. As of April 27, 2013, the Company operated 1,361 

stores in the fifty states and the District of Columbia.

Cost of Sales and Occupancy

52 weeks ended

Dollars in thousands
April 27, 

2013 % Sales
April 28, 

2012 % Sales

B&N Retail $ 3,168,520 69.4% $ 3,398,773 70.0%

B&N College 1,358,172 77.0% 1,348,351 77.3%

NOOK 902,726 115.7% 865,406 92.7%

Elimination (272,919) (35.0)% (400,847) (42.9)%

Total Cost of Sales and 
Occupancy $ 5,156,499  75.4% $ 5,211,683  73.1%

The Company’s cost of sales and occupancy includes costs 

such as merchandise costs, distribution center costs 

(including payroll, freight, supplies, depreciation and 

other operating expenses), rental expense, management 

service agreement costs with schools, common area main-

tenance and real estate taxes, partially offset by landlord 

tenant allowances amortized over the life of the lease.

Cost of sales and occupancy decreased $55.2 million, or 

1.1%, to $5.16 billion, in fiscal 2013 from $5.21 billion in 

fiscal 2012. Cost of sales and occupancy increased as a per-

centage of sales to 75.4% in fiscal 2013 from 73.1% in fiscal 

2012. The increase or decrease by segment is as follows:

 • B&N Retail cost of sales and occupancy decreased as 

a percentage of sales to 69.4% from 70.0% during the 

same period one year ago. This decrease was attributable 

to a higher mix of higher margin core products (which 

exclude sales of NOOK products) and increased vendor 

allowances.

 • B&N College cost of sales and occupancy decreased as a 

percentage of sales to 77.0% from 77.3% during the same 

period one year ago due to a higher mix of higher margin 

textbook rentals, partially offset by increases in occu-

pancy associated with contract renewals.

 • NOOK cost of sales and occupancy increased as a per-

centage of sales to 115.7% from 92.7% during the same 

period one year ago. This increase was attributable to 

$222.2 million of additional inventory related charges, of 

which $189.7 million was recorded to cost of sales, as the 

holiday sales shortfall resulted in higher than anticipated 

levels of finished and unfinished goods. Additional 

provisions may be required if the Company adopts more 

aggressive short-term promotional strategies, units 

turn at slower than historical paces, or permanent price 

markdowns accelerate. Also contributing to the increase 

was higher occupancy costs on increased office space in 

Palo Alto, CA, partially offset by a higher mix of higher 

margin content sales.
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Gross Margin

52 weeks ended

Dollars in thousands
April 27, 

2013 % Sales
April 28, 

2012 % Sales

B&N Retail $ 1,399,723 30.6% $ 1,454,140 30.0%

B&N College  405,076 23.0%  395,311 22.7%

NOOK (122,293) (24.1)%  68,065 12.8%

Total Gross Margin $ 1,682,506 24.6% $ 1,917,516 26.9%

The Company’s consolidated gross margin decreased 

$235.0 million, or 12.3%, to $1.68 billion, in fiscal 2013 

from $1.92 billion in fiscal 2012. This decrease was due to 

the matters discussed above.

Selling and Administrative Expenses

52 weeks ended

Dollars in thousands
April 27, 

2013 % Sales
April 28, 

2012 % Sales

B&N Retail $ 1,023,633  22.4% $ 1,130,311  23.3%

B&N College 293,618  16.7%  279,364  16.0%

NOOK  358,125  70.6%  329,777  61.9%

Total Selling and 
Administrative 
Expenses $ 1,675,376  24.5% $ 1,739,452  24.4%

Selling and administrative expenses decreased $64.1 

million, or 3.7%, to $1.68 billion in fiscal 2013 from $1.74 

billion in fiscal 2012. Selling and administrative expenses 

increased as a percentage of sales to 24.5% in fiscal 2013 

from 24.4% in fiscal 2012. The increase or decrease by 

segment is as follows:

 • B&N Retail selling and administrative expenses 

decreased as a percentage of sales to 22.4% from 23.3% 

during the same period one year ago primarily due to 

lower net legal and settlement expenses.

 • B&N College selling and administrative expenses 

increased as a percentage of sales to 16.7% in fiscal 2013 

from 16.0% in fiscal 2012. This increase was due to new 

stores and increased expenses for digital higher educa-

tion initiatives.

 • NOOK selling and administrative expenses increased as a 

percentage of sales to 70.6% from 61.9% during the same 

period one year ago due primarily to decreased sales, the 

impairment of goodwill and increased costs to support 

international expansion.

Depreciation and Amortization

52 weeks ended

Dollars in thousands
April 27, 

2013 % Sales
April 28, 

2012 % Sales

B&N Retail $ 148,855  3.3% $ 162,693  3.4%

B&N College  46,849  2.7%  45,343  2.6%

NOOK  31,430  6.2%  24,631  4.6%

Total Depreciation and 
Amortization $ 227,134  3.3% $ 232,667  3.3%

Depreciation and amortization decreased $5.5 million, or 

2.4%, to $227.1 million in fiscal 2013 from $232.7 million 

in fiscal 2012. This decrease was primarily attributable to 

store closings and fully depreciated assets, partially offset 

by additional capital expenditures.

Operating Profit (Loss)

52 weeks ended

Dollars in thousands
April 27, 

2013 % Sales
April 28, 

2012 % Sales

B&N Retail  $ 227,235  5.0%  $ 161,136  3.3%

B&N College  64,609  3.7%  70,604  4.0%

NOOK  (511,848)  (100.9)%  (286,343)  (53.8)%

Total Operating Loss  $ (220,004)  (3.2)%  $ (54,603)  (0.8)%

The Company’s consolidated operating loss increased 

$165.4 million, or 302.9%, to an operating loss of $220.0 

million in fiscal 2013 from an operating loss of $54.6 

million in fiscal 2012. This increase was due to the matters 

discussed above.

Interest Expense, Net and Amortization of Deferred 

Financing Fees

52 weeks ended

Dollars in thousands April 27, 2013 April 28, 2012  % of Change

Interest Expense, Net and 
Amortization of Deferred 
Financing Fees $ 35,345 $ 35,304  0.1%

Net interest expense and amortization of deferred financ-

ing fees remained flat at $35.3 million in fiscal 2013, as 

interest related to the Microsoft Commercial Agreement 

financing transaction was offset by lower average 

borrowings.
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Income Taxes

52 weeks ended

Dollars in thousands
April 27, 

2013
Effective 

Rate
April 28, 

2012
Effective 

Rate

Income Taxes $ (97,543)  38.2% $ (25,067) 27.9%

Income tax benefit in fiscal 2013 was $(97.5) million com-

pared with income tax benefit of $(25.1) million in fiscal 

2012. The Company’s effective tax rate increased to 38.2% 

in fiscal 2013 compared with 27.9% in fiscal 2012. The 

higher effective tax rate in fiscal 2013 was due primarily to 

a significant increase in R&D tax credits and a significant 

decrease in the impact of non-deductible compensation 

partly offset by an increase in tax reserves and a reduction 

in the state tax rate.

The Company evaluates the realizability of the deferred tax 

assets on a quarterly basis. As part of this evaluation, the 

Company reviews all evidence both positive and negative 

to determine if a valuation allowance is needed. At the end 

of the year, the Company was in a cumulative loss position. 

However, this negative evidence was outweighed by the 

positive evidence available and no valuation allowance, 

other than those previously recorded against particular 

deferred assets, is recorded. The Company’s review of posi-

tive evidence included the review of feasible tax planning 

strategies that may be implemented and the reversal of 

temporary items. The Company monitors the need for the 

additional valuation allowance at each quarter in the future 

and if the negative evidence outweighs the positive evi-

dence, an allowance will be recorded.

Net Earnings (Loss)

52 weeks ended

Dollars in thousands
April 27, 

2013
Diluted 

EPS
April 28, 

2012
Diluted 

EPS

Net Loss $ (157,806) $ (3.02) $ (64,840) $ (1.34)

As a result of the factors discussed above, the Company 

reported a consolidated net loss of $(157.8) million (or 

$3.02 per diluted share) during fiscal 2013, compared 

with consolidated net loss of $(64.8) million (or $1.34 per 

diluted share) during fiscal 2012.

SEASONALITY

The B&N Retail business, like that of many retailers, is sea-

sonal, with the major portion of sales and operating profit 

realized during its third fiscal quarter, which includes the 

holiday selling season.

The B&N College business is highly seasonal, with the 

major portion of sales and operating profit realized during 

the second and third fiscal quarters, when college students 

generally purchase and rent textbooks for the upcoming 

semesters. Revenues from textbook rentals, which primar-

ily occur at the beginning of the semester, are recognized 

over the rental period.

The NOOK business, like that of many technology com-

panies, is impacted by the launch of new products and the 

promotional efforts to support those new products, as well 

as the traditional retail holiday selling seasonality.

LIQUIDITY AND CAPITAL RESOURCES

The primary sources of the Company’s cash are net cash 

flows from operating activities, funds available under its 

credit facility, cash received and committed to NOOK Media 

and short-term vendor financing.

The Company’s cash and cash equivalents were $340.2 

million as of May 3, 2014, compared with $160.5 million as 

of April 27, 2013. The increase in cash is primarily attribut-

able to cash flow from operating activities, including the 

sell-through of existing NOOK inventory. On May 3, 2014, 

the Company had no borrowings under its $1.0 billion 

credit facility, compared to $77.0 million in the prior year.

Additional year-over-year balance sheet changes include 

the following:

 • Merchandise inventories decreased $176.1 million, or 

12.5%, to $1.235 billion as of May 3, 2014, compared with 

$1.411 billion as of April 27, 2013. NOOK inventories 

decreased due to the sell through of existing on-hand 

devices, while Retail declined on improved inventory 

management on the lower sales volume. B&N College 

inventories slightly increased on higher used textbooks 

and general merchandise.

 • Receivables, net decreased $5.4 million, or 3.6%, to 

$144.0 million as of May 3, 2014, compared to $149.4 

million as of April 27, 2013. This decrease was primarily 

due to lower channel partner business, partially offset by 

the eBook settlement discussed below.

 • Short-term deferred taxes decreased $65.2 million, or 

31.0%, to $144.7 million as of May 3, 2014 compared to 

$209.9 million as of April 27, 2013. This decrease was 

primarily due to decreases in inventory and accrued 

liabilities.
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 • Property and equipment, net decreased $94.2 million, or 

16.1%, to $490.7 million as of May 3, 2014 compared to 

$584.9 million as of April 27, 2013 as depreciation out-

paced capital expenditures. The Company also recorded 

$28.4 million of asset impairment charges for the Palo 

Alto relocation.

 • Intangible assets, net decreased $19.4 million, or 3.5%, 

to $528.6 million as of May 3, 2014 compared to $547.9 

million as of April 27, 2013 on additional amortization.

 • Other noncurrent assets decreased $12.5 million, or 

22.0%, to $44.5 million as of May 3, 2014 compared to 

$57.1 million as of April 27, 2013 primarily due to amor-

tization of deferred financing costs.

 • Accounts payable decreased $70.1 million, or 8.7%, to 

$735.1 million as of May 3, 2014, compared to $805.2 

million as of April 27, 2013. Accounts payable were 

59.5% and 57.1% of merchandise inventory as of May 3, 

2014 and April 27, 2013, respectively.

 • Accrued liabilities decreased $66.7 million, or 11.7%, to 

$502.6 million as of May 3, 2014, compared to $569.2 

million as of April 27, 2013. Accrued liabilities include 

deferred income, accrued taxes, compensation, occu-

pancy related, legal and other selling and administrative 

miscellaneous accruals.

 • Gift card liabilities increased $15.7 million, or 4.6%, to 

$356.7 million as of May 3, 2014, compared to $341.0 

million as of April 27, 2013 as gift card issuances 

exceeded redemptions and breakage over the past twelve 

months. The Company estimates the portion of the gift 

card liability for which the likelihood of redemption is 

remote based upon the Company’s historical redemption 

patterns. Additional breakage may be required if gift 

card redemptions continue to run lower than historical 

patterns.

 • The Junior Seller Note of $127.3 million relates to the 

acquisition of B&N College and is due September 30, 

2014.

 • Long-term deferred taxes decreased $19.3 million, or 

8.3%, to $211.9 million as of May 3, 2014 compared to 

$231.2 million as of April 27, 2013. This decrease was 

primarily due to lower depreciation partially offset by 

valuation allowances.

 • Other long-term liabilities decreased $53.0 million, or 

12.6%, to $367.0 million as of May 3, 2014, compared to 

$419.9 million as of April 27, 2013. This decrease was due 

to the reclassification of the Junior Seller Note to short-

term and lower deferred rent partially offset by proceeds 

received from the Microsoft Commercial Agreement.

The Company has arrangements with third-party manu-

facturers to produce certain NOOK® products. These 

manufacturers procure and assemble unfinished parts and 

components from third-party suppliers based on forecasts 

provided by the Company. Given production lead times, 

commitments are generally made far in advance of finished 

product delivery. Based on current purchase commitments 

and product development plans, the Company records 

a provision for purchase commitments. Future charges 

may be required based on changes in forecasted sales or 

strategic direction.

The Company provided credits to eligible customers result-

ing from the settlements reached with certain publishers in 

antitrust lawsuits filed by various State Attorney Generals 

and private class plaintiffs regarding the price of digital 

books. The Company’s customers were entitled to $44.2 

million in total credits as a result of the settlement, which 

is funded by these publishers. If a customer’s credit is not 

used to make a purchase within one year, the entire credit 

will expire. The Company recorded estimated redemptions 

of $33.6 million as a receivable from these publishers and 

a liability to its customers in March 2014. The Company’s 

customers had activated $21.5 million in credits thus far as 

of May 3, 2014.

Cash Flow

Cash flows provided by (used in) operating activities were 

$320.0 million, $117.4 million and $(24.1) million during 

fiscal 2014, fiscal 2013 and fiscal 2012, respectively. The 

increase in cash flows from operating activities in fiscal 

2014 was primarily attributable to lower inventory levels.

Capital Structure

On April 27, 2012, the Company entered into an investment 

agreement between the Company, Morrison and Microsoft 

pursuant to which the Company would form NOOK 

Media, and transfer to NOOK Media the Company’s digital 

device, digital content and college bookstore businesses 

and NOOK Media would sell to Morrison, and Morrison 

would purchase, 300,000 convertible preferred member-

ship interests in NOOK Media (Series A preferred) for an 

aggregate purchase price of $300.0 million. On October 

4, 2012, NOOK Media was formed and the Company sold 

to Morrison 300,000 convertible preferred membership 

interests in NOOK Media for an aggregate purchase price 

of $300.0 million. The convertible preferred membership 
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interests have a liquidation preference equal to Microsoft’s 

original investment. Concurrently with its entry into 

this agreement, the Company has also entered into a 

Commercial Agreement with Microsoft, whereby, among 

other things, NOOK Media has developed and distrib-

uted a Windows 8 application for eReading and digital 

content purchases, and has entered into an intellectual 

property license and settlement agreement with Microsoft 

and Microsoft Licensing GP. As part of the Commercial 

Agreement, for each of the first three years since the launch 

of the application for Windows 8, NOOK Media received 

and will continue to receive advance payments of $60.0 

million per year from Microsoft. These advance pay-

ments are subject to deferral under certain circumstances. 

Microsoft has paid and is obligated to continue to pay 

to NOOK Media $25.0 million each year for the first five 

years of the term for purposes of assisting NOOK Media 

in acquiring local digital reading content and technology 

development in the performance of NOOK Media’s obliga-

tions under the commercial agreement. Under the terms 

of this transaction, NOOK Media was debt-free at incep-

tion, except for trade accounts payable and other working 

capital requirements. Under the limited liability company 

agreement of NOOK Media, no distributions may be made 

by NOOK Media without Morrison’s approval.

On March 10, 2014, the Company entered into an 

amendment (Amendment) to the existing Commercial 

Agreement. Pursuant to the Amendment, NOOK Media 

and Microsoft agreed to co-branding within the Microsoft 

Consumer Reader for reading content delivered by NOOK 

Media. The Amendment also provided that subject to 

certain conditions NOOK Media would be permitted to 

discontinue distributing the NOOK Windows app and will 

cooperate in good faith with Microsoft to transition users 

to the Microsoft Consumer Reader. Microsoft and NOOK 

Media also agreed to updated revenue sharing to address 

this possibility. The Amendment also permits NOOK Media 

to cease efforts with respect to a Windows phone app.

On December 21, 2012, NOOK Media entered into an 

agreement with a subsidiary of Pearson to make a strategic 

investment in NOOK Media. That transaction closed on 

January 22, 2013, and Pearson invested approximately 

$89.5 million of cash in NOOK Media at a post-money 

valuation of approximately $1.789 billion in exchange for 

convertible preferred membership interests representing 

a 5% equity stake in NOOK Media. Following the closing of 

the transaction, the Company owns approximately 78.2% of 

NOOK Media and Microsoft, which holds convertible pre-

ferred membership interests, owns approximately 16.8%. 

The convertible preferred membership interests have a 

liquidation preference equal to the original investment. 

In addition, NOOK Media granted warrants to Pearson to 

purchase up to an additional 5% of NOOK Media under cer-

tain conditions at a pre-money valuation of NOOK Media of 

approximately $1.789 billion.

At closing, NOOK Media and Pearson entered into a 

Commercial Agreement with respect to distributing 

Pearson content in connection with this strategic invest-

ment. On December 27, 2013, NOOK Media entered into an 

amendment to the Commercial Agreement that extends the 

term of the agreement and the timing of the measurement 

period to meet certain revenue share milestones.

On June 4, 2014, barnesandnoble.com llc (NOOK Media 

Sub), a wholly owned subsidiary of NOOK Media and a 

subsidiary of Barnes & Noble, entered into a commer-

cial agreement (Agreement) with Samsung Electronics 

America, Inc. (Samsung) relating to tablets.

Pursuant to the Agreement, NOOK Media Sub, after good 

faith consultations with Samsung and subject to Samsung’s 

agreement, will select Samsung tablet devices under 

development to be customized and co-branded by NOOK 

Media Sub. Such devices will be produced by Samsung. The 

co-branded NOOK tablet devices may be sold by NOOK 

Media through Barnes & Noble retail stores, www.barne-

sandnoble.com, www.nook.com and other Barnes & Noble 

and NOOK Media websites. NOOK Media Sub and Samsung 

have agreed to develop co-branded Samsung Galaxy Tab 4 

NOOK tablets as the initial co-branded devices pursuant to 

the Agreement.

NOOK Media Sub has agreed to a minimum purchase 

commitment of 1,000,000 devices during the first twelve 

months after the launch of the initial co-branded NOOK 

devices; provided that if NOOK Media Sub does not meet 

certain sales thresholds of the initial co-branded NOOK 

devices by December 31, 2014, then the twelve month 

period referred to above shall be extended to fifteen 

months.

NOOK Media Sub and Samsung have agreed to coordinate 

customer service for the co-branded NOOK devices and 

have both agreed to a license of intellectual property to 

promote and market the devices. Additionally, Samsung 

has agreed to fund a marketing fund for the co-branded 

NOOK devices at the initial launch and for the duration of 

the Agreement.
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The Agreement has a two year term, with certain termina-

tion rights, including termination (i) by NOOK Media Sub 

for a Samsung material default; (ii) by Samsung for a NOOK 

Media Sub material default; (iii) by NOOK Media Sub if 

Samsung fails to meet its shipping and delivery obligations 

in any material respect on a timely basis; and (iv) by either 

party upon insolvency or bankruptcy of the other party.

On August 18, 2011, the Company entered into an invest-

ment agreement between the Company and Liberty pursu-

ant to which the Company issued and sold to Liberty, and 

Liberty purchased, 204,000 shares of the Company’s Series 

J Preferred Stock, par value $0.001 per share (Preferred 

Stock), for an aggregate purchase price of $204.0 million in 

a private placement exempt from the registration require-

ments of the 1933 Act. The shares of Preferred Stock will 

be convertible, at the option of the holders, into shares of 

Common Stock, representing 16.6% of the Common Stock 

outstanding as of August 29, 2011, (after giving pro forma 

effect to the issuance of the Preferred Stock), based on the 

initial conversion rate. The initial conversion rate reflects 

an initial conversion price of $17.00 and is subject to 

adjustment in certain circumstances. The initial dividend 

rate for the Preferred Stock is equal to 7.75% per annum 

of the initial liquidation preference of the Preferred Stock 

to be paid quarterly and subject to adjustment in certain 

circumstances.

On April 8, 2014, Liberty sold the majority of its shares 

to qualified institutional buyers in reliance on Rule 144A 

under the Securities Act and has retained an approximate 

10 percent stake of its initial investment. As a result, 

Liberty will no longer have the right to elect two preferred 

stock directors to the Company’s Board. Additionally, the 

consent rights and pre-emptive rights to which Liberty was 

previously entitled ceased to apply.

On September 30, 2009, in connection with the closing 

of the acquisition of B&N College (the Acquisition), the 

Company issued the sellers (i) a senior subordinated note 

(the Senior Seller Note) in the principal amount of $100.0 

million, with interest of 8% per annum payable on the 

unpaid principal amount, which was paid on December 15, 

2010 in accordance to its scheduled date, and (ii) a junior 

subordinated note (the Junior Seller Note) in the princi-

pal amount of $150.0 million, payable in full on the fifth 

anniversary of the closing of the Acquisition, with interest 

of 10% per annum payable on the unpaid principal amount. 

Pursuant to a settlement agreed to on June 13, 2012, the 

sellers have agreed to waive their right to receive $22.8 

million in principal amount (and interest on such principal 

amount) of the Junior Seller Note. The net short-term pay-

able of $127.3 million is due September 30, 2014 and has 

been reclassified to a short-term liability accordingly.

The Company is party to an amended and restated credit 

facility with Bank of America, N.A., as administrative 

agent, collateral agent and swing line lender, and other 

lenders, dated as of April 29, 2011 (as amended and 

modified to date, the Credit Facility), consisting of up to 

$1 billion in aggregate commitments under a five-year 

asset-backed revolving credit facility expiring on April 29, 

2016, which is secured by eligible inventory and accounts 

receivable with the ability to include eligible real estate 

and related assets. Borrowings under the Credit Facility 

are limited to a specified percentage of eligible invento-

ries and accounts receivable and accrued interest, at the 

election of the Company, at Base Rate or LIBO Rate, plus, 

in each case, an Applicable Margin (each term as defined 

in the Credit Facility). In addition, the Company has the 

option to request an increase in commitments under the 

Credit Facility by up to $300 million, subject to certain 

restrictions.

The Credit Facility requires Availability (as defined in the 

Credit Facility) to be greater than the greater of (i) 10% of 

the Loan Cap (as defined in the Credit Facility) and (ii) $50 

million. In addition, the Credit Facility contains covenants 

that limit, among other things, the Company’s ability to 

incur indebtedness, create liens, make investments, make 

restricted payments, merge or acquire assets, and contains 

default provisions that are typical for this type of financing, 

among other things. Proceeds from the Credit Facility are 

used for general corporate purposes, including seasonal 

working capital needs.
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Selected information related to the Company’s credit facili-

ties (in thousands):

Fiscal 2014 Fiscal 2013 Fiscal 2012

Credit facility at period end $           —  77,000  324,200

Average balance outstanding 
during the period $   48,254  214,702 306,038

Maximum borrowings 
outstanding during the period $ 180,300  462,900  582,000

Weighted average interest 
rate during the perioda 15.65% 5.56% 4.71%

Interest rate at end of period  0.00% 4.93% 3.32%

a Includes commitment fees.

Fees expensed with respect to the unused portion of the 

credit facilities were $4.4 million, $3.8 million and $3.3 

million during fiscal 2014, fiscal 2013 and fiscal 2012, 

respectively.

The Company had $36.8 million of outstanding letters of 

credit under the 2013 Amended Credit Facility as of May 3, 

2014 compared with $33.9 million as of April 27, 2013.

The Company has no agreements to maintain compensat-

ing balances.

Capital Investment

The Company’s investing activities consist principally of 

capital expenditures for the maintenance of existing stores, 

new store construction, digital initiatives and enhance-

ments to systems and the website. The Company plans 

to launch its new eCommerce website this year. The new 

website is expected to enhance its search capabilities, 

enable faster shipping and yield cost savings. The Company 

believes that the new website will allow it to be more com-

petitive in the marketplace and continue to be a valuable 

resource for its customers, whether they would like their 

purchased products shipped to their homes or made avail-

able for pick up in the stores. Capital expenditures totaled 

$135.0 million, $165.8 million and $163.6 million during 

fiscal 2014, fiscal 2013 and fiscal 2012, respectively. Fiscal 

2015 capital expenditure levels are expected to be compa-

rable to fiscal 2014, although commitment to many such 

expenditures has not yet been made. Capital expenditures 

planned for fiscal 2015 primarily include maintenance of 

existing stores, enhancements to systems and the website, 

new college stores and digital initiatives.

Based upon the Company’s current operating levels and 

capital expenditures for fiscal 2015, management believes 

cash and cash equivalents on hand, funds available under 

its credit facility, cash received and committed to NOOK 

Media and short-term vendor financing will be sufficient 

to meet the Company’s normal working capital and debt 

service requirements for at least the next twelve months. 

The Company regularly evaluates its capital structure and 

conditions in the financing markets to ensure it maintains 

adequate flexibility to successfully execute its business 

plan.

On May 15, 2007, the Company announced that its Board 

of Directors authorized a stock repurchase program for the 

purchase of up to $400.0 million of the Company’s com-

mon stock. The maximum dollar value of common stock 

that may yet be purchased under the current program is 

approximately $2.5 million as of May 3, 2014.

Stock repurchases under this program may be made 

through open market and privately negotiated transactions 

from time to time and in such amounts as management 

deems appropriate. As of May 3, 2014, the Company has 

repurchased 34,363,899 shares at a cost of approximately 

$1.1 billion under its stock repurchase programs. The 

repurchased shares are held in treasury.
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Contractual Obligations

The following table sets forth the Company’s contractual obligations as of May 3, 2014 (in millions):

Contractual Obligations Payments Due by Period

Total Less Than 1 Year 1-3 Years 3-5 Years
More Than 5 

Years

Capital lease obligations $        0.5 $     0.2 $     0.3 $      — $     —

Operating lease obligationsa 1,940.6 421.0 703.5 451.5 364.6

Purchase obligationsb 278.5 205.3 73.0 0.3 —

Interest obligationsc 15.4 10.4 5.0 — —

Junior Seller Note (Note 5 and 19) 127.3 127.3 — — —

Other long-term liabilities reflected on the 
Company’s balance sheet under GAAPd — — — — —

Total  $ 2,362.3 $ 764.2 $ 781.8 $ 451.8 $ 364.6

a Excludes obligations under store leases for insurance, taxes and other maintenance costs, which obligations totaled approximately 17% of the  
minimum rent payments under those leases.

b Includes hardware and software maintenance contracts and inventory purchase commitments.

c Represents commitment fees related to the Company’s Credit Facility and interest obligations on the Seller Notes issued in connection with the 
Acquisition.

d Excludes $19.2 million of unrecognized tax benefits for which the Company cannot make a reasonably reliable estimate of the amount and period of 
payment. See Note 9 to the Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements.

See also Note 8 to the Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements for information concerning the Company’s Pension and 

Postretirement Plans.

Off-Balance Sheet Arrangements

As of May 3, 2014, the Company had no off-balance sheet 

arrangements as defined in Item 303 of Regulation S-K.

Impact of Inflation

The Company does not believe that inflation has had a 

material effect on its net sales or results of operations.

CERTAIN RELATIONSHIPS AND RELATED 
TRANSACTIONS

See Note 19 to the Notes to Consolidated Financial 

Statements.

CRITICAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES

The “Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial 

Condition and Results of Operations” section of this 

report discusses the Company’s consolidated financial 

statements, which have been prepared in accordance with 

accounting principles generally accepted in the United 

States. The preparation of these financial statements 

requires management to make estimates and assumptions 

in certain circumstances that affect amounts reported in 

the accompanying consolidated financial statements and 

related footnotes. In preparing these financial statements, 

management has made its best estimates and judgments 

with respect to certain amounts included in the financial 

statements, giving due consideration to materiality. The 

Company does not believe there is a great likelihood that 

materially different amounts would be reported related to 

the accounting policies described below. However, applica-

tion of these accounting policies involves the exercise of 

judgment and use of assumptions as to future uncertain-

ties and, as a result, actual results could differ from these 

estimates.

Revenue Recognition

Revenue from sales of the Company’s products is recog-

nized at the time of sale or shipment, other than those with 

multiple elements and FOB destination point shipping 

terms. Certain of the Company sales agreements with 

its distribution partners contain rights of inspection or 

acceptance provisions as is standard in the Company’s 

industry. The Company accrues for estimated sales returns 

in the period in which the related revenue is recognized 

based on historical experience and industry standards. 
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ECommerce revenue from sales of products ordered 

through the Company’s websites is recognized upon 

delivery and receipt of the shipment by its customers. 

Sales taxes collected from retail customers are excluded 

from reported revenues. All of the Company’s sales are 

recognized as revenue on a “net” basis, including sales 

in connection with any periodic promotions offered to 

customers. The Company does not treat any promotional 

offers as expenses.

In accordance with Accounting Standards Codification 

(ASC) 605-25, Revenue Recognition, Multiple Element 

Arrangements and Accounting Standards Updates (ASU) 

2009-13 and 2009-14, for multiple-element arrange-

ments that involve tangible products that contain software 

that is essential to the tangible product’s functionality, 

undelivered software elements that relate to the tangible 

product’s essential software and other separable elements, 

the Company allocates revenue to all deliverables using the 

relative selling-price method. Under this method, revenue 

is allocated at the time of sale to all deliverables based on 

their relative selling price using a specific hierarchy. The 

hierarchy is as follows: vendor-specific objective evidence, 

third-party evidence of selling price, or best estimate of 

selling price. NOOK® device revenue is recognized at the 

segment point of sale.

The Company includes post-service customer sup-

port (PCS) in the form of software updates and potential 

increased functionality on a when-and-if-available basis, 

as well as wireless access and wireless connectivity with the 

purchase of a NOOK® from the Company. Using the rela-

tive selling price described above, the Company allocates 

revenue based on the best estimate of selling price for 

the deliverables as no vendor-specific objective evidence 

or third-party evidence exists for any of the elements. 

Revenue allocated to NOOK® and the software essential to 

its functionality is recognized at the time of sale, provided 

all other conditions for revenue recognition are met. 

Revenue allocated to the PCS and the wireless access is 

deferred and recognized on a straight-line basis over the 

2-year estimated life of a NOOK®.

The average percentage of a NOOK®’s sales price that is 

deferred for undelivered items and recognized over its 

2-year estimated life ranges between 2% and 7%, depend-

ing on the type of device sold. The amount of NOOK®-

related deferred revenue as of May 3, 2014 and April 27, 

2013 was $9.9 million and $15.3 million, respectively. 

These amounts are classified on the Company’s balance 

sheet in accrued liabilities for the portion that is subject to 

deferral for one year or less and other long-term liabilities 

for the portion that is subject to deferral for more than one 

year.

The Company also pays certain vendors who distribute 

NOOK® a commission on the content sales sold through 

that device. The Company accounts for these transactions 

as a reduction in the sales price of the NOOK® based on 

historical trends of content sales and a liability is estab-

lished for the estimated commission expected to be paid 

over the life of the product. The Company recognizes 

revenue of the content at the point of sale of the content. 

The Company records revenue from sales of digital content, 

sales of third-party extended warranties, service contracts 

and other products, for which the Company is not obligated 

to perform, and for which the Company does not meet the 

criteria for gross revenue recognition under ASC 605-45-

45, Reporting Revenue Gross as a Principal versus Net as an 

Agent, on a net basis. All other revenue is recognized on a 

gross basis.

The Company rents both physical and digital textbooks. 

Revenue from the rental of physical textbooks is deferred 

and recognized over the rental period commencing at 

point of sale. Revenue for the rental of digital textbooks is 

deferred and recognized over the rental period commenc-

ing when the textbook has been downloaded. Over time, 

certain digital textbook rentals are not downloaded. The 

Company estimates that the likelihood of a download of 

textbooks that have not been downloaded after one year 

since the point of sale is remote. The Company records this 

amount in income on the month following the one-year 

anniversary of the point of sale.

NOOK acquires the rights to distribute digital content from 

publishers and distributes the content on barnesandnoble.

com, NOOK® devices and other eBookstore platforms. 

Certain digital content is distributed under an agency pric-

ing model in which the publishers set prices for eBooks and 

NOOK receives a commission on content sold through the 

eBookstore. The majority of the Company’s eBook sales are 

sold under the agency model.

The Barnes & Noble Member Program offers members 

greater discounts and other benefits for products and ser-

vices, as well as exclusive offers and promotions via e-mail 

or direct mail generally for an annual fee of $25.00, which 

is non-refundable after the first 30 days. Revenue is recog-

nized over the twelve-month period based upon historical 

spending patterns for Barnes & Noble Members.
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Merchandise Inventories

Merchandise inventories, which primarily consist of fin-

ished goods, are stated at the lower of cost or market. Cost 

is determined primarily by the retail inventory method 

under both the first-in, first-out (FIFO) basis and the last-

in, first-out (LIFO) basis. B&N College’s textbook and trade 

book inventories are valued using the LIFO method, where 

the related reserve was not material to the recorded amount 

of the Company’s inventories at May 3, 2014. The Company 

recorded a favorable LIFO adjustment through cost of 

goods sold of $7.7 million and an unfavorable adjustment of 

($2.2) million in fiscal 2014 and 2013, respectively. NOOK 

merchandise inventories are recorded based on the average 

cost method.

Market is determined based on the estimated net realiz-

able value, which is generally the selling price. Reserves 

for non-returnable inventory are based on the Company’s 

history of liquidating non-returnable inventory. The 

Company does not believe there is a reasonable likelihood 

that there will be a material change in the future estimates 

or assumptions used to calculate the non-returnable 

inventory reserve. However, if assumptions based on the 

Company’s history of liquidating non-returnable inventory 

are incorrect, it may be exposed to losses or gains that could 

be material. A 10% change in actual non-returnable inven-

tory would have affected pre-tax earnings by approximately 

$9.1 million in fiscal 2014.

The Company also estimates and accrues shortage for the 

period between the last physical count of inventory and 

the balance sheet date. Shortage rates are estimated and 

accrued based on historical rates and can be affected by 

changes in merchandise mix and changes in actual shortage 

trends. The Company does not believe there is a reasonable 

likelihood that there will be a material change in the future 

estimates or assumptions used to calculate shortage rates. 

However, if the Company’s estimates regarding shortage 

rates are incorrect, it may be exposed to losses or gains that 

could be material. A 10 basis point change in actual short-

age rates would have affected pre-tax earnings by approxi-

mately $(3.3) million in fiscal 2014.

Research and Development Costs for Software Products

The Company follows the guidance in ASC 985-20, Cost of 

Software to be Sold, Leased or Marketed, regarding software 

development costs to be sold, leased, or otherwise mar-

keted. Capitalization of software development costs begins 

upon the establishment of technological feasibility and 

is discontinued when the product is available for sale. A 

certain amount of judgment and estimation is required to 

assess when technological feasibility is established, as well 

as the ongoing assessment of the recoverability of capital-

ized costs. The Company’s products reach technological 

feasibility shortly before the products are released and 

therefore research and development costs are generally 

expensed as incurred.

Stock-Based Compensation

The calculation of stock-based employee compensation 

expense involves estimates that require management’s 

judgment. These estimates include the fair value of each of 

the stock option awards granted, which is estimated on the 

date of grant using a Black-Scholes option pricing model. 

There are two significant inputs into the Black-Scholes 

option pricing model: expected volatility and expected 

term. The Company estimates expected volatility based 

on traded option volatility of the Company’s stock over a 

term equal to the expected term of the option granted. The 

expected term of stock option awards granted is derived 

from historical exercise experience under the Company’s 

stock option plans and represents the period of time that 

stock option awards granted are expected to be outstand-

ing. The assumptions used in calculating the fair value of 

stock-based payment awards represent management’s best 

estimates, but these estimates involve inherent uncertain-

ties and the application of management’s judgment. As a 

result, if factors change and the Company uses different 

assumptions, stock-based compensation expense could be 

materially different in the future. In addition, the Company 

is required to estimate the expected forfeiture rate, and 

only recognize expense for those shares expected to vest. If 

the Company’s actual forfeiture rate is materially different 

from its estimate, the stock-based compensation expense 

could be significantly different from what the Company 

has recorded in the current period. See Note 3 to the 

Consolidated Financial Statements for a further discussion 

on stock-based compensation.

The Company does not believe there is a reasonable 

likelihood there will be a material change in the future 

estimates or assumptions used to determine stock-based 

compensation expense. However, if actual results are not 

consistent with the Company’s estimates or assumptions, 

the Company may be exposed to changes in stock-based 

compensation expense that could be material. If actual 

results are not consistent with the assumptions used, the 

stock-based compensation expense reported in the 
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Company’s financial statements may not be representative 

of the actual economic cost of the stock-based compensa-

tion. A 10% change in the Company’s stock-based compen-

sation expense for the year ended May 3, 2014 would have 

affected pre-tax earnings by approximately $1.2 million in 

fiscal 2014.

Other Long-Lived Assets

The Company’s other long-lived assets include property 

and equipment and amortizable intangibles. At May 3, 

2014, the Company had $490.7 million of property and 

equipment, net of accumulated depreciation, and $215.4 

million of amortizable intangible assets, net of amortiza-

tion, accounting for approximately 20.0% of the Company’s 

total assets. The Company reviews its long-lived assets 

for impairment whenever events or changes in circum-

stances indicate that the carrying amount of an asset may 

not be recoverable and considers market participants in 

accordance with ASC 360-10, Accounting for the Impairment 

or Disposal of Long-Lived Assets. The Company evaluates 

long-lived assets for impairment at the individual Barnes & 

Noble store level, except for B&N College long-lived assets, 

which are evaluated for impairment at the school contract 

combined store level, which is the lowest level at which 

individual cash flows can be identified. When evaluating 

long-lived assets for potential impairment, the Company 

will first compare the carrying amount of the assets to the 

individual store’s estimated future undiscounted cash 

flows. If the estimated future cash flows are less than the 

carrying amount of the assets, an impairment loss calcula-

tion is prepared. The impairment loss calculation com-

pares the carrying amount of the assets to the individual 

store’s fair value based on its estimated discounted future 

cash flows. If required, an impairment loss is recorded for 

that portion of the asset’s carrying value in excess of fair 

value. Impairment losses included in selling and admin-

istrative expenses totaled $32.4 million, $4.2 million and 

$11.7 million during fiscal 2014, fiscal 2013 and fiscal 2012, 

respectively. Of the $32.4 million recorded in fiscal 2014, 

$28.4 million relate to an asset impairment charge related 

to the relocation of the Company’s Palo Alto, California 

facility. The Company does not believe there is a reason-

able likelihood that there will be a material change in the 

estimates or assumptions used to calculate long-lived asset 

impairment losses. However, if actual results are not con-

sistent with estimates and assumptions used in estimating 

future cash flows and asset fair values, the Company may be 

exposed to losses that could be material. A 10% decrease in 

the Company’s estimated discounted cash flows would have 

resulted in an additional $0.1 million impairment charge 

on the Company’s results of operations in fiscal 2014.

Goodwill and Unamortizable Intangible Assets

The costs in excess of net assets of businesses acquired 

are carried as goodwill in the accompanying consolidated 

balance sheets.

At May 3, 2014, the Company had $493.2 million of 

goodwill and $313.1 million of unamortizable intangible 

assets (those with an indefinite useful life), accounting 

for approximately 22.8% of the Company’s total assets. 

ASC 350-30, Goodwill and Other Intangible Assets (ASC 

350-30), requires that goodwill and other unamortizable 

intangible assets no longer be amortized, but instead be 

tested for impairment at least annually or earlier if there 

are impairment indicators. The Company performs a 

two-step process for impairment testing of goodwill as 

required by ASC 350-30. The first step of this test, used to 

identify potential impairment, compares the fair value of 

a reporting unit with its carrying amount. The second step 

(if necessary) measures the amount of the impairment. 

The Company completed its annual goodwill impairment 

test as of the first day of the third quarter of fiscal 2014. In 

performing the valuations, the Company used cash flows 

that reflected management’s forecasts and discount rates 

that included risk adjustments consistent with the current 

market conditions. Based on the results of the Company’s 

step one testing, the fair values of the B&N Retail, B&N 

College and NOOK reporting units, as of that date, exceeded 

their carrying values; therefore, the second step of the 

impairment test was not required to be performed and no 

goodwill impairment was recognized. Goodwill is subject to 

further risk of impairment if B&N Retail comparable store 

sales decline at a faster rate than anticipated, store clos-

ings accelerate or College Digital projections fall short of 

expectations.

The Company tests unamortizable intangible assets by 

comparing the fair value and the carrying value of such 

assets. The Company also completed its annual impair-

ment tests for its other unamortizable intangible assets by 

comparing the estimated fair value to the carrying value 

of such assets. Impairment losses included in selling and 

administrative expenses totaled $1.6 million, $0 and $0 

during fiscal 2014, fiscal 2013 and fiscal 2012, respectively. 

Changes in market conditions, among other factors, could 

have a material impact on these estimates.
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The $1.6 million of impairments in fiscal 2014 relate to 

a certain publishing contract. The publishing contracts 

include the value of long-standing relationships with 

authors, agents and publishers established upon the 

Company’s acquisition of Sterling in 2003. Given Sterling’s 

strong history of maintaining such relationships, the 

Company believes they produce value indefinitely without 

an identifiable remaining useful life. However, given the 

continued declines in the physical book business, certain 

of these contracts were impaired as of its most recent 

impairment testing date.

A 10% decrease in the Company’s estimated discounted 

cash flows would have no impact on the Company’s evalu-

ation of goodwill and unamortizable intangible assets, 

except for the Company’s publishing contracts. A 10% 

decrease in the Company’s publishing contracts would have 

resulted in an additional $3.7 million impairment charge 

on the Company’s results of operations in fiscal 2014.

During the fourth quarter of 2013, the Company deter-

mined that goodwill impairment indicators arose in its 

NOOK reporting unit as recurring losses led to revisions 

in its strategic plans. As a result, during the fourth quarter 

of fiscal 2013, the Company recorded a non-cash goodwill 

impairment charge of $18.3 million in selling and adminis-

trative expenses, which represented all the goodwill in the 

NOOK reporting unit.

In fiscal 2013, the Company also decided to shut down 

the operations of Tikatok. Tikatok was an online platform 

where parents and their children and others can write, 

illustrate and publish stories into hardcover and paperback 

books. This decision resulted in an impairment charge of 

$2.0 million, including the write-off of goodwill of $1.9 

million and intangible assets of $0.03 million during the 

second quarter of fiscal 2013. The effect of Tikatok opera-

tions is not material to the overall results of the Company.

Gift Cards

The Company sells gift cards, which can be used in its 

stores, on barnesandnoble.com and NOOK devices. The 

Company does not charge administrative or dormancy fees 

on gift cards and gift cards have no expiration dates. Upon 

the purchase of a gift card, a liability is established for its 

cash value. Revenue associated with gift cards is deferred 

until redemption of the gift card. Over time, a portion of 

the gift cards issued is typically not redeemed. 

The Company estimates the portion of the gift card liability 

for which the likelihood of redemption is remote based 

upon the Company’s historical redemption patterns. The 

Company records this amount in income on a straight-line 

basis over a 12-month period beginning in the 13th month 

after the month the gift card was originally sold. If actual 

redemption patterns vary from the Company’s estimates, 

actual gift card breakage may differ from the amounts 

recorded. The Company recognized gift card breakage 

of $23.2 million, $23.9 million and $29.3 million dur-

ing fiscal 2014, fiscal 2013 and fiscal 2012, respectively. 

The Company had gift card liabilities of $356.7 million 

and $341.0 million as of May 3, 2014 and April 27, 2013, 

respectively. The Company does not believe there is a 

reasonable likelihood that there will be a material change 

in the estimates or assumptions used to recognize revenue 

associated with gift cards. However, additional breakage 

may be required if gift card redemptions continue to run 

lower than historical patterns. If estimates regarding the 

Company’s history of gift card breakage are incorrect, it 

may be exposed to losses or gains that could be material. A 

25 basis point change in the Company’s gift card breakage 

rate at May 3, 2014 would have affected pre-tax earnings by 

approximately $10.2 million in fiscal 2014.

Income Taxes

Judgment is required in determining the provision for 

income taxes and related accruals, deferred tax assets 

and liabilities. In the ordinary course of business, tax 

issues may arise where the ultimate outcome is uncertain. 

Additionally, the Company’s tax returns are subject to 

audit by various tax authorities. Consequently, changes in 

the Company’s estimates for contingent tax liabilities may 

materially impact the Company’s results of operations or 

financial position. A 1% variance in the Company’s effec-

tive tax rate would have affected the Company’s results of 

operations in fiscal 2014 by $0.05 million.
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DISCLOSURE REGARDING FORWARD-LOOKING 
STATEMENTS

This report contains certain forward-looking statements 

(within the meaning of Section 27A of the Securities Act 

of 1933, as amended, and Section 21E of the Securities 

Exchange Act of 1934, as amended) and information 

relating to Barnes & Noble that are based on the beliefs 

of the management of Barnes & Noble as well as assump-

tions made by and information currently available to the 

management of Barnes & Noble. When used in this com-

munication, the words “anticipate,” “believe,” “estimate,” 

“expect,” “intend,” “plan,” “will,” “forecasts,” “projections,” 

and similar expressions, as they relate to Barnes & Noble 

or the management of Barnes & Noble, identify forward-

looking statements.

Such statements reflect the current views of Barnes & Noble 

with respect to future events, the outcome of which is sub-

ject to certain risks, including, among others, the general 

economic environment and consumer spending patterns, 

decreased consumer demand for Barnes & Noble’s prod-

ucts, low growth or declining sales and net income due to 

various factors, possible disruptions in Barnes & Noble’s 

computer systems, telephone systems or supply chain, 

possible risks associated with data privacy, information 

security and intellectual property, possible work stoppages 

or increases in labor costs, possible increases in ship-

ping rates or interruptions in shipping service, effects of 

competition, possible risks that inventory in channels of 

distribution may be larger than able to be sold, possible 

risks associated with changes in the strategic direction of 

the device business, including possible reduction in sales 

of content, accessories and other merchandise and other 

adverse financial impacts, possible risk that component 

parts will be rendered obsolete or otherwise not be able to 

be effectively utilized in devices to be sold, possible risk 

that financial and operational forecasts and projections are 

not achieved, possible risk that returns from consumers 

or channels of distribution may be greater than estimated, 

the risk that digital sales growth is less than expectations 

and the risk that it does not exceed the rate of investment 

spend, higher-than-anticipated store closing or relocation 

costs, higher interest rates, the performance of Barnes & 

Noble’s online, digital and other initiatives, the success 

of Barnes & Noble’s strategic investments, unanticipated 

increases in merchandise, component or occupancy costs, 

unanticipated adverse litigation results or effects, product 

and component shortages, the potential adverse impact on 

the Company’s businesses resulting from the Company’s 

prior reviews of strategic alternatives and the potential 

separation of the Company’s businesses, the risk that the 

transactions with Microsoft and Pearson do not achieve 

the expected benefits for the parties or impose costs on 

the Company in excess of what the Company anticipates, 

including the risk that NOOK Media’s applications are not 

commercially successful or that the expected distribution 

of those applications is not achieved, the risks associated 

with the international expansion contemplated by the 

relationship with Microsoft, including that it is not suc-

cessful or is delayed, the risk that NOOK Media is not able 

to perform its obligations under the Microsoft and Pearson 

commercial agreements and the consequences thereof, 

possible delays in the launch of our higher education digital 

products, the risk that Barnes & Noble College Booksellers, 

LLC does not continue to grow, including the risk that its 

growth rate declines, the risks associated with the SEC 

investigation and associated risks and other factors which 

may be outside of Barnes & Noble’s control, including those 

factors discussed in detail in Item 1A, “Risk Factors,” and 

in Barnes & Noble’s other filings made hereafter from time 

to time with the SEC.

Should one or more of these risks or uncertainties mate-

rialize, or should underlying assumptions prove incorrect, 

actual results or outcomes may vary materially from those 

described as anticipated, believed, estimated, expected, 

intended or planned. Subsequent written and oral forward-

looking statements attributable to Barnes & Noble or 

persons acting on its behalf are expressly qualified in their 

entirety by the cautionary statements in this paragraph. 

Barnes & Noble undertakes no obligation to publicly update 

or revise any forward-looking statements, whether as a 

result of new information, future events or otherwise after 

the date of this Annual Report.
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF OPERATIONS

(In thousands, except per share data) Fiscal 2014 Fiscal 2013 Fiscal 2012

Sales $ 6,381,357  6,839,005  7,129,199

Cost of sales and occupancy 4,523,422 5,156,499 5,211,683

Gross profit 1,857,935 1,682,506 1,917,516

Selling and administrative expenses 1,606,936 1,675,376 1,739,452

Depreciation and amortization 216,807 227,134 232,667

Operating income (loss) 34,192 (220,004) (54,603)

Interest expense, net and amortization of deferred financing fees (29,507) (35,345) (35,304)

Income (loss) before income taxes 4,685 (255,349) (89,907)

Income taxes (benefit) 51,953 (97,543) (25,067)

Net loss $    (47,268) (157,806) (64,840)

Income (loss) per common share

Basic $        (1.12)  (3.02)  (1.34)

Diluted $        (1.12)  (3.02)  (1.34)

Weighted average common shares outstanding

Basic 58,971 58,247 57,337

Diluted 58,971 58,247 57,337

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF COMPREHENSIVE INCOME (LOSS)

(In thousands) Fiscal 2014 Fiscal 2013 Fiscal 2012

Net loss $    (47,268)  (157,806)  (64,840)

Other comprehensive earnings (loss), net of tax:

(Increase) decrease in minimum pension liability  
(net of deferred tax benefit (expense) of $(3,001), $38 and  
$3,336, respectively) 4,919 (57) (5,005)

Total comprehensive loss $    (42,349)  (157,863)  (69,845)

See accompanying notes to consolidated financial statements.
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CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEETS

(In thousands, except per share data) May 3, 2014 April 27, 2013

ASSETS

Current assets:

Cash and cash equivalents $   340,171 $   160,470
Receivables, net 143,981 149,369
Merchandise inventories, net 1,234,635 1,410,769
Prepaid expenses and other current assets 116,921 116,634
Short-term deferred tax assets 144,730 209,893

Total current assets  1,980,438  2,047,135

Property and equipment:

Land and land improvements 2,541 2,541

Buildings and leasehold improvements 1,224,083 1,224,384

Fixtures and equipment 1,938,555 1,883,504

3,165,179 3,110,429

Less accumulated depreciation and amortization 2,674,466 2,525,520

Net property and equipment 490,713 584,909

Goodwill 493,189 495,496

Intangible assets, net 528,576 547,931

Other noncurrent assets  44,533  57,065

Total assets $ 3,537,449 $ 3,732,536

LIABILITIES AND SHAREHOLDERS’ EQUITY

Current liabilities:

Accounts payable  $ 735,112  $ 805,194
Accrued liabilities 502,583 569,240
Gift card liabilities 356,700 341,036
Short-term note payable 127,250 —

Total current liabilities 1,721,645 1,715,470

Long-term debt — 77,000

Long-term deferred taxes 211,925 231,215

Other long-term liabilities 366,989 419,946

Redeemable Preferred Shares; $.001 par value; 5,000 shares authorized; 204 and 204 shares 
issued, respectively 194,797 193,535

Preferred Membership Interests in NOOK Media, LLC 383,397 381,627

Shareholders’ equity:

Common stock; $.001 par value; 300,000 shares authorized; 93,540 and 92,784 shares issued, 
respectively 94 93
Additional paid-in capital 1,395,463 1,383,848
Accumulated other comprehensive loss (11,773) (16,692)
Retained earnings 344,021 410,349

Treasury stock, at cost, 34,364 and 34,078 shares, respectively (1,069,109) (1,063,855)
Total shareholders’ equity 658,696 713,743

Commitments and contingencies — —

Total liabilities and shareholders’ equity $ 3,537,449 $ 3,732,536

See accompanying notes to consolidated financial statements.
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CHANGES IN SHAREHOLDERS’  EQUITY

Barnes & Noble, Inc. Shareholders’ Equity

(In thousands)
COMMON 

STOCK

ADDITIONAL 
PAID—IN 

CAPITAL

ACCUMLATED OTHER 
COMPREHENSIVE GAINS 

(LOSSES)
RETAINED 

EARNINGS

TREASURY  
STOCK  

AT COST TOTAL

Balance at April 30, 2011 $ 90 1,323,263 (11,630) 662,966 (1,054,192) $ 920,497

Net loss — — —  (64,840) — (64,840)

Minimum pension liability, net of tax — — (5,005) — — (5,005)

Exercise of 92 common stock options 1 1,096 — — — 1,097

Stock options and restricted stock tax 
benefits — (4,225) — — — (4,225)

Stock—based compensation expense — 20,775 — — — 20,775

Accretive dividend on
 preferred stockholders — — — (894) — (894)

Accrued/paid dividends for preferred 
stockholders — — — (11,044) — (11,044)

Treasury stock acquired, 313 shares — — — — (4,090) (4,090)

Balance at April 28, 2012 $ 91 1,340,909 (16,635) 586,188 (1,058,282)  $ 852,271

Net loss — — — (157,806) — (157,806)

Minimum pension liability, net of tax — — (57) — — (57)

Reduction of junior note — 24,292 — — — 24,292

Deferred tax adjustment — 1,270 — — — 1,270

Exercise of 279 common stock options 2 3,398 — — — 3,400

Stock options and restricted
 stock tax benefits — (6,208) — — — (6,208)

Stock—based compensation
 expense — 20,187 — — — 20,187

Accretive dividend on
 preferred stockholders — — — (2,266) — (2,266)

Accrued/paid dividends for preferred  
stockholders — — — (15,767) — (15,767)

Treasury stock acquired, 356 shares — — — — (5,573) (5,573)

Balance at April 27, 2013 $ 93  1,383,848  (16,692) 410,349  (1,063,855) $ 713,743

See accompanying notes to consolidated financial statements.
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CHANGES IN SHAREHOLDERS’  EQUITY (CONTINUED)

See accompanying notes to consolidated financial statements.

Barnes & Noble, Inc. Shareholders’ Equity

(In thousands)
COMMON 

STOCK

ADDITIONAL 
PAID—IN 

CAPITAL

ACCUMLATED OTHER 
COMPREHENSIVE GAINS 

(LOSSES)
RETAINED 

EARNINGS

TREASURY  
STOCK  

AT COST TOTAL

Balance at April 27, 2013 $ 93  1,383,848  (16,692) 410,349  (1,063,855) $ 713,743

Net loss — — — (47,268) — (47,268)

Minimum pension liability, net of tax — — 4,919 — — 4,919

Exercise of 66 common stock options 1 1,031 — — — 1,032

Stock options and restricted  stock tax 
benefits — (1,587) — — — (1,587)

Stock—based compensation  expense — 12,171 — — — 12,171

Accretive dividend on preferred 
stockholders — — — (3,032) — (3,032)

Accrued/paid dividends for preferred 
stockholders — — — (16,028) — (16,028)

Treasury stock acquired, 286 shares — — — — (5,254) (5,254)

Balance at May 3, 2014 $ 94 1,395,463 (11,773) 344,021 (1,069,109) $ 658,696
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS

FISCAL YEAR (In thousands) Fiscal 2014 Fiscal 2013 Fiscal 2012

CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES:

Net loss $  (47,268)  (157,806)  (64,840)

Adjustments to reconcile net loss to net cash flows from operating 
activities:

Depreciation and amortization (including amortization of deferred financing 
fees) 222,764 232,604 238,048

Stock-based compensation expense 12,171 20,187 20,775

Non-cash impairment charges 32,390 24,473 11,747

Deferred taxes 43,225 (118,893) (37,570)

(Gain) loss on disposal of property and equipment (572) (750) 2,590

Increase (decrease) in other long-term liabilities (10,382) 24,985 (30,072)

Changes in operating assets and liabilities, net 67,628 92,591 (164,790)

Net cash flows provided by (used in) operating activities 319,956 117,391 (24,112)

CASH FLOWS FROM INVESTING ACTIVITIES:

Purchases of property and equipment (134,981) (165,835) (163,552)

Net (increase) decrease in other noncurrent assets 6,482 (5,745) (13,326)

Other investing activities, net — (4,100) —

Proceeds from sale of distribution center — — 18,000

Purchase of Borders Group, Inc. intellectual property — — (14,528)

Net cash flows used in investing activities (128,499) (175,680) (173,406)

CASH FLOWS FROM FINANCING ACTIVITIES:

Net proceeds from issuance of Preferred Membership interests — 380,623 —

Net proceeds from Microsoft Commercial Agreement financing arrangement 84,675 48,706 —

Proceeds from credit facility 734,000 1,639,600 1,912,894

Payments on credit facility (811,000) (1,886,800) (1,901,794)

Proceeds from exercise of common stock options 1,031 3,400 1,097

Purchase of treasury stock (5,254) (5,573) (4,090)

Excess tax benefit from stock-based compensation 560 439 193

Cash dividends paid to shareholders (15,768) (15,767) (7,081)

Net proceeds from issuance of Series J preferred stock — — 191,379

Payment of new deferred financing fees — — (378)

Net cash flows provided by (used in) financing activities (11,756) 164,628 192,220

Net increase (decrease) in cash and cash equivalents 179,701 106,339  (5,298)

Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of year 160,470 54,131 59,429

Cash and cash equivalents at end of year $ 340,171  160,470  54,131

See accompanying notes to consolidated financial statements.
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS (CONTINUED)

FISCAL YEAR (In thousands) Fiscal 2014 Fiscal 2013 Fiscal 2012

CHANGES IN OPERATING ASSETS AND LIABILITIES, NET:

Receivables, net $     5,388  20,578  (19,653)

Merchandise inventories  176,134 151,072 (186,479)

Prepaid expenses and other current assets (287) (7,085) (23,748)

Accounts payable and accrued liabilities (113,607) (71,974) 65,090

Changes in operating assets and liabilities, net $    67,628  92,591  (164,790)

SUPPLEMENTAL CASH FLOW INFORMATION:

Cash paid during the period for:

Interest paid $   20,115  24,925  28,298

Income taxes (net of refunds) $     3,471  3,822  1,613

NON-CASH FINANCING ACTIVITY:

Accrued dividend on redeemable preferred shares $     4,202  3,942  3,963

See accompanying notes to consolidated financial statements.
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(Thousands of dollars, except per share data)

For the 53 weeks ended May 3, 2014 (fiscal 2014), 52 weeks 

ended April 27, 2013 (fiscal 2013) and 52 weeks ended April 

28, 2012 (fiscal 2012).

1 .  SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING 
POLICIES

Business

Barnes & Noble, one of the nation’s largest booksellers,3 

is a leading content, commerce and technology company 

providing customers easy and convenient access to trade 

books, textbooks, magazines, newspapers and other con-

tent across its multi-channel distribution platform. As of 

May 3, 2014, the Company operated 1,361 bookstores in 50 

states, including 700 bookstores on college campuses, one 

of the Web’s largest eCommerce sites and develops digital 

reading products and operates one of the largest digital 

bookstores. Given the dynamic nature of the book indus-

try, the challenges faced by traditional booksellers, and 

the robust innovation pipeline fueling new opportunities 

in hardware, software and content creation and delivery, 

Barnes & Noble is utilizing the strength of its retail foot-

print to bolster its leadership in selling content to drive 

sales across its multiple channels.

Of the 1,361 bookstores, Barnes & Noble Retail (B&N 

Retail) operates 661 retail bookstores, primarily under the 

Barnes & Noble Booksellers® trade name, and includes 

the Company’s eCommerce site. Barnes & Noble College 

Booksellers, LLC (B&N College) operates 700 college 

bookstores at colleges and universities across the United 

States, of which 155 stores are co-branded with the uni-

versities’ name and Barnes & Noble name. B&N Retail also 

includes Sterling Publishing Co., Inc. (Sterling or Sterling 

Publishing), a leader in general trade book publishing. The 

NOOK segment represents the Company’s digital business, 

offering digital books and magazines for sale and consump-

tion through the web, NOOK®4 reading devices and reading 

software for iOS, Android and Windows 8.

The Company’s principal business is the sale of trade books 

(generally hardcover and paperback consumer titles), mass 

market paperbacks (such as mystery, romance, science 

fiction and other popular fiction), children’s books, eBooks 

and other digital content, textbooks and course-related 

materials, NOOK® and related accessories, bargain books, 

magazines, gifts, emblematic apparel and gifts, school and 

dorm supplies, café products and services, educational toys 

& games, music and movies direct to customers through 

its bookstores or on barnesandnoble.com. The Company 

also offers a textbook rental option to its customers, as well 

as digital textbooks and other course materials through a 

proprietary digital platform (Yuzu™). The Company offers 

its customers a full suite of textbook options—new, used, 

digital and rental.

The Company identifies its operating segments based on 

the way the business is managed (focusing on the financial 

information distributed) and the manner in which the chief 

operating decision maker interacts with other members of 

management. The Company has three operating segments: 

B&N Retail, B&N College and NOOK.

Consolidation

The consolidated financial statements include the accounts 

of Barnes & Noble, Inc. and its wholly and majority-owned 

subsidiaries. All significant intercompany accounts and 

transactions have been eliminated in consolidation.

Use of Estimates

In preparing financial statements in conformity with 

generally accepted accounting principles, the Company is 

required to make estimates and assumptions that affect the 

reported amounts of assets and liabilities and the disclo-

sure of contingent assets and liabilities at the date of the 

financial statements and revenues and expenses during 

the reporting period. Actual results could differ from those 

estimates.

Cash and Cash Equivalents

The Company considers all short-term, highly liquid 

instruments purchased with an original maturity of three 

months or less to be cash equivalents.

Merchandise Inventories

Merchandise inventories, which primarily consist of fin-

ished goods, are stated at the lower of cost or market. Cost 

is determined primarily by the retail inventory method 

under both the first-in, first-out (FIFO) basis and the 

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

3Based upon sales reported in trade publications and public filings.

4 Any reference to NOOK® include the Company’s NOOK 1st Edition™, 
NOOK Wi-Fi 1st Edition™, NOOK Color™, NOOK Simple Touch™, NOOK 
Tablet™, NOOK Simple Touch with GlowLight™, NOOK® HD, NOOK® 
HD+ and NOOK GlowLight™ eReader devices, and each of which include 
the trademark symbol (® or ™, as applicable) even if a trademark symbol 
is not included.
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last-in, first-out (LIFO) basis. B&N College’s textbook and 

trade book inventories are valued using the LIFO method, 

where the related reserve was not material to the recorded 

amount of the Company’s inventories at May 3, 2014. The 

Company recorded a favorable LIFO adjustment through 

cost of goods sold of $7,692 and an unfavorable adjustment 

of ($2,200) in fiscal 2014 and 2013, respectively. NOOK 

merchandise inventories are recorded based on the average 

cost method.

Market is determined based on the estimated net realiz-

able value, which is generally the selling price. Reserves 

for non-returnable inventory are based on the Company’s 

history of liquidating non-returnable inventory.

The Company also estimates and accrues shortage for the 

period between the last physical count of inventory and 

the balance sheet date. Shortage rates are estimated and 

accrued based on historical rates and can be affected by 

changes in merchandise mix and changes in actual shortage 

trends.

Property and Equipment

Property and equipment are carried at cost, less accu-

mulated depreciation and amortization. For financial 

reporting purposes, depreciation is computed using the 

straight-line method over estimated useful lives. For tax 

purposes, different methods are used. Maintenance and 

repairs are expensed as incurred, while major mainte-

nance and remodeling costs are capitalized if they extend 

the useful life of the asset. Leasehold improvements are 

capitalized and amortized over the shorter of their esti-

mated useful lives or the terms of the respective leases. 

Fixtures and equipment are capitalized and amortized 

over the shorter of their estimated useful lives or 10 years. 

Capitalized lease acquisition costs are being amortized over 

the lease terms of the underlying leases. System costs are 

capitalized and included in property and equipment. These 

costs are amortized over their estimated useful lives from 

the date the systems become operational.

Other Long-Lived Assets

The Company’s other long-lived assets include property 

and equipment and amortizable intangibles. At May 3, 

2014, the Company had $490,713 of property and equip-

ment, net of accumulated depreciation, and $215,442 of 

amortizable intangible assets, net of amortization, account-

ing for approximately 20.0% of the Company’s total assets. 

The Company reviews its long-lived assets for impairment 

whenever events or changes in circumstances indicate 

that the carrying amount of an asset may not be recover-

able and considers market participants in accordance 

with Accounting Standards Codification (ASC) 360-10, 

Accounting for the Impairment or Disposal of Long-Lived Assets 

(ASC 360-10). The Company evaluates long-lived assets for 

impairment at the individual Barnes & Noble store level, 

except for B&N College long-lived assets, which are evalu-

ated for impairment at the school contract combined store 

level, which is the lowest level at which individual cash 

flows can be identified. When evaluating long-lived assets 

for potential impairment, the Company will first compare 

the carrying amount of the assets to the individual store’s 

estimated future undiscounted cash flows. If the estimated 

future cash flows are less than the carrying amount of the 

assets, an impairment loss calculation is prepared. The 

impairment loss calculation compares the carrying amount 

of the assets to the individual store’s fair value based on 

its estimated discounted future cash flows. If required, an 

impairment loss is recorded for that portion of the asset’s 

carrying value in excess of fair value. Impairment losses 

included in selling and administrative expenses totaled 

$32,390, $4,168, and $11,747 during fiscal 2014, fiscal 2013 

and fiscal 2012, respectively. Capitalized software costs of 

$68,107 and $61,008 for fiscal 2014 and 2013, respectively, 

are included in property and equipment.

Goodwill and Unamortizable Intangible Assets

The costs in excess of net assets of businesses acquired 

are carried as goodwill in the accompanying consolidated 

balance sheets.

At May 3, 2014, the Company had $493,189 of goodwill and 

$313,134 of unamortizable intangible assets (those with an 

indefinite useful life), accounting for approximately 22.8% 

of the Company’s total assets. ASC 350-30, Goodwill and 

Other Intangible Assets, requires that goodwill and other 

unamortizable intangible assets no longer be amortized, 

but instead be tested for impairment at least annually or 

earlier if there are impairment indicators. The Company 

performs a two-step process for impairment testing of 

goodwill as required by ASC 350-30. The first step of this 

test, used to identify potential impairment, compares the 

fair value of a reporting unit with its carrying amount. The 

second step (if necessary) measures the amount of the 

impairment. The Company completed its annual goodwill 

impairment test as of the first day of the third quarter of 

fiscal 2014. In performing the valuations, the Company 

used cash flows that reflected management’s forecasts and 

discount rates that included risk adjustments consistent 

with the current market conditions. Based on the results of 

the Company’s step one testing, the fair values of the B&N 

Retail, B&N College and NOOK reporting units as of that 

date exceeded their carrying values; therefore, the second 
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step of the impairment test was not required to be per-

formed and no goodwill impairment was recognized.

The Company tests unamortizable intangible assets by 

comparing the fair value and the carrying value of such 

assets. The Company also completed its annual impairment 

tests for its other unamortizable intangible assets by com-

paring the estimated fair value to the carrying value of such 

assets. Impairment losses included in selling and adminis-

trative expenses related to unamortizable intangible assets 

totaled $1,602, $0 and $0 during fiscal 2014, fiscal 2013 and 

fiscal 2012, respectively. Changes in market conditions, 

among other factors, could have a material impact on these 

estimates.

These impairments in fiscal 2014 relate to a certain 

publishing contract. The publishing contracts include the 

value of long-standing relationships with authors, agents 

and publishers established upon the Company’s acquisi-

tion of Sterling in 2003. Given Sterling’s strong history of 

maintaining such relationships, the Company believes they 

produce value indefinitely without an identifiable remain-

ing useful life. However, given the continued declines in 

the physical book business, certain of these contracts were 

impaired as of its most recent impairment testing date.

During the fourth quarter of 2013, the Company deter-

mined that goodwill impairment indicators arose in its 

NOOK reporting unit as recurring losses have led to revi-

sions in its strategic plans. As a result, during the fourth 

quarter of fiscal 2013, the Company recorded a non-cash 

goodwill impairment charge of $18,332 in selling and 

administrative expenses, which represented all the good-

will in the NOOK reporting unit.

In fiscal 2013, the Company decided to shut down the 

operations of Tikatok. Tikatok was an online platform 

where parents and their children and others can write, 

illustrate and publish stories into hardcover and paperback 

books. This decision resulted in an impairment charge of 

$1,973, including the write-off of goodwill of $1,947 and 

intangible assets of $26 during the second quarter of fiscal 

2013. The effect of Tikatok operations is not material to the 

overall results of the Company.

Deferred Charges

Costs incurred to obtain long-term financing are amortized 

over the terms of the respective debt agreements using the 

straight-line method, which approximates the interest 

method. Unamortized costs included in other noncurrent 

assets as of May 3, 2014 and April 27, 2013 were $10,897 

and $16,346, respectively. Amortization expense included 

in interest and amortization of deferred financing fees was 

$5,957, $5,470 and $5,381 during fiscal 2014, fiscal 2013 

and fiscal 2012, respectively.

Revenue Recognition

Revenue from sales of the Company’s products is recog-

nized at the time of sale or shipment, other than those with 

multiple elements and FOB destination point shipping 

terms. Certain of the Company sales agreements with 

its distribution partners contain rights of inspection or 

acceptance provisions as is standard in the Company’s 

industry. The Company accrues for estimated sales returns 

in the period in which the related revenue is recognized 

based on historical experience and industry standards. 

ECommerce revenue from sales of products ordered 

through the Company’s internet websites is recognized 

upon delivery and receipt of the shipment by its customers. 

Sales taxes collected from retail customers are excluded 

from reported revenues. All of the Company’s sales are 

recognized as revenue on a “net” basis, including sales 

in connection with any periodic promotions offered to 

customers. The Company does not treat any promotional 

offers as expenses.

In accordance with ASC 605-25, Revenue Recognition, 

Multiple Element Arrangements and Accounting Standards 

Updates (ASU) 2009-13 and 2009-14, for multiple-

element arrangements that involve tangible products that 

contain software that is essential to the tangible product’s 

functionality, undelivered software elements that relate 

to the tangible product’s essential software and other 

separable elements, the Company allocates revenue to all 

deliverables using the relative selling-price method. Under 

this method, revenue is allocated at the time of sale to all 

deliverables based on their relative selling price using a 

specific hierarchy. The hierarchy is as follows: vendor-

specific objective evidence, third-party evidence of selling 

price, or best estimate of selling price. NOOK® device 

revenue is recognized at the segment point of sale.

The Company includes post-service customer sup-

port (PCS) in the form of software updates and potential 

increased functionality on a when-and-if-available basis, 

as well as wireless access and wireless connectivity with the 

purchase of a NOOK® from the Company. Using the rela-

tive selling price described above, the Company allocates 

revenue based on the best estimate of selling price for 

the deliverables as no vendor-specific objective evidence 

or third-party evidence exists for any of the elements. 

Revenue allocated to NOOK® and the software essential to 

its functionality is recognized at the time of sale, provided 

all other conditions for revenue recognition are met. 
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Revenue allocated to the PCS and the wireless access is 

deferred and recognized on a straight-line basis over the 

2-year estimated life of a NOOK®.

The average percentage of a NOOK®’s sales price that is 

deferred for undelivered items and recognized over its 

2-year estimated life ranges between 2% and 7%, depend-

ing on the type of device sold. The amount of NOOK®-

related deferred revenue as of May 3, 2014 and April 27, 

2013 was $9,934 and $15,331, respectively. These amounts 

are classified on the Company’s balance sheet in accrued 

liabilities for the portion that is subject to deferral for one 

year or less and other long-term liabilities for the portion 

that is subject to deferral for more than one year.

The Company also pays certain vendors who distribute 

NOOK® a commission on the content sales sold through 

that device. The Company accounts for these transactions 

as a reduction in the sales price of the NOOK® based on 

historical trends of content sales and a liability is estab-

lished for the estimated commission expected to be paid 

over the life of the product. The Company recognizes 

revenue of the content at the point of sale of the content. 

The Company records revenue from sales of digital content, 

sales of third-party extended warranties, service contracts 

and other products, for which the Company is not obligated 

to perform, and for which the Company does not meet the 

criteria for gross revenue recognition under ASC 605-45-

45, Reporting Revenue Gross as a Principal versus Net as an 

Agent, on a net basis. All other revenue is recognized on a 

gross basis.

The Company rents both physical and digital textbooks. 

Revenue from physical textbooks is deferred and recog-

nized over the rental period commencing at point of sale. 

Revenue for digital textbooks is deferred and recognized 

over the rental period commencing when the textbook 

has been downloaded. Over time, certain textbook rent-

als are not downloaded. The Company estimates that the 

likelihood of a download of textbooks that have not been 

downloaded after one year since the point of sale is remote. 

The Company records this amount in income on the month 

following the one-year anniversary of the point of sale.

NOOK acquires the rights to distribute digital content from 

publishers and distributes the content on barnesandnoble.

com, NOOK® devices and other eBookstore platforms. 

Certain digital content is distributed under an agency pric-

ing model in which the publishers set prices for eBooks and 

NOOK receives a commission on content sold through the 

eBookstore. The majority of the Company’s eBook sales are 

sold under the agency model.

The Barnes & Noble Member Program offers members 

greater discounts and other benefits for products and ser-

vices, as well as exclusive offers and promotions via e-mail 

or direct mail generally for an annual fee of $25.00, which 

is non-refundable after the first 30 days. Revenue is recog-

nized over the twelve-month period based upon historical 

spending patterns for Barnes & Noble Members.

Research and Development Costs for Software Products

 The Company follows the guidance in ASC 985-20, Cost of 

Software to Be Sold, Leased or Marketed, regarding software 

development costs to be sold, leased, or otherwise mar-

keted. Capitalization of software development costs begins 

upon the establishment of technological feasibility and 

is discontinued when the product is available for sale. A 

certain amount of judgment and estimation is required to 

assess when technological feasibility is established, as well 

as the ongoing assessment of the recoverability of capital-

ized costs. The Company’s products reach technological 

feasibility shortly before the products are released and 

therefore research and development costs are generally 

expensed as incurred.

Advertising Costs

The costs of advertising are expensed as incurred dur-

ing the year pursuant to ASC 720-35, Advertising Costs. 

Advertising costs charged to selling and administrative 

expenses were $61,527, $110,878 and $116,388 during fiscal 

2014, fiscal 2013 and fiscal 2012, respectively.

The Company receives payments and credits from vendors 

pursuant to co-operative advertising and other programs, 

including payments for product placement in stores, cata-

logs and online. In accordance with ASC 605-50-25-10, 

Customer’s Accounting for Certain Consideration Received from 

a Vendor, the Company classifies certain co-op advertising 

received as a reduction in costs of sales and occupancy. 

The gross co-op advertising expenses noted above were 

completely offset by allowances received from vendors and 

were recorded as a reduction of cost of goods sold or inven-

tory, as appropriate.

Closed Store Expenses

When the Company closes or relocates a store, the 

Company charges unrecoverable costs to expense. Such 

costs include the net book value of abandoned fixtures and 

leasehold improvements and, when a store is closed prior 

to the expiration of the lease, a provision for future lease 

obligations, net of expected sublease recoveries. Costs 

associated with store closings of $929, $5,006 and $551 

during fiscal 2014, fiscal 2013 and fiscal 2012, respectively, 

are included in selling and administrative expenses in the 

accompanying consolidated statements of operations.
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Net Earnings (Loss) Per Common Share

Basic earnings per share represent net earnings (loss) 

attributable to common shareholders divided by the 

weighted-average number of common shares outstand-

ing for the period. Diluted earnings per share reflect, in 

periods in which they have a dilutive effect, the impact of 

common shares issuable upon exercise of the Company’s 

outstanding stock options. The Company’s unvested 

restricted shares, unvested restricted stock units and 

common shares issuable under the Company’s deferred 

compensation plan are deemed participating securities 

and are excluded from the dilutive impact of common 

equivalent shares outstanding under the two-class method 

since these shares are entitled to participate in dividends 

declared on common shares. Under the two-class method, 

earnings (loss) attributable to unvested restricted shares, 

unvested restricted stock units and common shares issu-

able under the Company’s deferred compensation plan are 

excluded from net earnings (loss) attributable to common 

shareholders for purposes of calculating basic and diluted 

earnings (loss) per common share. See Note 7 for further 

information regarding the calculation of basic and diluted 

earnings (loss) per common share.

Income Taxes

The provision for income taxes includes federal, state and 

local income taxes currently payable and those deferred 

because of temporary differences between the financial 

statement and tax bases of assets and liabilities. The 

deferred tax assets and liabilities are measured using the 

enacted tax rates and laws that are expected to be in effect 

when the differences reverse. The Company regularly 

reviews its deferred tax assets for recoverability and estab-

lishes a valuation allowance, if determined to be necessary.

Stock-Based Compensation

The calculation of stock-based employee compensation 

expense involves estimates that require management’s 

judgment. These estimates include the fair value of each of 

the stock option awards granted, which is estimated on the 

date of grant using a Black-Scholes option pricing model. 

There are two significant inputs into the Black-Scholes 

option pricing model: expected volatility and expected 

term. The Company estimates expected volatility based 

on traded option volatility of the Company’s stock over a 

term equal to the expected term of the option granted. The 

expected term of stock option awards granted is derived 

from historical exercise experience under the Company’s 

stock option plans and represents the period of time that 

stock option awards granted are expected to be outstand-

ing. The assumptions used in calculating the fair value of 

stock-based payment awards represent management’s best 

estimates, but these estimates involve inherent uncertain-

ties and the application of management’s judgment. As a 

result, if factors change and the Company uses different 

assumptions, stock-based compensation expense could be 

materially different in the future. In addition, the Company 

is required to estimate the expected forfeiture rate, and 

only recognize expense for those shares expected to vest. If 

the Company’s actual forfeiture rate is materially different 

from its estimate, the stock-based compensation expense 

could be significantly different from what the Company 

has recorded in the current period. See Note 3 to the 

Consolidated Financial Statements for a further discussion 

on stock-based compensation.

Gift Cards

The Company sells gift cards, which can be used in its 

stores, on barnesandnoble.com and NOOK devices. The 

Company does not charge administrative or dormancy fees 

on gift cards and gift cards have no expiration dates. Upon 

the purchase of a gift card, a liability is established for its 

cash value. Revenue associated with gift cards is deferred 

until redemption of the gift card. Over time, some portion 

of the gift cards issued is not redeemed. The Company 

estimates the portion of the gift card liability for which 

the likelihood of redemption is remote based upon the 

Company’s historical redemption patterns. The Company 

records this amount in income on a straight-line basis over 

a 12-month period beginning in the 13th month after the 

month the gift card was originally sold. The Company does 

not believe there is a reasonable likelihood that there will 

be a material change in the estimates or assumptions used 

to recognize revenue associated with gift cards. However, 

additional breakage may be required if gift card redemp-

tions continue to run lower than historical patterns. The 

Company recognized gift card breakage of $23,221, $23,929 

and $29,284 during fiscal 2014, fiscal 2013 and fiscal 

2012, respectively. The Company had gift card liabilities 

of $356,700 and $341,036 as of May 3, 2014 and April 27, 

2013, respectively.

Accounts Receivable

Accounts receivable, as presented on the Company’s 

Consolidated Balance Sheets, is net of allowances. An 

allowance for doubtful accounts is determined through 

an analysis of the aging of accounts receivable and assess-

ments of collectibility based on historic trends, the 

financial condition of the Company’s customers and an 

evaluation of economic conditions. The Company writes 

off uncollectible trade receivables once collection efforts 

have been exhausted. Costs associated with allowable 
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customer markdowns and operational chargebacks, net 

of the expected recoveries, are part of the provision for 

allowances included in accounts receivable. These provi-

sions result from seasonal negotiations, as well as historic 

deduction trends net of expected recoveries, and the evalu-

ation of current market conditions.

Reclassifications

Certain prior-period amounts have been reclassified for 

comparative purposes to conform with the fiscal 2014 

presentation.

Recent Accounting Pronouncements

In May 2014, the FASB issued Accounting Standard Update 

No. 2014-09, Revenue from Contracts with Customers (ASU 

2014-09). The standard provides companies with a single 

model for use in accounting for revenue arising from 

contracts with customers and supersedes current revenue 

recognition guidance, including industry-specific revenue 

guidance. The core principle of the model is to recognize 

revenue when control of the goods or services transfers to 

the customer, as opposed to recognizing revenue when the 

risks and rewards transfer to the customer under the exist-

ing revenue guidance. ASU 2014-09 is effective for annual 

reporting periods beginning after December 15, 2016. Early 

adoption is not permitted. The guidance permits compa-

nies to either apply the requirements retrospectively to all 

prior periods presented, or apply the requirements in the 

year of adoption, through a cumulative adjustment. The 

Company has not yet selected a transition method nor has 

it determined the impact of adoption on its consolidated 

financial statements.

Reporting Period

The Company’s fiscal year is comprised of 52 or 53 weeks, 

ending on the Saturday closest to the last day of April. The 

reporting period ended May 3, 2014 contained 53 weeks, 

and the reporting periods April 27, 2013 and April 28, 2012 

contained 52 weeks.

2 .  CREDIT FACILITY

The Company is party to an amended and restated credit 

facility with Bank of America, N.A., as administrative 

agent, collateral agent and swing line lender, and other 

lenders, dated as of April 29, 2011 (as amended and 

modified to date, the Credit Facility), consisting of up to 

$1,000,000 in aggregate commitments under a five-year 

asset-backed revolving credit facility expiring on April 29, 

2016, which is secured by eligible inventory and accounts 

receivable with the ability to include eligible real estate 

and related assets. Borrowings under the Credit Facility are 

limited to a specified percentage of eligible inventories and 

accounts receivable and accrued interest, at the election 

of the Company, at Base Rate or LIBO Rate, plus, in each 

case, an Applicable Margin (each term as defined in the 

Credit Facility). In addition, the Company has the option 

to request an increase in commitments under the Credit 

Facility by up to $300,000, subject to certain restrictions.

The Credit Facility requires Availability (as defined in the 

Credit Facility) to be greater than the greater of (i) 10% 

of the Loan Cap (as defined in the Credit Facility) and (ii) 

$50,000. In addition, the Credit Facility contains covenants 

that limit, among other things, the Company’s ability to 

incur indebtedness, create liens, make investments, make 

restricted payments, merge or acquire assets, and contains 

default provisions that are typical for this type of financing, 

among other things. Proceeds from the Credit Facility are 

used for general corporate purposes, including seasonal 

working capital needs.

The Company had no outstanding debt under the Credit 

Facility as of May 3, 2014 and $77.0 million as of April 27, 

2013.

Selected information related to the Company’s credit 

facilities:

Fiscal 2014 Fiscal 2013 Fiscal 2012

Credit facility at period 
end $         —  77,000  324,200

Average balance 
outstanding during the 
period $   48,254  214,702  306,038

Maximum borrowings 
outstanding during the 
period $ 180,300  462,900  582,000

Weighted average 
interest rate during the 
perioda 15.65% 5.56% 4.71%

Interest rate at end of 
period 0.00% 4.93% 3.32%

a Includes commitment fees.

Fees expensed with respect to the unused portion of the 

credit facilities were $4,375, $3,794 and $3,343 during 

fiscal 2014, fiscal 2013 and fiscal 2012, respectively. The 

Company had $36,782 of outstanding letters of credit under 

the 2013 Amended Credit Facility as of May 3, 2014 com-

pared with $33,904 as of April 27, 2013.
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The Company has no agreements to maintain compensat-

ing balances.

3 .  STOCK-BASED COMPENSATION

The Company maintains four share-based incentive plans: 

the 1996 Incentive Plan, the 2004 Incentive Plan, the 

2009 Incentive Plan and the Amended and Restated 2009 

Incentive Plan. Prior to June 2, 2009, the Company issued 

restricted stock and stock options under the 1996 and 2004 

Incentive Plans. On June 2, 2009, the Company’s share-

holders approved the 2009 Incentive Plan. Under the 2009 

Incentive Plan, the Company has issued restricted stock 

units, restricted stock and stock options. On September 11, 

2012, the Company’s shareholders approved the Amended 

and Restated 2009 Incentive Plan. Under the Amended 

and Restated 2009 Incentive Plan, the Company has issued 

restricted stock units, restricted stock and stock options. 

The maximum number of shares issuable under the 

Amended and Restated 2009 Incentive Plan is 1,700,000, 

plus shares that remain available under the Company’s 

shareholder-approved 2009 and 2004 Incentive Plan. At 

May 3, 2014, there were approximately 3,380,683 shares 

of common stock available for future grants under the 

Amended and Restated 2009 Incentive Plan.

A restricted stock award is an award of common stock that 

is subject to certain restrictions during a specified period. 

Restricted stock awards are independent of option grants 

and are generally subject to forfeiture if employment ter-

minates prior to the release of the restrictions. The grantee 

cannot transfer the shares before the restricted shares vest. 

Shares of unvested restricted stock have the same voting 

rights as common stock, are entitled to receive dividends 

and other distributions thereon and are considered to be 

currently issued and outstanding. The Company’s restricted 

stock awards vest over a period of one to four years. The 

Company expenses the cost of the restricted stock awards, 

which is determined to be the fair market value of the 

shares at the date of grant, straight-line over the period 

during which the restrictions lapse. For these purposes, 

the fair market value of the restricted stock is determined 

based on the closing price of the Company’s common stock 

on the grant date.

A restricted stock unit is a grant valued in terms of the 

Company’s common stock, but no stock is issued at the 

time of grant. The restricted stock units may be redeemed 

for one share of common stock each once vested. Restricted 

stock units are generally subject to forfeiture if employ-

ment terminates prior to the release of the restrictions. 

The grantee cannot transfer the units except in very limited 

circumstances and with the consent of the compensation 

committee. Shares of unvested restricted stock units have 

no voting rights but are entitled to receive dividends and 

other distributions thereon. The Company’s restricted 

stock units vest over a period of one to four years. The 

Company expenses the cost of the restricted stock units, 

which is determined to be the fair market value of the 

shares at the date of grant, straight-line over the period 

during which the restrictions lapse. For these purposes, the 

fair market value of the restricted stock unit is determined 

based on the closing price of the Company’s common stock 

on the grant date.

The Company uses the Black-Scholes option-pricing model 

to value the Company’s stock options for each stock option 

award. Using this option-pricing model, the fair value of 

each stock option award is estimated on the date of grant. 

The fair value of the Company’s stock option awards, which 

are generally subject to pro-rata vesting annually over four 

years, is expensed on a straight-line basis over the vesting 

period of the stock options. The expected volatility assump-

tion is based on traded options volatility of the Company’s 

stock over a term equal to the expected term of the option 

granted. The expected term of stock option awards granted 

is derived from historical exercise experience under the 

Company’s stock option plans and represents the period 

of time that stock option awards granted are expected to be 

outstanding. The expected term assumption incorporates 

the contractual term of an option grant, which is ten years, 

as well as the vesting period of an award, which is gener-

ally pro-rata vesting annually over four years. The risk-

free interest rate is based on the implied yield on a U.S. 

Treasury constant maturity with a remaining term equal to 

the expected term of the option granted.

The Company recognizes stock-based compensation costs, 

net of estimated forfeitures, for only those shares expected 

to vest on a straight-line basis over the requisite service 

period of the award. The Company estimates the forfeiture 

rates based on its historical experience.

The weighted average assumptions relating to the valua-

tion of the Company’s stock options for fiscal years 2013 

and 2012 are shown below. No stock options were granted 

during fiscal 2014.
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Fiscal Year 2013 2012

Weighted average fair value 
of grants $7.80 $9.85

Volatility 86.13% 78.52%

Risk-free interest rate 0.67% 0.92%

Expected life 5 years 5 years

Expected dividend yield 0.00% 0.00%

Stock-Based Compensation Activity

The following table presents a summary of the Company’s 

stock option activity:

NUMBER OF 
SHARES  

(in thousands)

WEIGHTED 
AVERAGE 
EXERCISE 

PRICE

WEIGHTED 
AVERAGE 

REMAINING 
CONTRACTUAL 

TERM

AGGREGATE 
INTRINSIC 

VALUE  

(in thousands)

Balance,  
April 30, 2011  3,876 $ 21.02 3.40 years —

Granted 1,563 15.70

Exercised  (92) 11.89

Forfeited  (1,487) 21.86

Balance,  
April 28, 2012  3,860 $ 18.76 5.70 years $    574

Granted 515 11.64

Exercised  (279) 12.20

Forfeited  (720) 20.19

Balance,  
April 27, 2013 3,376 $ 17.91 6.24 years $ 7,331

Granted 0 0.00

Exercised (66) 15.71

Forfeited (2,272) 16.95

Balance,  
May 3, 2014 1,039 $ 20.14 4.53 years $    725

Vested and 
expected to 
vest in the 
future at  
May 3, 2014 987 $ 20.37 4.37 years $    679

Exercisable at 
May 3, 2014 632 $ 23.17 2.56 years $    218

Available for 
grant at May 
3, 2014 3,381

The aggregate intrinsic value in the table above represents 

the total pre-tax intrinsic value (the difference between 

the Company’s closing stock price on the last trading day of 

the related fiscal year and the exercise price, multiplied by 

the related in-the-money options) that would have been 

received by the option holders had they exercised their 

options at the end of the fiscal year. This amount changes 

based on the market value of the Company’s common 

stock. Total intrinsic value of options exercised for fiscal 

2014, fiscal 2013 and fiscal 2012 (based on the differ-

ence between the Company’s stock price on the exercise 

date and the respective exercise price, multiplied by the 

number of options exercised) was $227, $1,206, and $521, 

respectively.

As of May 3, 2014, there was $3,791 of total unrecognized 

compensation expense related to unvested stock options 

granted under the Company’s share-based compensation 

plans. That expense is expected to be recognized over a 

weighted average period of 1.58 years.

The following table presents a summary of the Company’s 

restricted stock activity:

NUMBER OF SHARES  

(in thousands)

WEIGHTED AVERAGE 
GRANT DATE FAIR 

VALUE

Balance, April 30, 2011  2,425 $ 21.31

Granted 83 13.23

Vested (1,073) 22.78

Forfeited (51) 21.52

Balance, April 28, 2012 1,384 $ 19.68

Granted 60 11.52

Vested (866) 20.49

Forfeited (293) 19.24

Balance, April 27, 2013 285 $ 15.91

Granted 61 13.81

Vested (194) 16.15

Forfeited (62) 15.71

Balance, May 3, 2014 90 $ 14.11

Total fair value of shares of restricted stock that vested 

during fiscal 2014, fiscal 2013 and fiscal 2012 was $2,955, 

$13,447 and $14,067, respectively. As of May 3, 2014, there 

was $433 of unrecognized stock-based compensation 

expense related to nonvested restricted stock awards. That 

cost is expected to be recognized over a weighted average 

period of 0.4 years.
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The following table presents a summary of the Company’s 

restricted stock unit activity:

NUMBER OF SHARES 

(in thousands)

WEIGHTED AVERAGE 
GRANT DATE FAIR 

VALUE

Balance, April 28, 2012 964 $ 16.63

Granted 1,029 16.29

Vested (13) 15.31

Forfeited (102) 18.01

Balance, April 27, 2013 1,878 $ 16.38

Granted 2,469 15.12

Vested (497) 16.76

Forfeited (723) 17.13

Balance, May 3, 2014 3,127 $ 15.15

Total fair value of shares of restricted stock units that 

vested during fiscal 2014 and fiscal 2013 were $9,475 and 

$205, respectively. No restricted stock units were granted 

prior to fiscal 2012 and there were no vestings during fiscal 

2012. As of May 3, 2014, there was $40,061 of unrecognized 

stock-based compensation expense related to nonvested 

restricted stock units. That cost is expected to be recog-

nized over a weighted average period of 2.55 years.

For fiscal 2014, fiscal 2013 and fiscal 2012, stock-based 

compensation expense of $12,171, $20,187 and $20,775, 

respectively, is included in selling and administrative 

expenses.

4 .  RECEIVABLES,  NET

 Receivables represent customer, private and public 

institutional and government billings, credit/debit card, 

advertising, landlord and other receivables due within one 

year as follows:

May 3, 2014 April 27, 2013

Trade accounts $ 54,375 $ 69,627

Credit/debit card 
receivables 32,331 33,776

EBook settlement 
receivablea 28,117  –

Other receivables 29,158 45,966

Total receivables, net $ 143,981 $ 149,369

a The Company provided credits to eligible customers resulting from the 
settlements reached with certain publishers in antitrust lawsuits filed 
by various State Attorney Generals and private class plaintiffs regard-
ing the price of digital books. The Company’s customers were entitled 
to $44.2 million in total credits as a result of the settlement, which is 

funded by these publishers. If a customer’s credit is not used to make 
a purchase within one year, the entire credit will expire. The Company 
recorded estimated redemptions of $33.6 million as a receivable from 
these publishers and a liability to its customers in March 2014. The 
Company’s customers had activated $21.5 million in credits thus far as 
of May 3, 2014.

5 .  OTHER LONG-TERM LIABILITIES

Other long-term liabilities consist primarily of deferred 

rent, obligations under a Junior Seller Note related to the 

acquisition of B&N College, the Microsoft Commercial 

Agreement financing transaction (see Note 19 and 11, 

respectively) and tax liabilities and reserves. The Company 

provides for minimum rent expense over the lease terms 

(including the build-out period) on a straight-line basis. 

The excess of such rent expense over actual lease pay-

ments (net of tenant allowances) is classified as deferred 

rent. Other long-term liabilities include accrued pension 

liabilities, store closing expenses and long-term deferred 

revenues. The Company had the following long-term 

liabilities at May 3, 2014 and April 27, 2013:

May 3, 2014 April 27, 2013

Deferred rent $ 128,280 $ 149,934

Junior Seller Note (see Note 
19) — 127,250

Microsoft Commercial 
Agreement financing 
transaction (see Note 11) 140,714 52,642

Tax liabilities and reserves 51,399 54,068

Other 46,596 36,052

Total long-term liabilities $ 366,989 $ 419,946

6 .  FAIR VALUES OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS

In accordance with ASC 820, Fair Value Measurements and 

Disclosures, the fair value of an asset is considered to be the 

price at which the asset could be sold in an orderly transac-

tion between unrelated knowledgeable and willing parties. 

A liability’s fair value is defined as the amount that would 

be paid to transfer the liability to a new obligor, not the 

amount that would be paid to settle the liability with the 

creditor. Assets and liabilities recorded at fair value 

2014 Annual Report  45



are measured using a three-tier fair value hierarchy, which 

prioritizes the inputs used in measuring fair value. These 

tiers include:

Level 1 – Observable inputs that reflect quoted prices in 

active markets

Level 2 – Inputs other than quoted prices in active markets 

that are either directly or indirectly observable

Level 3 – Unobservable inputs in which little or no market 

data exists, therefore requiring the Company to develop its 

own assumptions

The Company’s financial instruments include cash, receiv-

ables, gift cards, accrued liabilities and accounts payable. 

The fair values of cash, receivables and accounts payable 

approximates carrying values because of the short-term 

nature of these instruments, which are all considered level 

1. The Company believes that its credit facility approxi-

mates fair value since interest rates are adjusted to reflect 

current rates. The Company believes that the terms and 

conditions of the Junior Seller Note are consistent with 

comparable market debt issues.

7 .  NET EARNINGS (LOSS)  PER SHARE

In accordance with ASC 260-10-45, Share-Based Payment 

Arrangements and Participating Securities and the Two-

Class Method, the Company’s unvested restricted shares, 

unvested restricted stock units and shares issuable under 

the Company’s deferred compensation plan are considered 

participating securities. During periods of net income, 

the calculation of earnings per share for common stock 

are reclassified to exclude the income attributable to the 

unvested restricted shares, unvested restricted stock units 

and shares issuable under the Company’s deferred com-

pensation plan from the numerator and exclude the dilutive 

impact of those shares from the denominator. Diluted 

earnings per share for fiscal year 2014 was calculated using 

the two-class method for stock options, restricted stock 

and restricted stock units and the if-converted method for 

the preferred stock.

During periods of net loss, no effect is given to the partici-

pating securities because they do not share in the losses 

of the Company. Due to the net loss during fiscal 2014, 

2013 and 2012, participating securities in the amounts of 

3,048,040, 2,859,084 and 3,462,508, respectively, were 

excluded in the calculation of loss per share using the two-

class method because the effect would be antidilutive. The 

Company’s outstanding stock options and accretion/pay-

ments of dividends on preferred shares were also excluded 

from the calculation of loss per share using the two-class 

method because the effect would be antidilutive.

The following is a reconciliation of the Company’s basic 

and diluted earnings per share calculation:

Fiscal
2014

Fiscal
2013

Fiscal  
2012

Numerator for basic loss 
per share:

Loss attributable to Barnes 
& Noble, Inc. $(47,268) (157,806) (64,840)

Preferred stock dividends (16,028) (15,767) (11,044)

Accretion of dividends on 
preferred stock (3,032) (2,266) (894)

Net loss available to 
common shareholders $ (66,328) (175,839)  (76,778)

Numerator for diluted loss 
per share:

Net loss available to 
common shareholders $ (66,328) (175,839)  (76,778)

Denominator for basic and 
diluted loss per share:

Basic weighted average 
common shares 58,971 58,247 57,337

Basic loss per common 
share:

Net loss attributable to 
Barnes & Noble, Inc. 
available for common 
shareholders $ (1.12)  (3.02)  (1.34)

Diluted loss per common 
share:

Net loss attributable to 
Barnes & Noble, Inc. 
available for common 
shareholders $ (1.12)  (3.02)  (1.34)

8 .  EMPLOYEES’  RETIREMENT AND DEFINED 
CONTRIBUTION PLANS

As of December 31, 1999, substantially all employees 

of the Company were covered under a noncontributory 

defined benefit pension plan (the Pension Plan). As of 

January 1, 2000, the Pension Plan was amended so that 

employees no longer earn benefits for subsequent service. 

Effective December 31, 2004, the Barnes & Noble.com 

Employees’ Retirement Plan (the B&N.com Retirement 

Plan) was merged with the Pension Plan. Substantially all 

employees of Barnes & Noble.com were covered under the 
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B&N.com Retirement Plan. As of July 1, 2000, the B&N.

com Retirement Plan was amended so that employees no 

longer earn benefits for subsequent service. Subsequent 

service continues to be the basis for vesting of benefits not 

yet vested at December 31, 1999 and June 30, 2000 for the 

Pension Plan and the B&N.com Retirement Plan, respec-

tively, and the Pension Plan will continue to hold assets and 

pay benefits. The actuarial assumptions used to calculate 

pension costs are reviewed annually. Pension expense was 

$2,465, $2,836 and $1,970 for fiscal 2014, fiscal 2013 and 

fiscal 2012, respectively.

The Company maintains a defined contribution plan (the 

Savings Plan) for the benefit of substantially all employees. 

Total Company contributions charged to employee benefit 

expenses for the Savings Plan were $16,744, $15,902 and 

$15,273 during fiscal 2014, fiscal 2013 and fiscal 2012, 

respectively. In addition, the Company provides certain 

health care and life insurance benefits (the Postretirement 

Plan) to retired employees, limited to those receiving 

benefits or retired as of April 1, 1993. Total Company 

contributions charged to employee benefit expenses for the 

Postretirement Plan were $44, $0 and $150 during fiscal 

2014, fiscal 2013 and fiscal 2012, respectively.

9 .  INCOME TAXES

Income (loss) before income taxes for fiscal 2014, fiscal 

2013 and fiscal 2012 are as follows:

Fiscal 2014 Fiscal 2013 Fiscal 2012

Domestic operations $ 3,952  (257,173)  (89,026)

Foreign operations  733  1,824  (881)

Total income (loss) before 
taxes $ 4,685  (255,349) (89,907)

Income tax provisions (benefits) for fiscal 2014, fiscal 2013 

and fiscal 2012 are as follows:

Fiscal 2014 Fiscal 2013 Fiscal 2012

Current:

Federal $ 5,753  18,270  8,574

State 2,819 2,594 3,929

Foreign 156 486 —

Total current 8,728 21,350 12,503

Deferred:

Federal 30,792 (93,684) (28,504)

State 12,433 (25,209) (9,066)

Total deferred 43,225 (118,893) (37,570)

Total $ 51,953  (97,543)  (25,067)

Reconciliation between the effective income tax rate and 

the federal statutory income tax rate is as follows:

Fiscal 2014 Fiscal 2013 Fiscal 2012

Federal statutory income 
tax rate 35.0% 35.0% 35.0%

State income taxes, net of 
federal income tax benefit 156.8 3.9 4.4

Changes to unrecognized tax 
benefits 42.5 (5.7) (0.3)

Excess executive 
compensation 14.0 (1.8) (9.8)

Meals and entertainment 
disallowance 16.0 (0.2) (0.6)

Research Tax Credits (63.4) 7.4 —

Joint venture net loss 
allocation 657.8 — —

Change in valuation 
allowance 248.5 — —

Other, net 1.7 (0.4) (0.8)

Effective income tax rate 1,108.9% 38.2% 27.9%
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The Company accounts for income taxes using the asset 

and liability method. Deferred taxes are recorded based 

on differences between the financial statement basis and 

tax basis of assets and liabilities and available tax loss and 

credit carryforwards. At May 3, 2014 and April 27, 2013, the 

significant components of the Company’s deferred taxes 

consisted of the following:

May 3, 2014 April 27, 2013

Deferred tax assets:

Estimated accrued liabilities $ 124,875 $ 129,408

Inventory 42,671 82,785

Insurance liability 8,804 9,642

Loss and credit carryovers 47,308  59,493

Lease transactions 24,499 33,427

Pension 4,885 12,330

Stock-based compensation 6,364 8,740

Investments in equity 
securities 1,564 1,590

Other 1,263 1,817

Gross deferred tax assets 262,233 339,232

Valuation allowance (19,176) (7,533)

Net deferred tax assets 243,057  331,699

Deferred tax liabilities:

Prepaid expenses (6,900) (7,015)

Goodwill and intangible asset 
amortization (209,541) (216,182)

Investment in Barnes & 
Noble.com (78,554) (79,034)

Depreciation (15,257) (50,790)

Gross deferred tax liabilities (310,252) (353,021)

Net deferred tax liabilities $ (67,195) $ (21,322)

In assessing the realizability of the deferred tax assets, 

management considered whether it is more likely than not 

that some or all of the deferred tax assets would be realized. 

In evaluating the Company’s ability to utilize its deferred 

tax assets, it considered all available evidence, both posi-

tive and negative, in determining future taxable income 

on a jurisdiction by jurisdiction basis. The Company has 

recorded a valuation allowance of $19,176 and $7,533 at 

May 3, 2014 and April 27, 2013, respectively. The $11,643 

increase in the valuation allowance during fiscal 2014 is due 

to uncertainty in the Company’s ability to realize deferred 

tax assets, primarily driven by the cumulative loss position.

At May 3, 2014, and based on its tax year ended January 

2014, the Company had federal net operating loss car-

ryforwards (NOLs) of approximately $59,874 and state net 

operating loss carryforwards of $421,926 that are available 

to offset taxable income in its respective taxing jurisdiction 

beginning in the current period and that expire beginning 

in 2019 through 2023. The utilization of federal net operat-

ing loss carryforward is limited to approximately $6,653 on 

an annual basis. NOLs not used during a particular period 

may be carried forward to future years, though not beyond 

the expiration years. Additionally, the Company had 

approximately $410,087 of state NOLs that have no annual 

limitation and expire beginning in 2030. The Company had 

net federal and state tax credits totaling $10,235, which has 

an indefinite life.

As of May 3, 2014, the Company had $19,155 of unrecog-

nized tax benefits, all of which, if recognized, would affect 

the Company’s effective tax rate. A reconciliation of the 

beginning and ending amount of unrecognized tax benefits 

for fiscal 2014, fiscal 2013 and fiscal 2012 is as follows:

Balance at April 30, 2011  $ 13,479

Additions for tax positions of prior periods —

Reductions due to settlements (228)

Other reductions for tax positions of prior periods (116)

Balance at April 28, 2012 $ 13,135

Additions for tax positions of the current period 3,189

Additions for tax positions of prior periods 9,187

Reductions due to settlements (370)

Other reductions for tax positions of prior periods (3,815)

Balance at April 27, 2013 $ 21,326

Additions for tax positions of the current period 2,693

Additions for tax positions of prior periods 2,206

Reductions due to settlements —

Other reductions for tax positions of prior periods (7,070)

Balance at May 3, 2014 $ 19,155

The Company’s policy is to recognize interest and penalties 

related to income tax matters in income tax expense. As of 

May 3, 2014 and April 27, 2013, the Company had accrued 

$10,606 and $10,134, respectively, for net interest and 

penalties. The change in the amount accrued for net inter-

est and penalties includes $472 in additions for net interest 

and penalties recognized in income tax expense in the 

Company’s fiscal 2014 statement of operations. Further, we 

believe that it is reasonably possible that the total amount 

of unrecognized tax benefits at January 25, 2014 could 

decrease by approximately $8,533 within the next twelve 
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months, as a result, of settlement of certain tax audits or 

lapses of statutes of limitation. Such decreases may involve 

the payment of additional taxes, the adjustment of deferred 

taxes including the need for additional valuation allow-

ances, and the recognition of tax benefits.

As of May 3, 2014, the Company has not provided for 

deferred taxes on the excess of financial reporting over 

the tax basis of investments in certain foreign subsidiar-

ies because the Company plans to reinvest such earnings 

indefinitely outside the United States. If these earnings 

were repatriated in the future, additional income and with-

holding tax expense would be incurred. Due to complexities 

in the laws of the foreign jurisdictions and the assumptions 

that would have to be made, it is not practicable to estimate 

the total amount of income taxes that would have to be 

provided on such earnings.

The Company is subject to U.S. federal income tax as well as 

income tax in jurisdictions of each state having an income 

tax. The tax years that remain subject to examination are 

primarily from fiscal 2007 and forward. Some earlier years 

remain open for a small minority of states.

10 .  INTANGIBLE ASSETS AND GOODWILL

As of May 3, 2014

Amortizable intangible 
assets Useful Life

Gross 
Carrying 
Amount

Accumulated 
Amortization Total

Customer relationships 5-25 $ 271,938 $ (61,872) $ 210,066

Technology 5-10  10,710  (6,824) 3,886

Distribution contracts 10  8,325  (7,312) 1,013

Other  3-10  6,419  (5,942) 477

$ 297,392 $ (81,950) $ 215,442

Unamortizable intangible 
assets

Trade name $ 293,400

Publishing contracts  19,734

$ 313,134

Total amortizable and 
unamortizable intangible 
assets $ 528,576

As of April 27, 2013

Amortizable intangible 
assets

Useful 
Life

Gross 
Carrying 
Amount

Accumulated 
Amortization Total

Customer relationships 5-25 $ 271,938 $ (48,040) $ 223,898

Technology 5-10  10,710  (4,456) 6,254

Distribution contracts 10  8,325  (6,370) 1,955

Other  3-10  6,338  (5,250) 1,088

$ 297,311 $ (64,116) $ 233,195

Unamortizable intangible 
assets

Trade name $ 293,400

Publishing contracts  21,336

$ 314,736

Total amortizable and 
unamortizable intangible 
assets $ 547,931

All amortizable intangible assets are being amortized over 

their useful life on a straight-line basis, with the exception 

of certain items such as customer relationships and other 

acquired intangibles, which are amortized on an acceler-

ated basis.

Aggregate Amortization Expense:

For the 53 weeks ended May 3, 2014 $ 17,835

For the 52 weeks ended April 27, 2013 $ 21,426

For the 52 weeks ended April 28, 2012 $ 18,415

Estimated Amortization Expense:

(12 months ending on or about April 30)

2015  $ 14,704

2016 $ 11,224

2017 $ 10,948

2018 $ 10,732

2019 $ 10,539

The Company tests unamortizable intangible assets by 

comparing the fair value and the carrying value of such 

assets. The Company also completed its annual impairment 

tests for its other unamortizable intangible assets by com-

paring the estimated fair value to the carrying value of such 

assets. Impairment losses included in selling and adminis-

trative expenses related to unamortizable intangible assets 

totaled $1,602, $0 and $0 during fiscal 2014, fiscal 2013 and 

fiscal 2012, respectively. Changes in market conditions, 

among other factors, could have a material impact on these 

estimates.
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These impairments in fiscal 2014 relate to a certain 

publishing contract. The publishing contracts include the 

value of long-standing relationships with authors, agents 

and publishers established upon the Company’s acquisi-

tion of Sterling in 2003. Given Sterling’s strong history of 

maintaining such relationships, the Company believes they 

produce value indefinitely without an identifiable remain-

ing useful life. However, given the continued declines in 

the physical book business, certain of these contracts were 

impaired as of its most recent impairment testing date.

On October 17, 2011, the Company finalized the purchase 

of certain intellectual property assets from the Borders 

Group, Inc. Chapter 11 Bankruptcy for $14,528 includ-

ing acquisition related fees. These intellectual property 

assets include a customer list, trade names and URLs. 

The Company accounted for the transaction as an asset 

purchase, and these assets are included on its consolidated 

balance sheet as Intangible Assets. The intangible assets 

are being amortized on an accelerated basis over a three-

year period, commencing October 17, 2011. Amortization 

expense related to the acquisition of these assets for fiscal 

2013 was $5,145.

The changes in the carrying amount of goodwill by segment 

for fiscal 2014 are as follows:

B&N 
Retail 

Segment

B&N 
College 

Segment
NOOK 

Segment
Total 

Company

Balance as of April 28, 2012 $ 225,336  274,070 20,279 $ 519,685

Benefit of excess tax 
amortizationa (3,910)  — — (3,910)

Tikatok impairment (see Note 
13)  —  — (1,947)  (1,947)

NOOK impairmentb — — (18,332) (18,332)

Balance as of April 27, 2013 $ 221,426  274,070 — $ 495,496

Benefit of excess tax 
amortizationa (2,307) — — (2,307)

Balance as of May 3, 2014 $ 219,119 274,070 — $ 493,189

a The tax basis of goodwill arising from an acquisition during the 52 
weeks ended January 29, 2005 exceeded the related basis for financial 
reporting purposes by approximately $96,576. In accordance with ASC 
740-10-30, Accounting for Income Taxes, the Company is recognizing 
the tax benefits of amortizing such excess as a reduction of goodwill as 
it is realized on the Company’s income tax return.

b During the fourth quarter of 2013, the Company determined that good-
will impairment indicators arose in its NOOK reporting unit as recurring 
losses have led to revisions in its strategic plans. As a result, during 
the fourth quarter of fiscal 2013, the Company recorded a non-cash 
goodwill impairment charge of $18,332 in selling and administrative 
expenses, which represented all the goodwill in the NOOK reporting 
unit.

11 .  MICROSOFT INVESTMENT

On April 27, 2012, the Company entered into an investment 

agreement between the Company, Morrison, and Microsoft 

pursuant to which the Company would form a Delaware 

limited liability company (NOOK Media), and transfer to 

NOOK Media the Company’s digital device, digital content 

and college bookstore businesses and NOOK Media would 

sell to Morrison, and Morrison would purchase, 300,000 

convertible preferred membership interests in NOOK 

Media (Series A Preferred) for an aggregate purchase price 

of $300,000.

Concurrently with its entry into this agreement, the 

Company also entered into a commercial agreement with 

Microsoft, pursuant to which, among other things, NOOK 

Media would develop and distribute a Windows 8 applica-

tion for eReading and digital content purchases, and an 

intellectual property license and settlement agreement 

with Microsoft and Microsoft Licensing GP.

The parties closed Morrison’s investment in NOOK Media 

and the commercial agreement became effective on 

October 4, 2012.

Investment Agreement

Pursuant to the agreement, Microsoft invested $300,000 in 

NOOK Media in exchange for 300,000 Series A Preferred 

interests, representing approximately 17.6% of the 

common membership interests in NOOK Media on an 

as-converted basis as of closing. Following Microsoft’s 

investment, the Company retained the common member-

ship interest in NOOK Media, representing approximately 

82.4% of the common membership interests in NOOK 

Media (after giving effect to the conversion of the Series A 

Preferred interests into common membership interests) 

as of closing. The investment agreement is classified as 

temporary equity in the mezzanine section of the balance 

sheet between liabilities and permanent equity, net of 

investment fees. The temporary equity designation is due 

to a potential put feature after five years from the closing 

of the investment agreement on the preferred member-

ship interests. The preferred membership interests have a 

liquidation preference equal to the original investment.

Commercial Agreement

Under the commercial agreement, NOOK Media has 

developed and will continue to develop certain applications 

for Windows 8 for purchasing and consumption of digital 

reading content. The commercial agreement also requires 

NOOK Media to use its good faith efforts to undertake an 

international expansion of the digital business.
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As part of the commercial agreement, NOOK Media and 

Microsoft share in the revenues, net of certain items, from 

digital content purchased from NOOK Media by custom-

ers using the NOOK Media Windows 8 applications or 

through certain Microsoft products and services that may 

be developed in the future and are designed to interact with 

the NOOK Media online bookstore. Microsoft has made and 

is obligated to continue to make certain guaranteed advance 

payments to NOOK Media in connection with such revenue 

sharing. For each of the first three years after the launch of 

such application for Windows 8, these advance payments 

are equal to $60,000 per year. These advance payments are 

subject to deferral under certain circumstances. Microsoft 

also has paid and is obligated to continue to pay to NOOK 

Media $25,000 each year for the first five years of the term 

for purposes of assisting NOOK Media in acquiring local 

digital reading content and technology development in the 

performance of NOOK Media’s obligations under the com-

mercial agreement.

The guaranteed advance payments in connection with rev-

enue sharing as well as the amounts received for purposes 

of assisting NOOK Media in acquiring local digital read-

ing content and technology development received from 

Microsoft are treated as debt in accordance with ASC 470-

10-25-2, Sales of Future Revenues or Various Other Measures of 

Income. The Company has estimated the cash flows associ-

ated with the commercial agreement and is amortizing the 

discount on the debt to interest expense over the term of 

the agreement in accordance with ASC 835-30-35-2, The 

Interest Method. Notwithstanding this treatment, the limited 

liability company agreement of NOOK Media provides that, 

under certain conditions, partnership losses or deductions 

can be allocated for income tax purposes to Microsoft in 

respect of amounts advanced to NOOK Media under the 

terms of the Commercial Agreement.

Settlement and License Agreement

The patent agreement provides for Microsoft and its 

subsidiaries to license to the Company and its affiliates 

certain intellectual property in exchange for royalty pay-

ments based on sales of certain devices. Additionally, the 

Company and Microsoft dismissed certain outstanding 

patent litigation between the Company, Microsoft and their 

respective affiliates in accordance with the settlement and 

license agreement. The Company records the royalty 

expense upon future NOOK® sales in the statement of 

operations in cost of sales and occupancy with no expense 

or liability for the sale of devices prior to this agreement.

12 .  PEARSON

On December 21, 2012, NOOK Media entered into an agree-

ment with a subsidiary of Pearson plc (Pearson) to make 

a strategic investment in NOOK Media. That transaction 

closed on January 22, 2013, and Pearson invested approxi-

mately $89,500 of cash in NOOK Media in exchange for 

preferred membership interests representing a 5% equity 

stake in NOOK Media. Following the closing of the transac-

tion, the Company owns approximately 78.2% of the NOOK 

Media subsidiary and Microsoft, which also holds preferred 

membership interests, owns approximately 16.8%. The 

preferred membership interests have a liquidation prefer-

ence equal to the original investment. In addition, NOOK 

Media granted warrants to Pearson to purchase up to an 

additional 5% of NOOK Media under certain conditions at 

a pre-money valuation of NOOK Media. The fair value of 

the preferred membership interests warrant liability was 

calculated using the Monte Carlo simulation approach.

This methodology values financial instruments whose 

value is dependent on an underlying total equity value 

by sampling random paths for the total equity value. The 

assumptions that are analyzed and incorporated into the 

model include closing date, valuation date, sales price of 

the preferred membership interests and warrants, warrant 

expiration date, time to liquidity event, risk-free rate, vola-

tility, various correlations and the probability of meeting 

the net sales target. Based on the Company’s analysis, the 

total fair value of preferred membership interests warrants 

as of the valuation date was $1,700 and was recorded as a 

noncurrent asset and a long term liability. During the 13 

weeks ended January 25, 2014, management determined 

that the probability of meeting the net sales target by the 

warrant measurement date was remote and fully wrote 

down the value of the warrant accordingly. Management 

will continue to monitor the sales projections in relation to 

the sales target.

At closing, NOOK Media and Pearson entered into a com-

mercial agreement with respect to distributing Pearson 

content in connection with this strategic investment. On 

December 27, 2013, NOOK Media entered into an amend-

ment to the commercial agreement that extends the term of 

the agreement and the timing of the measurement period 

to meet certain revenue share milestones.
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13 .  TIKATOK IMPAIRMENT CHARGE

During fiscal 2013, the Company decided to shut down 

the operations of Tikatok. Tikatok was an online platform 

where parents and their children and others can write, 

illustrate and publish stories into hardcover and paperback 

books. This decision resulted in an impairment charge of 

$1,973, including the write-off of goodwill of $1,947 and 

intangible assets of $26 during the second quarter of fiscal 

2013. The effect of Tikatok operations is not material to the 

overall results of the Company.

14 .  L IBERTY INVESTMENT

On August 18, 2011, the Company entered into an invest-

ment agreement between the Company and Liberty GIC, 

Inc. (Liberty), a subsidiary of Liberty Media Corporation, 

pursuant to which the Company issued and sold to 

Liberty, and Liberty purchased, 204,000 shares of the 

Company’s Series J Preferred Stock, par value $0.001 

per share (Preferred Stock), for an aggregate purchase 

price of $204,000, in a private placement exempt from 

the registration requirements of the 1933 Act. The shares 

of Preferred Stock will be convertible, at the option of 

the holders, into shares of Common Stock representing 

16.6% of the Common Stock outstanding as of August 29, 

2011, (after giving pro forma effect to the issuance of the 

Preferred Stock), based on the initial conversion rate. The 

initial conversion rate reflects an initial conversion price 

of $17.00 and is subject to adjustment in certain circum-

stances. The initial dividend rate for the Preferred Stock is 

equal to 7.75% per annum of the initial liquidation prefer-

ence of the Preferred Stock, to be paid quarterly and subject 

to adjustment in certain circumstances. The Preferred 

Stock is mandatorily redeemable on August 18, 2021 and 

may be redeemed at the discretion of the Company any-

time after August 17, 2016. Starting August 18, 2013, if the 

closing price of the Common Stock exceeds 150% of the 

then-applicable conversion price of the Preferred Stock 

for 20 consecutive trading days, the Company may require 

conversion of all the Preferred Stock to Common Stock.

The holders of the Preferred Stock have the same vot-

ing rights as holders of the Company Common Stock and 

are entitled to elect one or two directors to the board of 

directors of the Company as long as certain Preferred Share 

ownership requirements are met.

The Preferred Stock does not meet the categories of 

ASC 480-10, Distinguishing Liabilities from Equity, and is 

therefore reported as temporary equity for classification 

purposes. The related issuance costs, which include advi-

sory, legal and accounting fees, of $12,621 were recorded 

in temporary equity as a reduction of the proceeds from 

the Liberty investment. The Company will be required to 

accrete these fees on a straight-line basis as dividends over 

the ten year term. This is in line with ASC 480-10-S99 for 

SEC registrants, which requires shares to be classified out-

side of permanent equity as temporary equity or mezzanine 

equity when there are events not solely within the control 

of the issuer that could trigger redemption. The Company 

has determined that the various embedded options did not 

require bifurcation from the Preferred Stock. Additionally, 

the Company concluded that a beneficial conversion 

feature did not exist as the effective conversion price was 

greater than the Company’s share price on the commitment 

date.

On April 8, 2014, Liberty sold the majority of its shares 

to qualified institutional buyers in reliance on Rule 144A 

under the Securities Act and has retained an approximate 

10 percent stake of its initial investment. As a result, 

Liberty will no longer have the right to elect two preferred 

stock directors to the Company’s Board. Additionally, the 

consent rights and pre-emptive rights to which Liberty was 

previously entitled ceased to apply.

15 .  SHAREHOLDERS’  EQUITY

On November 17, 2009, the Board of Directors of the 

Company declared a dividend, payable to stockholders of 

record on November 27, 2009 of one right (a Right) per 

each share of outstanding Common Stock of the Company, 

par value $0.001 per share (Common Stock), to purchase 

1/1000th of a share of Series I Preferred Stock, par value 

$0.001 per share, of the Company (the Preferred Stock), 

at a price of $100.00 per share (such amount, as may 

be adjusted from time to time as provided in the Rights 

Agreement). In connection therewith, on November 17, 

2009, the Company entered into a Rights Agreement, dated 

November 17, 2009 (as amended February 17, 2010, June 

23, 2010, October 29, 2010 and August 18, 2011, the Rights 

Agreement) with Mellon Investor Services LLC, as Rights 

Agent. The Rights expired on November 17, 2012.

On May 15, 2007, the Company’s Board of Directors 

authorized a stock repurchase program for the purchase 

of up to $400,000 of the Company’s common stock. The 

maximum dollar value of common stock that may yet be 

purchased under the current program is approximately 

$2,471 as of May 3, 2014. Stock repurchases under this 

program may be made through open market and privately 
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negotiated transactions from time to time and in such 

amounts as management deems appropriate. As of May 3, 

2014 the Company has repurchased 34,363,899 shares at a 

cost of approximately $1,069,109 under its stock repurchase 

programs. The repurchased shares are held in treasury.

16 .  COMMITMENTS AND CONTINGENCIES

The Company leases retail stores, warehouse facilities, 

office space and equipment. Substantially all of the B&N 

Retail stores are leased under noncancelable agreements, 

which expire at various dates through 2036 with various 

renewal options for additional periods. The agreements, 

which have been classified as operating leases, generally 

provide for both minimum and percentage rentals and 

require the Company to pay insurance, taxes and other 

maintenance costs. Percentage rentals are based on sales 

performance in excess of specified minimums at various 

stores.

B&N College’s contracts are typically for five to ten years, 

although some extend beyond ten years. Many contracts 

have a 90 to 120 day cancellation right by B&N College, or 

by the college or university, without penalty.

The Company leases office space in New York, New York 

and Palo Alto, California for its NOOK operations (Note 21).

Rental expense under operating leases is as follows:

Fiscal 2014 Fiscal 2013 Fiscal 2012

Minimum rentals $ 424,952  413,751  382,386

Percentage rentals 98,467 101,960  107,127

$ 523,419  515,711  489,513

Future minimum annual rentals, excluding percentage 

rentals, required under B&N Retail leases that had initial, 

noncancelable lease terms greater than one year, under 

B&N College and NOOK leases as of May 3, 2014 are:

Fiscal Year a

2015 $ 421,268

2016 374,803

2017 328,928

2018 258,375

2019 193,103

After 2019 364,624

$ 1,941,101

a Includes B&N College capital lease obligations of $232, $232, $39, $0, $0 
and $0 for 2015, 2016, 2017, 2018, 2019 and after 2019, respectively.

The Company provides for minimum rent expense over the 

lease terms (including the build-out period) on a straight-

line basis. The excess of such rent expense over actual lease 

payments (net of tenant allowances) is reflected in other 

long-term liabilities and accrued liabilities in the accom-

panying balance sheets.

On June 26, 2008, the Company exercised its purchase 

option under a lease on one of its distribution facilities 

located in South Brunswick, New Jersey from the New 

Jersey Economic Development Authority. Under the terms 

of the lease expiring in June 2011, the Company purchased 

the distribution facility and equipment for approxi-

mately $21,000. Subsequently, on December 29, 2011, the 

Company sold the distribution facility in South Brunswick, 

New Jersey for $18,000, which resulted in a loss of $2,178.

Purchase obligations, which includes hardware and 

software maintenance contracts and inventory purchase 

commitments, as of May 3, 2014 are as follows:

Less Than 1 Year $ 205,281

1-3 Years 72,975

3-5 Years 273

More Than 5 Years —

Total $ 278,529

17 .  SEGMENT REPORTING

The Company’s three operating segments are: B&N Retail, 

B&N College and NOOK.

B&N Retail

This segment includes 661 bookstores as of May 3, 2014, 

primarily under the Barnes & Noble Booksellers trade 

name. The 661 Barnes & Noble stores generally offer a 

dedicated NOOK® area, a comprehensive trade book title 

base, a café, and departments dedicated to Juvenile, Toys & 

Games, DVDs, Music, Gift, Magazine and Bargain products. 

The stores also offer a calendar of ongoing events, includ-

ing author appearances and children’s activities. The B&N 

Retail segment also includes the Company’s eCommerce 

website, barnesandnoble.com, and its publishing opera-

tion, Sterling Publishing.

B&N College

This segment includes 700 stores as of May 3, 2014, that are 

primarily school-owned stores operated under contracts 

by B&N College and include sales of digital content within 

the higher education marketplace through Yuzu™. The 700 

B&N College stores generally offer new, used, rental and 
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digital textbooks, course-related materials, emblematic 

apparel and gifts, trade books, computer products, NOOK® 

products and related accessories, school and dorm sup-

plies, and convenience and café items.

NOOK

This segment includes the Company’s digital business, 

including the development and support of the Company’s 

NOOK® product offerings. The digital business includes 

digital content such as eBooks, digital newsstand, apps 

and sales of NOOK® devices and accessories to third party 

distribution partners, B&N Retail and B&N College.

Summarized financial information concerning the 

Company’s reportable segments is presented below:

Sales by Segment

53 weeks 
ended May  

3, 2014

52 weeks 
ended April 

27, 2013

52 weeks 
ended April 

28, 2012

B&N Retail $ 4,295,110 $ 4,568,243 $ 4,852,913

B&N College 1,748,042 1,763,248 1,743,662

NOOK 505,862 780,433 933,471

Elimination (167,657) (272,919) (400,847)

Total $ 6,381,357 $ 6,839,005 $ 7,129,199

Sales by Product Line

53 weeks 
ended May  

3, 2014

52 weeks 
ended April 

27, 2013

52 weeks 
ended April 

28, 2012

Mediaa 68% 67% 66%

Digitalb 9% 12% 15%

Otherc 23% 21% 19%

Total 100% 100% 100%

Depreciation and 
Amortization

53 weeks 
ended May  

3, 2014

52 weeks 
ended April 

27, 2013

52 weeks 
ended April 

28, 2012

B&N Retail $ 125,991 $ 148,855 $ 162,693

B&N College 48,014 46,849 45,343

NOOK 42,802 31,430 24,631

Total $ 216,807 $ 227,134 $ 232,667

Operating Profit/(Loss)

53 weeks 
ended May  

3, 2014

52 weeks 
ended April 

27, 2013

52 weeks 
ended April 

28, 2012

B&N Retail $ 228,062 $ 227,235 $ 161,136

B&N College 66,536 64,609 70,604

NOOK (260,406)  (511,848) (286,343)

Total $ 34,192 $ (220,004) $ (54,603)

Capital Expenditures

53 weeks 
ended May 3, 

2014

52 weeks 
ended April 

27, 2013

52 weeks 
ended April 

28, 2012

B&N Retail $ 66,763 $ 51,401 $ 87,596

B&N College 38,253 38,760 40,479

NOOK 29,965 75,674 35,477

Total $ 134,981 $ 165,835 $ 163,552

Total Assetsd As of May 3, 2014 As of April 27, 2013

B&N Retail $ 2,234,795 $ 2,193,458

B&N College 1,146,475 995,034

NOOK 156,179 544,044

Total $3,537,449 $ 3,732,536

a  Includes tangible books, music, movies, rentals and newsstand.

b Includes NOOK, related accessories, eContent and warranties.

c Includes Toys & Games, café products, gifts and miscellaneous other.

d Excludes intercompany balances.

A reconciliation of operating profit from reportable seg-

ments to income (loss) from continuing operations before 

taxes in the consolidated financial statements is as follows:

53 weeks 
ended May  

3, 2014

52 weeks 
ended April 

27, 2013

52 weeks 
ended April 

28, 2012

Reportable segments 
operating income (loss) $ 34,192 $ (220,004) $ (54,603)

Interest expense, net and 
amortization of deferred 
financing costs (29,507) (35,345) (35,304)

Consolidated income (loss) 
before taxes $ 4,685 $ (255,349) $ (89,907)

18 .  LEGAL PROCEEDINGS

The Company is involved in a variety of claims, suits, 

investigations and proceedings that arise from time to time 

in the ordinary course of its business, including actions 

with respect to contracts, intellectual property, taxation, 

employment, benefits, securities, personal injuries and 

other matters. The results of these proceedings in the ordi-

nary course of business are not expected to have a material 

adverse effect on the Company’s consolidated financial 

position or results of operations.

The Company records a liability when it believes that it 

is both probable that a liability will be incurred, and the 

amount of loss can be reasonably estimated. The Company 

evaluates, at least quarterly, developments in its legal mat-
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ters that could affect the amount of liability that has been 

previously accrued and makes adjustments as appropri-

ate. Significant judgment is required to determine both 

probability and the estimated amount of a loss or potential 

loss. The Company may be unable to reasonably estimate 

the reasonably possible loss or range of loss for a particular 

legal contingency for various reasons, including, among 

others: (i) if the damages sought are indeterminate; (ii) if 

proceedings are in the early stages; (iii) if there is uncer-

tainty as to the outcome of pending proceedings (including 

motions and appeals); (iv) if there is uncertainty as to the 

likelihood of settlement and the outcome of any negotia-

tions with respect thereto; (v) if there are significant factual 

issues to be determined or resolved; (vi) if the proceedings 

involve a large number of parties; (vii) if relevant law is 

unsettled or novel or untested legal theories are presented; 

or (viii) if the proceedings are taking place in jurisdictions 

where the laws are complex or unclear. In such instances, 

there is considerable uncertainty regarding the ultimate 

resolution of such matters, including a possible eventual 

loss, if any. With respect to the legal matters described 

below, the Company has determined, based on its current 

knowledge, that the amount of loss or range of loss, that 

is reasonably possible including any reasonably possible 

losses in excess of amounts already accrued, is not rea-

sonably estimable. However, legal matters are inherently 

unpredictable and subject to significant uncertainties, 

some of which are beyond the Company’s control. As 

such, there can be no assurance that the final outcome of 

these matters will not materially and adversely affect the 

Company’s business, financial condition, results of opera-

tions, or cash flows.

The following is a discussion of the material legal matters 

involving the Company.

PATENT LITIGATION

Barnes & Noble, Inc. and its subsidiaries are subject to 

allegations of patent infringement by various patent hold-

ers, including non-practicing entities, sometimes referred 

to as “patent trolls,” who may seek monetary settlements 

from the Company, its competitors, suppliers and resellers. 

In some of these cases, the Company is the sole defendant. 

In others, the Company is one of a number of defendants. 

The Company is actively defending a number of patent 

infringement suits, and several pending claims are in vari-

ous stages of evaluation. The following cases are among the 

patent infringement cases pending against the Company:

Technology Properties Limited et al. v. Barnes & Noble, Inc., 

et al.

On July 24, 2012, Technology Properties Limited, LLC, 

Phoenix Digital Solutions, LLC, and Patriot Scientific 

Corporation (collectively, TPL) submitted a complaint to 

the U.S. International Trade Commission (ITC), captioned 

Certain Wireless Consumer Electronics Devices and 

Components thereof, Inv. No. 337-TA-853, requesting that 

the ITC institute an investigation pursuant to Section 337 

of the Tariff Act of 1930, as amended. The complaint alleges 

that the sale for importation into the United States, the 

importation, and/or the sale within the United States after 

importation of the Company’s NOOK™ products infringe 

certain claims of U.S. Patent No. 5,809,336 (’336). The 

complaint also asserts similar claims against the products 

of 23 other Respondents. The complaint requests that the 

ITC issue a permanent exclusion order and a permanent 

cease-and-desist order with respect to these products. 

On September 24, 2012, the Company filed a response to 

the complaint, denying that its products infringe the ’336 

patent and denying that it has engaged in any action that 

would constitute unlawful sale for importation into the 

United States, importation, or sale within the United States 

after importation. The Company also asserted ten affirma-

tive defenses. On June 3-7, 2013 and June 10-11, 2013, the 

Administrative Law Judge (ALJ) conducted a hearing in the 

action. On September 6, 2013, the ALJ issued his Initial 

Determination on Violation of Section 337 (ID), in which 

the ALJ found that neither the Company nor any of the 

other Respondents had violated Section 337. On November 

25, 2013, the Commission granted partial review of the ID. 

On February 19, 2014, the Commission issued its Notice 

of Commission Determination Finding No Violation of 

Section 337; Termination of Investigation (Notice). In its 

Notice, the Commission affirmed the ALJ’s challenged 

claim constructions and non-infringement findings and, 

therefore, terminated the investigation. TPL failed to 

appeal this determination to the Court of Appeals for the 

Federal Circuit.

Also on July 24, 2012, TPL filed a complaint against the 

Company in the United States District Court for the 

Northern District of California. The complaint similarly 

alleges that the Company is infringing the ’336 patent 

through the importation and sale in the United States of 

NOOK™ products. The complaint also alleges that Barnes 

& Noble is infringing two other patents in the same patent 

family: U.S. Patent No. 5,440,749 and U.S. Patent No. 

5,530,890. On September 26, 2012, the District Court 

stayed the action pending final resolution of the ITC inves-

2014 Annual Report  55



tigation. On May 19, 2014, the District Court lifted the stay. 

On June 9, 2014, the Company answered the complaint, 

denying TPL’s material allegations, asserting several affir-

mative defenses, and asserting counterclaims for a declara-

tory judgment of non-infringement and invalidity. A case 

management conference is scheduled on July 11, 2014.

Adrea LLC v. Barnes & Noble, Inc., barnesandnoble.com llc 

and Nook Media LLC

On June 14, 2013, Adrea LLC filed a complaint against 

Barnes & Noble, Inc., barnesandnoble.com llc and Nook 

Media LLC (B&N) in the United States District Court for 

the Southern District of New York alleging that various B&N 

NOOK products and related online services infringe U.S. 

Patent Nos. 7,298,851, 7,299,501 and 7,620,703. B&N filed 

its Answer on August 9, 2013, denying infringement and 

asserting several affirmative defenses. At the same time, 

B&N filed counterclaims seeking declaratory judgments of 

non-infringement and invalidity with respect to each of the 

patents-in-suit. Following the claim construction hearing 

held on November 1, 2013 (as to which the Court issued a 

claim construction order on December 1, 2013), the Court 

set a further amended case management schedule, under 

which fact discovery was to be (and has been) substan-

tially completed by November 20, 2013, and concluded by 

December 9, 2013; and expert disclosures and discovery 

were to be (and have been) completed by January 17, 2014. 

According to the amended case management schedule, 

summary judgment motion briefing was to have been, and 

has now been completed as of February 21, 2014. The final 

pretrial conference, originally scheduled to be held on 

February 28, 2014, was adjourned by the Court until April 

10, 2014. On that date the summary judgment motions were 

orally argued to the Court, and the Court reserved deci-

sion on such motions until a later date. The parties then 

discussed various pretrial proceedings with the Court, and 

the Court set the date of October 6, 2014 for trial.

Commonwealth Scientific and Industrial Research 

Organisation v. Barnes & Noble, Inc., et al.

On August 27, 2012, Commonwealth Scientific and 

Industrial Research Organisation (CSIRO) filed a com-

plaint against Barnes & Noble, Inc. and seven other 

defendants in the United States District Court for the 

Eastern District of Texas. The complaint alleges that the 

Company is infringing U.S. Patent No. 5,487,069 (’069 

patent). On October 19, 2012, the Company answered 

the complaint, denying CSIRO’s material allegations, 

asserting several affirmative defenses, and asserting 

counterclaims for a declaratory judgment of invalidity and 

non-infringement. On February 19, 2013, the Company 

amended its answer to add an affirmative defense that the 

’069 patent is unenforceable due to inequitable conduct. 

On November 23, 2013, the ’069 patent expired. On January 

23, 2014, CSIRO served an amended complaint to allege 

that the Company is infringing the ’069 patent because its 

products may support the 802.11 ac and draft ac standards. 

In this amended complaint, CSIRO dropped its request for 

injunctive relief. On January 23, 2014, the Company served 

an amended answer to set forth additional Fair, Reasonable 

and Non-Discriminatory (F/RAND) related defenses and 

counterclaims: breach of contract, promissory estoppel, 

and waiver. On February 6, 2014, the Company and CSIRO 

responded to these amended pleadings.

On April 25, 2013, the District Court entered a discovery 

order and docket control order. On May 12, 2014, the 

Magistrate Judge assigned to the action issued a memo-

randum opinion and order in which the Magistrate Judge 

construed certain claim terms in the ‘069 patent and 

recommended denying Defendants’ motion for summary 

judgment of invalidity on the grounds of indefiniteness 

as to certain other claim terms in the ‘069 patent. On May 

26, 2014, CSIRO filed objections to the Magistrate Judge’s 

May 12, 2014 memorandum opinion and order. On May 27, 

2014, Defendants also filed objections to the Magistrate 

Judge’s May 12, 2014 memorandum opinion and order. 

The parties’ objections are still pending before the District 

Judge overseeing the action. In considering the parties’ 

objections, the District Judge will conduct a de novo review 

of the Magistrate Judge’s May 12, 2014 memorandum 

opinion and order. The District Court has set the trial date 

for July 6, 2015.

OTHER LITIGATION AND PROCEEDINGS

Kevin Khoa Nguyen, an individual, on behalf of himself and 

all others similarly situated v. Barnes & Noble, Inc.

On April 17, 2012, a complaint was filed in the Superior 

Court for the State of California against the Company. 

The complaint is styled as a nationwide class action and 

includes a California state-wide subclass based on alleged 

cancellations of orders for HP TouchPad Tablets placed on 

the Company’s website in August 2011. The lawsuit alleges 

claims for unfair business practices and false advertising 

under both New York and California state law, violation of 

the Consumer Legal Remedies Act under California law, 

and breach of contract. The complaint demands specific 

performance of the alleged contracts to sell HP TouchPad 

Tablets at a specified price, injunctive relief, and mon-

etary relief, but does not specify an amount. The Company 
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submitted its initial response to the complaint on May 18, 

2012, and moved to compel plaintiff to arbitrate his claims 

on an individual basis pursuant to a contractual arbitration 

provision on May 25, 2012. The Company has also moved 

to dismiss the complaint and moved to transfer the action 

to New York. The court denied the Company’s motion to 

compel arbitration, and the Company appealed that denial 

to the Ninth Circuit Court of Appeals. The court granted 

the Company’s motion to stay on November 26, 2012, 

and the action has been stayed pending resolution of the 

Company’s appeal from the court’s denial of its motion to 

compel arbitration. The Company filed its opening brief on 

the appeal on February 11, 2013. The answering brief was 

filed on April 13, 2013, and the Company’s reply brief was 

filed on May 23, 2013. The appeal was argued and submitted 

on May 16, 2014.

PIN Pad Litigation

As previously disclosed, the Company discovered that 

PIN pads in certain of its stores had been tampered with 

to allow criminal access to card data and PIN numbers 

on credit and debit cards swiped through the terminals. 

Following public disclosure of this matter on October 24, 

2012, the Company was served with four putative class 

action complaints (three in federal district court in the 

Northern District of Illinois and one in the Northern 

District of California), each of which alleged on behalf of 

national and other classes of customers who swiped credit 

and debit cards in Barnes & Noble Retail stores common 

law claims such as negligence, breach of contract and inva-

sion of privacy, as well as statutory claims such as violations 

of the Fair Credit Reporting Act, state data breach notifi-

cation statutes, and state unfair and deceptive practices 

statutes. The actions sought various forms of relief includ-

ing damages, injunctive or equitable relief, multiple or 

punitive damages, attorneys’ fees, costs, and interest. All 

four cases were transferred and/or assigned to a single 

judge in the United States District Court for the Northern 

District of Illinois, and a single consolidated amended 

complaint was filed. The Company filed a motion to dismiss 

the consolidated amended complaint in its entirety, and in 

September 2013, the Court granted the motion to dismiss 

without prejudice. The Plaintiffs then filed an amended 

complaint, and the Company filed a second motion to 

dismiss. That motion is pending.

The Company also has received inquiries related to this 

matter from the Federal Trade Commission and eight state 

attorneys general, all of which have either been closed or 

have not had any recent activity. The Company intends to 

cooperate with them if further activity arises. In addition, 

payment card companies and associations may impose 

fines by reason of the tampering and federal or state 

enforcement authorities may impose penalties or other 

remedies against the Company.

Lina v. Barnes & Noble, Inc., and Barnes & Noble 

Booksellers, Inc. et al.

On August 5, 2011, a purported class action complaint was 

filed against Barnes & Noble, Inc. and Barnes & Noble 

Booksellers, Inc. in the Superior Court for the State of 

California making the following allegations against defen-

dants with respect to salaried Store Managers at Barnes 

& Noble stores located in the State of California from the 

period of August 5, 2007 to present: (1) failure to pay wages 

and overtime; (2) failure to pay for missed meals and/

or rest breaks; (3) waiting time penalties; (4) failure to 

pay minimum wage; (5) failure to reimburse for business 

expenses; and (6) failure to provide itemized wage state-

ments. The claims are generally derivative of the allegation 

that these salaried managers were improperly classified 

as exempt from California’s wage and hour laws. The 

complaint contains no allegations concerning the number 

of any such alleged violations or the amount of recovery 

sought on behalf of the purported class. The Company was 

served with the complaint on August 11, 2011. The parties 

have completed pre-certification discovery. Plaintiff’s 

motion for class certification was filed November 11, 2013, 

Barnes & Noble’s opposition was filed February 28, 2014, 

and plaintiff’s reply was filed April 11, 2014. The hearing 

date for the certification motion is scheduled for July 1, 

2014. No trial date has been set.

Jones et al v. Barnes & Noble, Inc., and Barnes & Noble 

Booksellers, Inc. et al.

On April 23, 2013, Kenneth Jones (Jones) filed a purported 

Private Attorney General Act action complaint against 

Barnes & Noble, Inc. and Barnes & Noble Booksellers, Inc. 

in the Superior Court for the State of California making 

the following allegations against defendants with respect 

to salaried Store Managers at Barnes & Noble stores 

located in the State of California: (1) failure to pay wages 

and overtime; (2) failure to pay for missed meal and/or 

rest breaks; (3) waiting time penalties; (4) failure to pay 

minimum wage; (5) failure to provide reimbursement for 

business expenses; and (6) failure to provide itemized 

wage statements. The claims are generally derivative of 

the allegation that Jones and other “aggrieved employees” 

were improperly classified as exempt from California’s 

wage and hour laws. The complaint contains no allegations 

concerning the number of any such alleged violations or 

2014 Annual Report  57



the amount of recovery sought on behalf of the plaintiff or 

the purported aggrieved employees. The case was initially 

assigned to the Honorable Barbara Scheper. Because the 

underlying factual claims in the Jones complaint are almost 

identical to the claims in the Lina v. Barnes & Noble action, 

the Company filed a Notice of Related Case on May 1, 2013. 

On May 7, 2013, Judge Michael Johnson (before whom the 

Lina action is pending) ordered the Jones action related to 

the Lina action and assigned the Jones action to himself. 

The Company was served with the complaint on May 16, 

2013, and filed an answer on June 10, 2013. The hearing 

date for the case management conference is scheduled for 

July 1, 2014.

Cassandra Carag individually and on behalf of others 

similarly situated v. Barnes & Noble, Inc, Barnes & Noble 

Booksellers, Inc. and DOES 1 through 100 inclusive

On November 27, 2013, former Associate Store Manager 

Cassandra Carag (Carag) brought suit in Sacramento 

County Superior Court, asserting claims on behalf of 

herself and all other hourly (non-exempt) Barnes & Noble 

employees in California in the preceding four years for 

unpaid regular and overtime wages based on alleged off-

the-clock work, penalties and pay based on missed meal 

and rest breaks, and for improper wage statements, payroll 

records, and untimely pay at separation as a result of the 

alleged pay errors during employment. Via the complaint, 

Carag seeks to recover unpaid wages and statutory penalties 

for all hourly Barnes & Noble employees within California 

from November 27, 2009 to present. On February 13, 2014, 

the Company filed an Answer in the state court and concur-

rently requested removal of the action to federal court. 

On May 30, 2014, the Court granted Plaintiff’s motion 

to remand the case to state court and denied Plaintiff’s 

motion to strike portions of the Answer to the Complaint 

(referring the latter motion to the lower court for future 

consideration). Written discovery has begun.

Trimmer v. Barnes & Noble

On January 25, 2013, Steven Trimmer (Trimmer), a former 

Assistant Store Manager (ASM) of the Company, filed 

a complaint in the United States District Court for the 

Southern District of New York alleging violations of the 

Fair Labor Standards Act (FLSA) and New York Labor Law 

(NYLL). Specifically, Trimmer alleges that he and other 

similarly situated ASMs were improperly classified as 

exempt from overtime and denied overtime wages prior to 

July 1, 2010, when the Company reclassified them as non-

exempt. The complaint seeks to certify a collective action 

under the FLSA comprised of ASMs throughout the country 

employed from January 25, 2010 until July 1, 2010, and a 

class action under the NYLL comprised of ASMs employed 

in New York from January 25, 2007 until July 1, 2010. The 

parties have completed the first phase of discovery with 

respect to the individual claims asserted by Trimmer and 

one opt-in plaintiff only. The Court has stayed all class-

wide discovery at this point. The Company filed a summary 

judgment motion on November 25, 2013. That motion is 

fully briefed. The hearing date for the summary judgment 

motion is scheduled for July 7, 2014.

David Shaev Profit Sharing Account v. Leonard Riggio et al.

On December 17, 2013, David Shaev Profit Sharing 

Account (Shaev) filed a verified shareholder derivative 

complaint against Leonard Riggio, George Campbell, Jr., 

Mark Carleton, William Dillard, II, David Golden, Patricia 

Higgins, Gregory Maffei and David Wilson (collectively, 

the defendants), and naming Barnes & Noble, Inc., as 

nominal defendant, in the Supreme Court of New York, 

County of New York. The complaint alleges that defendants 

(1) breached their fiduciary duties by knowingly or reck-

lessly permitting the Company to function without effective 

internal controls over financial reporting while simultane-

ously allowing the Company to assure the public that the 

Company’s internal controls functioned properly; and (2) 

abused their ability to control and influence the Company. 

The complaint was served on the Company on December 

19, 2013, and assigned to the Commercial Division of the 

Supreme Court on February 4, 2014. The Company filed a 

motion to dismiss the complaint on February 14, 2014, and 

in response, on March 14, 2014, Shaev filed an amended 

complaint. The Company filed a motion to dismiss the 

amended complaint on April 11, 2014, and Shaev filed an 

opposition to the motion to dismiss on May 19, 2014. The 

Company filed its reply on June 10, 2014.

Taylor v. Barnes & Noble, Inc., et al.

Maitland-Lewis v. Barnes & Noble, Inc., et al.

Anthony Taylor (Taylor) and Stephen Maitland-Lewis 

(Maitland-Lewis) filed class action complaints for viola-

tions of the federal securities law on January 8, 2014, 

and January 23, 2014, respectively. Both of these actions, 

which are substantially similar, were filed in the United 

States District Court for the Southern District of New York. 

Barnes & Noble, Inc., Leonard Riggio, William Lynch, Jr., 

and Michael Huseby are named as defendants in the Taylor 

action. Barnes & Noble, Inc., Michael Huseby, William 

Lynch, Jr. and Allen Lindstrom are named as defendants in 

the Maitland-Lewis action. The complaints allege viola-

tions of Section 10(b) of the Securities Exchange Act of 
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1934 and Rule 10b-5 promulgated thereunder (making 

false statements or otherwise engaging in a scheme to 

defraud, or omitting to state material facts causing infla-

tion of company stock), and Section 20(a) of the Securities 

Exchange Act of 1934 (liability for controlling persons). 

Specifically, plaintiffs allege that the defendants made, or 

caused the Company to make, false statements or omitted, 

or caused the Company to omit, material information with 

respect to the Company’s failure to implement adequate 

internal controls over financial reporting.

Securities and Exchange Commission (SEC) Investigation

 On October 16, 2013, the SEC’s New York Regional office 

notified the Company that it had commenced an inves-

tigation into: (1) the Company’s restatement of earnings 

announced on July 29, 2013, and (2) a separate matter 

related to a former non-executive employee’s allegation 

that the Company improperly allocated certain Information 

Technology expenses between its NOOK and Retail seg-

ments for purposes of segment reporting. The Company is 

cooperating with the SEC, including responding to requests 

for documents.

19 .  CERTAIN RELATIONSHIPS AND RELATED 
TRANSACTIONS

The Company believes that the transactions and agree-

ments discussed below (including renewals of any exist-

ing agreements) between the Company and related third 

parties are at least as favorable to the Company as could 

have been obtained from unrelated parties at the time they 

were entered into. The Audit Committee of the Board of 

Directors utilizes procedures in evaluating the terms and 

provisions of proposed related party transactions or agree-

ments in accordance with the fiduciary duties of directors 

under Delaware law. The Company’s related party transac-

tion procedures contemplate Audit Committee review and 

approval of all new agreements, transactions or courses 

of dealing with related parties, including any modifica-

tions, waivers or amendments to existing related party 

transactions. The Company tests to ensure that the terms 

of related party transactions are at least as favorable to 

the Company as could have been obtained from unrelated 

parties at the time of the transaction. The Audit Committee 

considers, at a minimum, the nature of the relationship 

between the Company and the related party, the history of 

the transaction (in the case of modifications, waivers or 

amendments), the terms of the proposed transaction, the 

Company’s rationale for entering the transaction and the 

terms of comparable transactions with unrelated third par-

ties. In addition, management and internal audit annually 

analyzes all existing related party agreements and transac-

tions and reviews them with the Audit Committee.

The Company completed the acquisition (the Acquisition) 

of B&N College from Leonard Riggio and Louise Riggio (the 

Sellers) on September 30, 2009. In connection with the 

closing of the Acquisition, the Company issued the Sellers 

(i) a senior subordinated note in the principal amount of 

$100,000, with interest of 8% per annum payable on the 

unpaid principal amount, which was paid on December 

15, 2010 in accordance with its scheduled due date, and 

(ii) a junior subordinated note in the principal amount of 

$150,000 (the Junior Seller Note), payable in full on the 

fifth anniversary of the closing of the Acquisition, with 

interest of 10% per annum payable on the unpaid principal 

amount. The Junior Seller Note was and is unsecured and 

subordinated to the obligations under Credit Facility as 

well as certain other senior obligations. The Company may 

prepay the Junior Seller Note at any time without premium 

or penalty to the extent not prohibited by the Credit Facility 

and senior debt documents. Pursuant to a settlement 

agreed to on June 13, 2012, the Sellers agreed to waive 

$22,750 of the purchase price by waiving a corresponding 

principal amount (and interest on such principal amount) 

of the Junior Seller Note.

B&N College has a long-term supply agreement (Supply 

Agreement) with MBS Textbook Exchange, Inc. (MBS), 

which is majority owned by Leonard Riggio, Stephen 

Riggio (formerly the Company’s Vice Chairman and Chief 

Executive Officer) and other members of the Riggio family. 

MBS is a new and used textbook wholesaler, which also 

sells textbooks online and provides bookstore systems 

and distant learning distribution services. Pursuant to 

the Supply Agreement, which has a term of ten years, and 

subject to availability and competitive terms and condi-

tions, B&N College will continue to purchase new and used 

printed textbooks for a given academic term from MBS 

prior to buying them from other suppliers, other than in 

connection with student buy-back programs. Additionally, 

the Supply Agreement provides for B&N College to sell to 

MBS certain textbooks that B&N College cannot return 

to suppliers or use in its stores. MBS pays B&N College 

commissions based on the volume of these textbooks sold 

to MBS each year and with respect to the textbook require-

ments of certain distance learning programs that MBS 

fulfills on B&N College’s behalf. MBS paid B&N College 

$7,097, $8,106 and $10,941 related to these commissions 

in fiscal 2014, fiscal 2013 and fiscal 2012, respectively. In 

addition, the Supply Agreement contains restrictive cove-

nants that limit the ability of B&N College and the Company 
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to become a used textbook wholesaler and that place certain 

limitations on MBS’s business activities. B&N College 

and Barnes & Noble.com also entered into an agreement 

with MBS in fiscal 2011 pursuant to which MBS agrees to 

purchase at the end of a given semester certain agreed upon 

textbooks, which B&N College and Barnes & Noble.com 

shall have rented to students during such semester. Total 

sales to MBS under this program were $1,388, $772 and 

$13,339 for fiscal 2014, fiscal 2013 and fiscal 2012, respec-

tively. In addition, B&N College entered into an agreement 

with MBS in fiscal 2011 pursuant to which MBS purchases 

books from B&N College, which have no resale value for 

a flat rate per box. Total sales to MBS under this program 

were $602, $503 and $364 for fiscal 2014, fiscal 2013 and 

fiscal 2012, respectively. Total outstanding amounts pay-

able to MBS for all arrangements net of any amounts due 

were $31,142 and $24,860 for fiscal 2014 and fiscal 2013, 

respectively.

The Company purchases new and used textbooks directly 

from MBS. Total purchases were $84,498, $93,514 and 

$101,980 for fiscal 2014, fiscal 2013 and fiscal 2012, respec-

tively. MBS sells used books through the Barnes & Noble.

com dealer network. The Company earned a commission 

of $2,231, $3,441 and $4,661 on the MBS used book sales 

in fiscal 2014, fiscal 2013 and fiscal 2012, respectively. In 

addition, Barnes & Noble.com hosts pages on its website 

through which Barnes & Noble.com customers are able 

to sell used books directly to MBS. The Company is paid a 

fixed commission on the price paid by MBS to the cus-

tomer. Total commissions paid to the Company were $99, 

$104 and $160 for fiscal 2014, fiscal 2013 and fiscal 2012, 

respectively.

In fiscal 2010, the Company entered into an agreement with 

TXTB.com LLC (TXTB), a subsidiary of MBS, pursuant to 

which the marketplace program on the Barnes & Noble.com 

website was made available through the TXTB website. The 

Company receives a fee from third party sellers for sales 

of marketplace items and, upon receipt of such fee, the 

Company remits a separate fee to TXTB for any marketplace 

items sold through the TXTB website. In fiscal 2013, the 

Company also entered into an agreement with MBS Direct, 

a division of MBS, pursuant to which the marketplace 

program on the Barnes & Noble.com website was made 

available through the MBS Direct website. The Company 

receives a fee from third party sellers for sales of market-

place items sold through the MBS Direct website and, upon 

receipt of such fee, remits a separate fee to MBS Direct 

for those sales. Total commissions paid to TXTB and MBS 

Direct were $192, $302 and $559 during fiscal 2014, fiscal 

2013 and fiscal 2012, respectively. Outstanding amounts 

payable to TXTB were $2, $3 and $6 for fiscal 2014, fis-

cal 2013 and fiscal 2012, respectively. In fiscal 2011, the 

Company entered into an agreement with TXTB pursuant to 

which the Company became the exclusive provider of trade 

books to TXTB customers through the TXTB website. TXTB 

receives a commission from the Company on each purchase 

by a TXTB customer. Total commissions paid to TXTB were 

$46, $78 and $148 during fiscal 2014, fiscal 2013 and fiscal 

2012, respectively. Outstanding amounts payable to TXTB 

and MBS Direct under this agreement were $0, $1 and $1 

for fiscal 2014, fiscal 2013 and fiscal 2012, respectively.

In fiscal 2010, the Company entered into an Aircraft Time 

Sharing Agreement with LR Enterprises Management LLC 

(LR Enterprises), which is owned by Leonard Riggio and 

Louise Riggio, pursuant to which LR Enterprises granted 

the Company the right to use a jet aircraft owned by it on a 

time-sharing basis in accordance with, and subject to the 

reimbursement of certain operating costs and expenses 

as provided in, the Federal Aviation Regulations (FAR). 

Such operating costs were $175, $159 and $1,015 during 

fiscal 2014, fiscal 2013 and fiscal 2012, respectively. LR 

Enterprises is solely responsible for the physical and tech-

nical operation of the aircraft, aircraft maintenance and the 

cost of maintaining aircraft liability insurance, other than 

insurance obtained for the specific flight as requested by 

the Company, as provided in the FAR.

The Company has leases for two locations for its corporate 

offices with related parties: the first location is leased from 

an entity in which Leonard Riggio has a majority interest 

and expires in 2023; the second location is leased from 

an entity in which Leonard Riggio has a minority interest 

and expires in 2016. The space was rented at an aggregate 

annual rent including real estate taxes of approximately 

$4,299, $5,098 and $4,843 during fiscal 2014, fiscal 2013 

and fiscal 2012, respectively. The Company leased one of its 

B&N College stores from a partnership owned by Leonard 

and Stephen Riggio, pursuant to a lease, which was termi-

nated on February 15, 2014. Rent of $685, $862 and $862 

was paid during fiscal 2014, fiscal 2013 and fiscal 2012, 

respectively. The Company leases an office/warehouse from 

a partnership in which Leonard Riggio has a 50% interest, 

pursuant to a lease expiring in 2023. The space was rented 

at an annual rent of $707, $707 and $759 during fiscal 2014, 

fiscal 2013 and fiscal 2012, respectively. Net of subtenant 

income, the Company paid $270, $275 and $376 during 

fiscal 2014, fiscal 2013 and fiscal 2012, respectively.
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The Company is provided with national freight dis-

tribution, including trucking services by Argix Direct 

Inc. (Argix), a company in which a brother of Leonard 

and Stephen Riggio owns a 20% interest, pursuant to a 

transportation agreement expiring in 2014 (following an 

automatic renewal of the agreement by its terms in 2012 

for an additional two-year term, although at all times the 

agreement requires a two-year notice to terminate). The 

Company paid Argix $52,087, $54,768 and $49,437 for 

such services during fiscal 2014, fiscal 2013 and fiscal 2012, 

respectively, of which approximately 73%, 74% and 73% 

were remitted by Argix to its subcontractors for fiscal 2014, 

fiscal 2013 and fiscal 2012, respectively. Subcontractors 

are not related to the Company. At the time of the agree-

ment, the cost of freight delivered to the stores by Argix 

was comparable to the prices charged by publishers and the 

Company’s other third party freight distributors. However, 

due to higher contracted fuel surcharge and transportation 

costs, Argix’s rates were higher than the Company’s other 

third party freight distributors. As a result, the Company 

amended its existing agreement with Argix effective 

January 1, 2009. The amendment provided the Company 

with a $3,000 annual credit to its freight and transportation 

costs for the remaining life of the existing agreement. The 

$3,000 annual credit expired with the April 1, 2012 renewal 

of the agreement. While the terms are currently unfavor-

able due to the higher fuel surcharges, the Company’s man-

agement believes these additional charges are mitigated by 

the additional delivery services that Argix provides. These 

additional services are beneficial to store productivity, 

which is not consistently met by other third party freight 

distributors. Argix provides B&N College with transporta-

tion services under a separate agreement that expired and 

was renewed in 2011. The renewed agreement was amended 

in 2013 and expires in 2015. The Company believes that 

the transportation costs that B&N College paid to Argix are 

comparable to the transportation costs charged by third 

party distributors. B&N College paid Argix $1,066, $1,069 

and $1,294 for such services during fiscal 2014, fiscal 2013 

and fiscal 2012, respectively. Argix also leased office and 

warehouse space from the Company in Jamesburg, New 

Jersey, pursuant to a lease expiring in 2011. This lease 

was renewed for additional space in 2011. However, the 

Company subsequently sold the warehouse on December 

29, 2011. The Company charged Argix $1,514 for such leased 

space and other operating costs incurred on its behalf prior 

to the sale of the warehouse during fiscal 2012.

The Company uses Digital on Demand as its provider of 

music and video database equipment and services. Leonard 

Riggio owns a minority interest in Digital on Demand. The 

agreement with Digital on Demand was terminated on May 

31, 2011. The Company paid Digital on Demand $185 for 

music and video database equipment and services during 

fiscal 2012 through the date of termination.

On August 18, 2011, the Company entered into an invest-

ment agreement between the Company and Liberty GIC, 

Inc. (Liberty), a subsidiary of Liberty Media Corporation 

(Liberty Media), pursuant to which the Company issued 

and sold to Liberty, and Liberty purchased, 204,000 shares 

of the Company’s Series J Preferred Stock, par value $0.001 

per share, for an aggregate purchase price of $204,000 in 

a private placement exempt from the registration require-

ments of the 1933 Act.

On April 8, 2014, Liberty sold the majority of its shares 

to qualified institutional buyers in reliance on Rule 144A 

under the Securities Act and has retained an approximate 

10 percent stake of its initial investment. As a result, 

Liberty will no longer have the right to elect two preferred 

stock directors to the Company’s Board. Additionally, the 

consent rights and pre-emptive rights to which Liberty was 

previously entitled ceased to apply.

The Company purchases trade books, primarily craft and 

hobby books, from Leisure Arts, Inc. (Leisure Arts), a 

subsidiary of Liberty Media. Total purchases from Leisure 

Arts following the date of the Liberty investment were 

$38, $45 and $59 during fiscal 2014, fiscal 2013 and fiscal 

2012. In fiscal 2013, the Company entered into agreements 

with Starz Entertainment LLC (Starz Entertainment), 

then a subsidiary of Liberty Media, pursuant to which 

Starz Entertainment registered for the NOOK developer 

program whereby Starz applications were made available 

for consumer download on NOOK® devices. Separately, 

the Company entered into a License Agreement with 

Starz Media, LLC (Starz Media and, together with Starz 

Entertainment, Starz) in fiscal 2013, pursuant to which 

Starz granted certain video resale rights to the Company in 

exchange for royalty payments to Starz Media on such sales. 

Starz was spun-off from Liberty Media on January 11, 2013. 

Total payments to Starz during fiscal 2013 prior to the spin-

off were $17. In fiscal 2013, the Company entered into an 

agreement with Sirius XM Radio, Inc. (Sirius), a subsidiary 

of Liberty Media, pursuant to which Sirius registered for 

the NOOK developer program whereby Sirius applications 

were made available for consumer download on NOOK® 

devices. Total commissions received from Sirius during 
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fiscal 2014 and fiscal 2013 were $1 and $0, respectively.

In fiscal 2012, the Company entered into agreements with 

third parties who sell Barnes & Noble products through 

QVC and Home Shopping Network (HSN), which were 

at such time affiliates of Liberty Media. The entity that 

indirectly holds the Barnes & Noble investment (Liberty 

Media) is currently a separate public company from the 

entity that owns QVC and HSN (Liberty Interactive). 

Liberty Media was split-off (the Split-Off) from Liberty 

Interactive on September 28, 2011. No products were sold 

to the third parties from August 18, 2011, the date of the 

investment through the date of the Split-Off. The Company 

also purchased Halloween costumes from BuySeasons Inc. 

(BuySeasons), a subsidiary of Liberty Interactive. Total pur-

chases from BuySeasons following the date of the Liberty 

investment and prior to the date of the Split-Off were 

$33. On July 19, 2011, the Company renewed a one-year 

contract with Commerce Technologies, Inc. (Commerce 

Hub), a subsidiary of Liberty Interactive, who provides 

services to help facilitate and integrate sales with drop-

ship vendors. Total fees paid to Commerce Hub following 

the date of the Liberty investment and prior to the date of 

the Split-Off were $22. The Company purchases textbooks 

from AI2, Inc. (AI2), a subsidiary of Liberty Interactive. 

There were no purchases from AI2 following the date of the 

Liberty investment and prior to the date of the Split-Off. 

The Company paid commissions to Liberty Interactive 

Advertising (LIA), a subsidiary of Liberty Interactive, who 

serves as the exclusive premium advertising sales agency 

for the Company. Total commissions paid to LIA following 

the date of the Liberty investment and prior to the date of 

the Split-Off were $5.

20 .  DIVIDENDS

The Company paid a dividend to preferred shareholders in 

the amount of $15,768 and $15,767 in fiscal 2014 and fiscal 

2013, respectively.

The Company paid no dividends to common stockholders 

during fiscal 2014 and 2013.

21 .  SUBSEQUENT EVENTS (UNAUDITED)

Samsung Commercial Agreement

 On June 4, 2014, barnesandnoble.com llc (NOOK Media 

Sub), a wholly owned subsidiary of NOOK Media and a 

subsidiary of Barnes & Noble, entered into a commer-

cial agreement (Agreement) with Samsung Electronics 

America, Inc. (Samsung) relating to tablets.

Pursuant to the Agreement, NOOK Media Sub, after good 

faith consultations with Samsung and subject to Samsung’s 

agreement, will select Samsung tablet devices under 

development to be customized and co-branded by NOOK 

Media Sub. Such devices will be produced by Samsung. The 

co-branded NOOK tablet devices may be sold by NOOK 

Media through Barnes & Noble retail stores, www.barne-

sandnoble.com, www.nook.com and other Barnes & Noble 

and NOOK Media websites. NOOK Media Sub and Samsung 

have agreed to develop co-branded Samsung Galaxy Tab 4 

NOOK tablets as the initial co-branded devices pursuant to 

the Agreement.

NOOK Media Sub has agreed to a minimum purchase 

commitment of 1,000,000 devices during the first twelve 

months after the launch of the initial co-branded NOOK 

devices; provided that if NOOK Media Sub does not meet 

certain sales thresholds of the initial co-branded NOOK 

devices by December 31, 2014, then the twelve month 

period referred to above shall be extended to fifteen 

months.

NOOK Media Sub and Samsung have agreed to coordinate 

customer service for the co-branded NOOK devices and 

have both agreed to a license of intellectual property to 

promote and market the devices. Additionally, Samsung 

has agreed to fund a marketing fund for the co-branded 

NOOK devices at the initial launch and for the duration of 

the Agreement.

The Agreement has a two year term, with certain termina-

tion rights, including termination (i) by NOOK Media Sub 

for a Samsung material default; (ii) by Samsung for a NOOK 

Media Sub material default; (iii) by NOOK Media Sub if 

Samsung fails to meet its shipping and delivery obligations 

in any material respect on a timely basis; and (iv) by either 

party upon insolvency or bankruptcy of the other party.

Palo Alto Lease Agreement

On June 5, 2014, the Company entered into an Assignment 

of Lease for its 208,000 square foot Palo Alto, California 

campus. Employees will be relocated to new state-of-the 

-art facilities totaling 88,000 square feet. NOOK employees 

will move to a new facility in Santa Clara, California, while 

Barnes & Noble College’s digital education employees 

will relocate to a facility in Mountain View, California. 

The relocations are expected to occur by the end of the 

first quarter of fiscal 2015. This action will result in a net 

reduction of annual occupancy expenses of approximately 

$9,600, reducing the Company’s future lease commit-

ments by approximately $102,100. In the fourth quarter of 
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fiscal 2014, the Company recorded an asset impairment 

charge of $28,400 related to this relocation. The Company 

determined the impairment charge by comparing the 

estimated fair value to its carrying amount. The fair value 

was developed primarily using the cost approach in evalu-

ating the replacement cost of the asset (Level 2 fair value 

assumptions) and then adjusting any value due to economic 

obsolescence, functional obsolesces or physical deteriora-

tion. The Company also expects to incur closing costs and 

to adjust lease accounting items in the first quarter of fiscal 

2015 to reflect the impact of these relocations.

Termination of Pension Plan

As of December 31, 1999, substantially all employees of 

the Company were covered under a Pension Plan. As of 

January 1, 2000, the Pension Plan was amended so that 

employees no longer earn benefits for subsequent service. 

Effective December 31, 2004, the Barnes & Noble.com 

Employees’ Retirement Plan (the B&N.com Retirement 

Plan) was merged with the Pension Plan. Substantially all 

employees of Barnes & Noble.com were covered under the 

B&N.com Retirement Plan. As of July 1, 2000, the B&N.com 

Retirement Plan was amended so that employees no longer 

earn benefits for subsequent service. On June 18, 2014, 

the Company’s Board of Directors approved a resolution 

to terminate the Pension Plan. As a result of this termina-

tion, pension liability and other comprehensive loss will 

increase by approximately $16,000 before tax in the first 

quarter of fiscal 2015. It is expected to take 18 to 24 months 

to complete the termination. Currently, there is not enough 

information available to determine the ultimate charge of 

the termination.

NOOK Media Separation

On June 25, 2014, the Company announced that its Board 

of Directors has authorized management of the Company 

to take steps to separate the NOOK Media business from 

Barnes & Noble Retail into two separate public companies. 

The Company’s objective is to take the steps necessary to 

complete the separation by the end of the first quarter of 

the next calendar year.

There can be no assurances regarding the ultimate timing 

of the separation or that the separation will be completed. 

Any separation of NOOK Media and Barnes & Noble Retail 

into two separate public companies will be subject to 

customary regulatory approvals, securing any necessary 

financing, tax considerations, final approval of the Barnes 

& Noble Board of Directors and other customary matters 

and is dependent on numerous factors that include the 

macroeconomic environment, credit markets and equity 

markets.

22 .  RESTATEMENT OF PRIOR PERIOD FINANCIAL 
STATEMENTS

In fiscal 2013, the Company restated its previously reported 

consolidated financial statements for the year ended April 

28, 2012, including the opening stockholders’ equity 

balance, in order to correct certain previously reported 

amounts. These restated amounts resulted in a reduction 

of $6,700 (net of tax $4,027) in costs of sales and occu-

pancy during fiscal 2012 and increased fiscal 2012 opening 

retained earnings by $100,587. In fiscal 2013, management 

determined that the Company had incorrectly overstated 

certain accruals for the periods prior to April 27, 2013, as 

a result of inadequate controls over its distribution center 

accrual reconciliation process. In addition, in reviewing the 

Company’s components of deferred income tax assets and 

liabilities, management determined that a deferred income 

tax liability, was related to a transaction in which gain 

was reported for both accounting and tax purposes prior 

to 2010. Accordingly, management concluded that this 

deferred income tax liability should be reversed. Also, in 

fiscal 2013, management determined that the Company had 

not accrued a tenant allowance related to one of its proper-

ties in fiscal 2012 and did not record the current portion of 

deferred rent and tenant allowances as current liabilities. 

The financial information included in the accompanying 

financial statements and notes thereto reflect the impact of 

the corrections described within.
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23 .  SELECTED QUARTERLY FINANCIAL INFORMATION (UNAUDITED)

A summary of quarterly financial information for fiscal 2014 and fiscal 2013 is as follows:

Fiscal 2014 Quarterly Period Ended On or About
July 27,  

2013
October 26,  

2013
January 25,  

2014
May 3,  

2014
Fiscal Year  

2014

Sales $ 1,329,502  1,734,159  1,995,790  1,321,906  6,381,357

Gross profit $ 368,201 461,942 603,441 424,351 1,857,935

Net income (loss) $ (87,022) 13,229 63,229 (36,704) (47,268)

Basic loss per common share

Net income (loss) $ (1.56) 0.15 0.95 (0.72) (1.12)

Diluted loss per common share

Net income (loss) $ (1.56) 0.15 0.86 (0.72) (1.12)

Fiscal 2013 Quarterly Period Ended On or About
July 28,  

2012
October 27,  

2012
January 26,  

2013
April 27,  

2013
Fiscal Year  

2013

Sales $ 1,453,507  1,884,532 2,223,945 1,277,021 6,839,005

Gross profit $ 415,805 482,289 553,512 230,900 1,682,506

Net income (loss) $ (39,828) 501 (3,683) (114,796) (157,806)

Basic loss per common share

Net loss $ (0.76) (0.07)  (0.14) (2.04) (3.02)

Diluted loss per common share

Net loss $ (0.76)  (0.07)  (0.14) (2.04) (3.02)
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The Board of Directors and  

Shareholders of Barnes & Noble, Inc.

We have audited the accompanying consolidated bal-

ance sheets of Barnes & Noble, Inc. as of May 3, 2014 and 

April 27, 2013, and the related consolidated statements 

of income, comprehensive income, shareholders’ equity 

and cash flows for the fiscal years then ended. Our audits 

also included the financial statement schedule listed in 

the Index at Item 15(a) for fiscal years 2013 and 2014. 

These financial statements are the responsibility of the 

Company’s management. Our responsibility is to express 

an opinion on these financial statements based on our 

audits.

We conducted our audits in accordance with the standards 

of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board (United 

States). Those standards require that we plan and perform 

the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether 

the financial statements are free of material misstatement. 

An audit includes examining, on a test basis, evidence 

supporting the amounts and disclosures in the financial 

statements. An audit also includes assessing the accounting 

principles used and significant estimates made by manage-

ment, as well as evaluating the overall financial statement 

presentation. We believe that our audits provide a reason-

able basis for our opinion.

In our opinion, the financial statements referred to above 

present fairly, in all material respects, the consolidated 

financial position of Barnes & Noble, Inc. at May 3, 2014 

and April 27, 2013, and the consolidated results of its 

operations and its cash flows for the fiscal years then 

ended, in conformity with U.S. generally accepted account-

ing principles. Also, in our opinion, the related financial 

statement schedule, when considered in relation to the 

basic financial statements taken as a whole, presents fairly 

in all material respects the information set forth therein.

We also have audited, in accordance with the standards of 

the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board (United 

States), Barnes & Noble, Inc.’s internal control over finan-

cial reporting as of May 3, 2014, based on criteria estab-

lished in Internal Control-Integrated Framework issued 

by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the 

Treadway Commission (1992 framework) and our report 

dated June 27, 2014 expressed an unqualified opinion 

thereon.

Ernst & Young LLP

 

New York, NY 

June 27, 2014

REPORT OF INDEPENDENT REGISTERED PUBLIC ACCOUNTING FIRM
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The Board of Directors and  

Shareholders of Barnes & Noble, Inc.

We have audited Barnes & Noble, Inc.’s internal control 

over financial reporting as of May 3, 2014, based on criteria 

established in Internal Control—Integrated Framework 

issued by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of 

the Treadway Commission (1992 framework) (the COSO 

criteria). Barnes & Noble, Inc.’s management is responsible 

for maintaining effective internal control over financial 

reporting, and for its assessment of the effectiveness of 

internal control over financial reporting included in the 

accompanying Management’s Annual Report on Internal 

Control over Financial Reporting. Our responsibility is to 

express an opinion on the company’s internal control over 

financial reporting based on our audit.

We conducted our audit in accordance with the standards of 

the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board (United 

States). Those standards require that we plan and perform 

the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether 

effective internal control over financial reporting was 

maintained in all material respects. Our audit included 

obtaining an understanding of internal control over finan-

cial reporting, assessing the risk that a material weakness 

exists, testing and evaluating the design and operating 

effectiveness of internal control based on the assessed risk, 

and performing such other procedures as we considered 

necessary in the circumstances. We believe that our audit 

provides a reasonable basis for our opinion.

A company’s internal control over financial reporting is a 

process designed to provide reasonable assurance regard-

ing the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation 

of financial statements for external purposes in accordance 

with generally accepted accounting principles. A company’s 

internal control over financial reporting includes those 

policies and procedures that (1) pertain to the maintenance 

of records that, in reasonable detail, accurately and fairly 

reflect the transactions and dispositions of the assets of the 

company; (2) provide reasonable assurance that transac-

tions are recorded as necessary to permit preparation of 

financial statements in accordance with generally accepted 

accounting principles, and that receipts and expenditures 

of the company are being made only in accordance with 

authorizations of management and directors of the com-

pany; and (3) provide reasonable assurance regarding 

prevention or timely detection of unauthorized acquisition, 

use, or disposition of the company’s assets that could have a 

material effect on the financial statements.

Because of its inherent limitations, internal control over 

financial reporting may not prevent or detect misstate-

ments. Also, projections of any evaluation of effectiveness 

to future periods are subject to the risk that controls may 

become inadequate because of changes in conditions, or 

that the degree of compliance with the policies or proce-

dures may deteriorate.

In our opinion, Barnes & Noble, Inc. maintained, in all 

material respects, effective internal control over financial 

reporting as of May 3, 2014, based on the COSO criteria.

We also have audited, in accordance with the standards of 

the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board (United 

States), the consolidated balance sheets of Barnes & 

Noble, Inc. as of May 3, 2014 and April 27, 2013, and the 

related consolidated statements of income, comprehensive 

income, shareholders’ equity and cash flows for the fiscal 

years then ended of Barnes & Noble, Inc. and our report 

dated June 27, 2014 expressed an unqualified opinion 

thereon.

Ernst & Young LLP

New York, NY 

June 27, 2014

REPORT OF INDEPENDENT REGISTERED PUBLIC ACCOUNTING FIRM
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REPORT OF INDEPENDENT REGISTERED PUBLIC ACCOUNTING FIRM

Board of Directors and Stockholders 

Barnes & Noble, Inc. 

New York, New York

We have audited the accompanying consolidated state-

ment of operations of Barnes & Noble, Inc., as of April 28, 

2012 and the related statements of comprehensive income 

(loss), changes in shareholders’ equity and cash flows for 

the fiscal year ended April 28, 2012. These financial state-

ments are the responsibility of the Company’s manage-

ment. Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these 

financial statements based on our audit.

We conducted our audit in accordance with the standards of 

the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board (United 

States). Those standards require that we plan and perform 

the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether 

the financial statements are free of material misstatement. 

An audit includes examining, on a test basis, evidence 

supporting the amounts and disclosures in the financial 

statements, assessing the accounting principles used and 

significant estimates made by management, as well as 

evaluating the overall financial statement presentation. We 

believe that our audit provides a reasonable basis for our 

opinion.

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements 

referred to above present fairly, in all material respects, the 

results of operations of Barnes & Noble, Inc. as of April 28, 

2012 and its cash flows for the fiscal year ended April 28, 

2012, in conformity with accounting principles generally 

accepted in the United States of America.

BDO USA, LLP

New York, New York 

June 27, 2012, except for Note 22, as to which the date is July 

26, 2013.
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MANAGEMENT’S RESPONSIBILITY FOR 
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The management of Barnes & Noble, Inc. is responsible 

for the contents of the Consolidated Financial Statements, 

which are prepared in conformity with accounting prin-

ciples generally accepted in the United States of America. 

The Consolidated Financial Statements necessarily include 

amounts based on judgments and estimates. Financial 

information elsewhere in the Annual Report is consistent 

with that in the Consolidated Financial Statements.

The Company maintains a comprehensive accounting 

system, which includes controls designed to provide rea-

sonable assurance as to the integrity and reliability of the 

financial records and the protection of assets. An internal 

audit staff is employed to regularly test and evaluate both 

internal accounting controls and operating procedures, 

including compliance with the Company’s statement of 

policy regarding ethical and lawful conduct. The Audit 

Committee of the Board of Directors composed of direc-

tors who are not members of management, meets regularly 

with management, the independent registered public 

accountants and the internal auditors to ensure that their 

respective responsibilities are properly discharged. Ernst 

& Young LLP and the Internal Audit Department of the 

Company have full and free independent access to the Audit 

Committee. The role of Ernst & Young LLP, an independent 

registered public accounting firm, is to provide an objec-

tive examination of the Consolidated Financial Statements 

and the underlying transactions in accordance with the 

standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight 

Board. The report of Ernst & Young LLP accompanies the 

Consolidated Financial Statements.

 
OTHER INFORMATION

The Company has included the Section 302 certifications 

of the Chief Executive Officer and the Chief Financial 

Officer of the Company as Exhibits 31.1 and 31.2 to its 

Annual Report on Form 10-K for fiscal 2013 filed with the 

Securities and Exchange Commission, and the Company 

will submit to the New York Stock Exchange a certificate of 

the Chief Executive Officer of the Company certifying that 

he is not aware of any violation by the Company of New York 

Stock Exchange corporate governance listing standards.

REPORTS OF MANAGEMENT
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SHAREHOLDER INFORMATION

BARNES & NOBLE,  INC. 
BOARD OF DIRECTORS

Leonard Riggio

Chairman 
Barnes & Noble, Inc.

George Campbell Jr.

Chairman
Webb Institute

Mark D. Carleton

Senior Vice President
Liberty Media 

Scott S. Cowen

President Emeritus
Tulane University

William Dillard, II

Chairman and Chief 
Executive Officer
Dillard’s, Inc.

David G. Golden

Managing Partner
Revolution Ventures

Patricia L. Higgins

Former President and Chief 
Executive Officer
Switch & Data Facilities 
Company, Inc.

Michael P. Huseby

Chief Executive Officer
Barnes & Noble, Inc.

David A. Wilson

President and Chief 
Executive Officer Emeritus
Graduate Management 
Admission Council

BARNES & NOBLE,  INC. 
EXECUTIVE OFFICERS

Leonard Riggio

Chairman 

Michael P. Huseby

Chief Executive Officer, 
Barnes & Noble, Inc.

Mitchell S. Klipper

Chief Executive Officer, 
Retail Group

Max Roberts

Chief Executive Officer, 
Barnes & Noble College 
Booksellers

Allen W. Lindstrom

Chief Financial Officer

Mary Ellen Keating

Senior Vice President of 
Corporate Communications 
and Public Affairs

Mark Bottini

Vice President and Director 
of Stores

Jaime Carey

Vice President and Chief 
Merchandising Officer

David S. Deason

Vice President of Barnes & 
Noble Development

Bradley A. Feuer

Vice President, General 
Counsel and Corporate 
Secretary

Christopher Grady-Troia

Vice President and Chief 
Information Officer

Peter M. Herpich

Vice President and Corporate 
Controller

Kanuj Malhotra

Chief Financial Officer,  
NOOK Media LLC

Michelle Smith

Vice President of Human 
Resources

Mahesh Veerina

President, NOOK 
Consumer Business, 
NOOK Media LLC 

COMMON STOCK PRICE RANGE

The Company’s common stock is traded on the New York 

Stock Exchange (NYSE) under the symbol BKS. The follow-

ing table sets forth, for the quarterly periods indicated, the 

high and low sales prices of the common stock on the NYSE 

Composite Tape.

HIGH LOW

FISCAL YEAR 2014

First Quarter $23.71 $14.96

Second Quarter $18.66 $12.59

Third Quarter $17.31 $13.40

Fourth Quarter $22.41 $13.02

FISCAL YEAR 2013

First Quarter $26.00 $13.30

Second Quarter $16.36 $11.17

Third Quarter $17.27 $12.70

Fourth Quarter $18.35 $12.83

As of June 30, 2014 there were 60,034,447 shares of 

common stock outstanding held by 2,007 sharehold-

ers of record, which includes 85,884 shares of unvested 

restricted stock that have voting rights and are held by 

members of the Board of Directors and the Company’s 

employees. 
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CORPORATE INFORMATION

Corporate Headquarters:

Barnes & Noble, Inc. 

122 Fifth Avenue 

New York, New York 10011 

(212) 633-3300

Common Stock:

New York Stock Exchange, Symbol: BKS

Transfer Agent and Registrar:

Computershare  

P.O. Box 30170 

College Station, TX 77842-3170 

Stockholder Inquiries: (866) 209-1207

Website: www.computershare.com/investor

Counsel:

Cravath, Swaine & Moore LLP, New York, New York

Independent Public Accountants:

Ernst & Young LLP, New York, New York

Stockholder Services:

Inquiries from our stockholders and potential investors are 

always welcome.

General financial information can be obtained via the 

Internet by visiting the Company’s Corporate Website: 

www.barnesandnobleinc.com.

You can obtain copies of our Annual Reports, Form 10-K 

and 10-Q documents and other financial information, free 

of charge, on the “For Investors” section of the Company’s 

Corporate Website: www.barnesandnobleinc.com.

All other inquiries should be directed to:

Investor Relations Department, Barnes & Noble, Inc. 

122 Fifth Avenue, New York, New York 10011 

Phone: (212) 633-3489  

Fax: (212) 675-0413

Stock Performance Chart

The Stock Price Performance Chart below compares the 

cumulative stockholder return of the Company with that 

of the S&P 500 Index and the Dow Jones US Specialty 

Retailers Index over the five fiscal year period beginning 

January 31, 2009. The graph also includes information 

with respect to May 2, 2009, the last day of the fiscal month 

transition period which resulted from the change in our 

fiscal year end from the Saturday closest to the last day of 

January to the Saturday closest to the last day of April. The 

comparison assumes $100 was invested on January 31, 

2009, in shares of our common stock and in each of the 

indices shown, and assumes that all of the dividends were 

reinvested.

Comparison of 5-Year Total Return Among Barnes & Noble, Inc., 
S&P 500 Stock Index and Dow Jones US Specialty Retailers Index
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TOP 10  HARDCOVER 
FICTION

Inferno 
Dan Brown 
Knopf Doubleday

Sycamore Row 
John Grisham 
Knopf Doubleday

And the Mountains 
Echoed 
Khaled Hosseini 
Penguin Group (USA)

Doctor Sleep 
Stephen King 
Scribner

The First Phone Call 
from Heaven 
Mitch Albom 
HarperCollins

The Goldfinch 
Donna Tartt 
Little, Brown

Gone Girl 
Gillian Flynn 
Crown

The Cuckoo’s Calling 
Robert Galbraith 
Little, Brown

The Longest Ride 
Nicholas Sparks 
Grand Central 
Publishing

Cross My Heart 
James Patterson 
Little, Brown

TOP 10  HARDCOVER 
NON-FICTION

Killing Jesus 
Bill O’Reilly 
Henry Holt

Things That Matter 
Charles Krauthammer 
Crown

David and Goliath 
Malcolm Gladwell 
Little, Brown

I Am Malala 
Malala Yousafzai 
Little, Brown

George Washington’s 
Secret Six 
Brian Kilmeade 
Sentinel HC

Lean In 
Sheryl Sandberg 
Knopf Doubleday

StrengthsFinder 2.0 
Tom Rath 
Gallup Press

The Bully Pulpit 
Doris Kearns Goodwin 
Simon & Schuster

Grain Brain 
David Perlmutter, M.D. 
Little, Brown

Happy, Happy, Happy 
Phil Robertson 
Howard Books

TOP 10  PAPERBACK 
NON-FICTION

Lone Survivor 
Marcus Luttrell 
Little, Brown

Proof of Heaven 
Eben Alexander 
Simon & Schuster

Wreck This Journal 
Keri Smith 
Penguin Group (USA)

The 5 Love Languages 
Gary Chapman 
Moody Publishers 

The Official SAT Study 
Guide 
The College Board 
College Board

Heaven Is for Real 
Todd Burpo 
Thomas Nelson

Outliers 
Malcolm Gladwell 
Little, Brown

Night 
Elie Wiesel 
Farrar, Straus and 
Giroux

Into the Wild 
Jon Krakauer 
Knopf Doubleday

Orange Is the New 
Black 
Piper Kerman 
Random House

TOP 10  PAPERBACK 
FICTION

The Great Gatsby 
F. Scott Fitzgerald 
Scribner

To Kill a Mockingbird 
Harper Lee 
Grand Central 
Publishing

Game of Thrones 
George R.R. Martin 
Random House

Ender’s Game 
Orson Scott Card 
Tom Doherty Associates

The Catcher in the Rye 
J.D. Salinger 
Little, Brown

Fifty Shades of Grey 
E L James 
Knopf Doubleday

1984 
George Orwell 
Penguin Group (USA)

Fahrenheit 451 
Ray Bradbury 
Simon & Schuster

Lord of the Flies 
William Golding 
Penguin Group (USA)

World War Z 
Max Brooks 
Crown

 
TOP 10  JUVENILE

Divergent 
Veronica Roth 
HarperCollins

The Fault in Our Stars 
John Green 
Penguin Young Readers 
Group

The Book Thief 
Markus Zusak 
Random House 
Children’s Books

Hard Luck 
Jeff Kinney 
Amulet Books

Insurgent 
Veronica Roth 
HarperCollins

Allegiant 
Veronica Roth 
HarperCollins

The House of Hades 
Rick Riordan 
Disney-Hyperion

Looking for Alaska 
John Green 
Penguin Young Readers 
Group

Wonder 
R.J. Palacio 
Random House 
Children’s Books

The Elf on the Shelf 
Carol V. Aebersold & 
Chanda A. Bell 
CCA and B
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TOP 10  NOOK 
BOOKS

Divergent 
Veronica Roth 
HarperCollins

Allegiant 
Veronica Roth 
HarperCollins

Inferno 
Dan Brown 
Knopf Doubleday

Sycamore Row 
John Grisham 
Knopf Doubleday

Insurgent 
Veronica Roth 
HarperCollins

The Fault in Our Stars 
John Green 
Penguin Group (USA)

The Husband’s Secret 
Liane Moriarty 
Penguin Group (USA)

The Book Thief 
Markus Zusak 
Random House 
Children’s Books

Entwined with You 
Sylvia Day 
Penguin Group (USA)

The Cuckoo’s Calling 
Robert Galbraith 
Little, Brown

SLEEPERS

The Day the Crayons 
Quit 
Drew Daywalt 
Penguin Group (USA)

Zealot 
Reza Aslan 
Random House

Eleanor & Park 
Rainbow Rowell 
St. Martin’s Press

Hyperbole and a Half 
Allie Brosh 
Touchstone

The Husband’s Secret 
Liane Moriarty 
Penguin Group (USA)

Humans of New York 
Brandon Stanton 
St. Martin’s Press

The Silent Wife 
A.S.A. Harrison 
Viking Penguin

The Reason I Jump 
Naoki Higashida  
Random House

My Promised Land 
Ari Shavit 
Random House

Egghead 
Bo Burnham 
Grand Central 
Publishing

THE PULITZER 
PRIZE

The Goldfinch 
Donna Tartt 
Little, Brown 
Fiction

The Internal Enemy 
Alan Taylor 
W.W. Norton 
History

3 Sections 
Vijay Seshadri 
Graywolf Press 
Poetry

Toms River 
Dan Fagin 
Random House 
Biography or 
Autobiography 
General Nonfiction

THE NATIONAL 
BOOK AWARDS

The Good Lord Bird 
James McBride 
Penguin Group (USA) 
Fiction

The Unwinding 
George Packer 
Farrar, Straus and 
Giroux 
Nonfiction

Incarnadine 
Mary Szybist 
Graywolf Press 
Poetry 

The Thing About Luck 
Cynthia Kadohata 
Atheneum Books for 
Young Readers 
Young People’s 
Literature

THE NATIONAL 
BOOK CRITICS 
CIRCLE AWARDS

Americanah 
Chimamanda Ngozi 
Adichie 
Random House 
Fiction

Jonathan Swift 
Leo Damrosch 
Yale University Press 
Biography

Farewell, Fred Voodoo 
Amy Wilentz 
Simon & Schuster 
Autobiography

Distant Reading 
Franco Moretti 
Verso 
Criticism

Five Days at Memorial 
Sheri Fink 
Crown 
General Nonfiction

Metaphysical Dog 
Frank Bidart 
Farrar, Straus and 
Giroux 
Poetry

THE DISCOVER 
AWARDS

A Constellation of Vital 
Phenomena  
Anthony Marra 
Crown 
Fiction

Son of a Gun 
Justin St. Germain 
Random House 
Nonfiction

THE MAN BOOKER 
PRIZE FOR FICTION

The Luminaries 
Eleanor Catton 
Little, Brown

THE CALDECOTT 
MEDAL

Locomotive 
Brian Floca 
Atheneum Books for 
Young Readers 

THE NEWBERY 
MEDAL

Flora and Ulysses 
Kate DiCamillo 
Candlewick Press 

THE CORETTA 
SCOTT KING 
AUTHOR AWARD

P.S. Be Eleven 
Rita Williams-Garcia 
HarperCollins

THE HUGO AWARD

Redshirts 
John Scalzi 
Tom Doherty Associates 
Novel

THE EDGAR AWARD

Ordinary Grace 
William Kent Krueger 
Atria 
Novel

AWARD WINNERS
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